## Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science



## Contents

- 3 Acknowledgements
- 5 Executive Summary
- 7 Background
- **9** Our Vision for the future of environmental sciences
- 11 Recommendations: What key actions deliver a better future?
- **12** Planet Earth and the future of the human habitat
- **19** Emergence of the dragonfly: Crafting a new world through transformative change
- 24 The rise of sustainability, interdisciplinarity and solutions-driven science
- 29 Specialisms and systems: Skills to secure a sustainable future
- 34 Enabler or inhibitor? Technological development and the environmental sciences
- **39** Transforming the data landscape to transform the environment
- **43** Delivering a just transition: The importance of equity, diversity and inclusion in the environmental sciences
- **46** A broad church for a shared environment: Raising spires to unite science, policy, and the public
- 50 Discovery or solutions: Redefining environmental science for the next generation
- **54** The future of environmental ambitions: Mitigation hierarchies, protection pyramids, and the quest for improvement
- 58 In conclusion: From our vision to yours
- 59 References

## Acknowledgements

Authors: Ethny Childs and Joseph Lewis

Design: Bea Gilbert and Lucy Rowland

Cover design: John Holcroft

Acknowledgements: The IES would like to acknowledge and thank all those who have contributed to the expanding body of knowledge across environmental science, but especially our family of members and the participants in our Future of ES23 horizon scanning and foresight project, without whom this vision statement would not have been possible.

The following people and organisations made contributions to the Future of ES23 project, which the IES would like to acknowledge. Their inclusion on this list does not imply any endorsement of this vision statement or its content.

- Adam Donnan, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Ann Pearce, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Bea Gilbert, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Benn Townend, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Derek Jardine, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Ellie Savage, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Ethny Childs, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Jessica Scott, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Jihyun Choi, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Jo Maniscalco, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Joseph Lewis, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Lisa Abbott, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Lucy Rowland, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Rebecca Finbow, Institution of Environmental Sciences
- Julie Hill, Chair of the Institution of Environmental Sciences •
- Community for Environmental Disciplines in Higher Education (CEDHE)
- IAQM Climate Change Working Group
- IES Climate Action Community
- IES Environmental Policy Implementation Community (EPIC)
- IES Land Condition Community
- Foundation for Water Research (FWR)
- Dr Cathy Maguire, Head of Assessments, The Office for Environmental Protection
- Christopher Jefford, IES Student Ambassador
- Craig Llewellyn BSc (hons), MCIEEM, CSJK, Associate Ecologist & Biodiversity Policy Specialist, Atkins

- Craig Love, Associate Director, Climate Impact, Scottish
  National Investment Bank
- David Kerr CEnv, Committee Member of the Ireland Brownfield Network
- Professor David Viner, Strategic Climate Risk Consultant
- Dimitri Zenghelis, London School of Economics, University of Cambridge and Independent Economics
- Ed Hill, National Oceanography Centre
- Ella Niehorster
- Emma Clarke, Wildlife and Countryside Link
- Emma Jenkins, Digital EIA Lead and Principal Consultant at WSP
- Emma Wilcox CEnv FIMMM CMgr, Chief Executive, Society for the Environment
- Gary Kass, Visiting Professor at Centre for Environment and Sustainability, University of Surrey
- Hayley Warrens CEnv, Climate Change & Energy Manager
  at Transport for Wales
- Huw Williams, Principal specialising in Drivers of Change, SAMI Consulting Ltd
- Ian Davis, retired environmental professional, farmer, & active advocate for agricultural ecology
- Professor James Longhurst, University of the West of England
- Dr James Massey, IES Fellow & EIA and SEA specialist in Ireland for Rowan
- Jamie Clayton, Technical Director at Bureau Veritas
- Jiaqi (Gigi) Zhao, IES Student Ambassador
- John Baines MBE
- John Tellam, University of Birmingham
- Jonathan Atkinson, IES Member
- Judy Ling Wong CBE, Honorary President Black Environment Network
- Dr Kanan Purkayastha, Environmental Scientist, Academic and Author
- Dr. Karen Barrass, Founder, Climate Insights
- Karen Devine, Director of Communities and Inclusion, British Ecological Society
- Dr Kathryn Fradera, Principal Consultant, Howell Marine Consulting
- Kripa Dwarakanath, GHD
- Professor Liz Price, Manchester Metropolitan University
- Professor Mark Everard, Visiting Professor at Bournemouth

IES **>** REPORT Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

University and Associate Professor at the University of the West of England

- Maeve McLoughlin
- Dr Martin Rogers, Machine Learning Researcher, British Antarctic Survey
- Michelle Walker, Technical Director at The Rivers Trust
- Mónica Rivas Casado
- Dr Naomi Holmes, University of York
- Neil Burke, IES Fellow
- Nick King, MSc, CEnv, CSci, Environmental Scientist
- Dr Nicola Kemp, Academic lead Academy for Sustainable Futures, Canterbury Christ Church University
- Noel Nelson, Met Office Senior Supplier for the SPF Clean Air Programme
- Paul Ciniglio The National Energy Foundation
- Paul Gosling, National Specialism Director Sustainability, Hays
- Paul Nathanail, Director of Land Quality Management Ltd
- Paula Wakelin
- Penelope Tollitt MRTPI CEnv
- Rebecca Jessup, senior leadership and business development leader in EIA with infrastructure and energy sector focus
- Sarah Horrocks BSc MSc MIAQM MIEnvSci CEnv CSci, Head of Air Quality & Emissions, Atkins
- Sarah Turner, Associate Director for Strategic Programme Delivery at NERC
- Seamus Lefroy-Brooks, LBHGEO
- Professor Simon Spooner, AtkinsRéalis
- Simon Watts, Director of the Brighton Observatory of Environment and Economics
- Stefan Reis, DLR Projektträger
- Professor Stephen Martin, cofounder and president of Change Agents UK
- Tim Williamson MIAQM, Technical Director, AQC
- Tom Reade, Associate Director, Hilson Moran
- Dr Xiangyu (Sian) Sheng, Director Air Quality, Climate & Carbon, Temple Group
- The Campaign for Science and Engineering
- The Equator Project (funded by NERC; led by Dr Natasha Dowey, Sheffield Hallam University)

#### About the Institution of Environmental Sciences (IES):

The IES is a professional membership organisation unifying communities of scientists, policymakers, and academics to transform knowledge on environmental science and support the transition to a sustainable society.

Across the full range of environmental disciplines, the IES brings together and champions the voices of science, scientists, and the natural world. As a convening space for interdisciplinary expertise, the IES promotes transformational learning to support our members in their professions and as agents of change.

The IES offers a common home for all those involved in environmental work or action underpinned by science. We are devoted to championing the crucial role of environmental science in ensuring the well-being of humanity now and in the future.

#### Registered charity no. 277611

**Copyright statement:** Copyright of the published materials is held by the Institution of Environmental Sciences. We encourage the use of the materials but request that acknowledgement of the source is explicitly stated.

- Contact: Institution of Environmental Sciences 6-8 Great Eastern Street London EC2A 3NT
  - **T:** +44 (0)20 3862 7484
  - E: info@the-ies.org

# **Executive Summary**

Environmental scientists will play a key role in facilitating the transformation to a sustainable society. Adapting to changing social, economic and environmental contexts will be imperative, to ensure that the workforce is in the best position to provide leadership in developing multifunctional solutions to the interlinked environmental crises of climate change, biodiversity loss and pollution.

The Institution of Environmental Sciences' (IES) year-long Future of ES23 project brought the environmental science community together to outline a pathway for achieving a positive future for people and the planet. The work was informed by extensive engagement with environmental professionals on the key areas shaping the sector and this document outlines these findings.

## The vision is a future where environmental scientists are knowledgeable, skilled, diverse, and trusted. Their role is to help people to solve environmental challenges and co-create a sustainable society where people and nature thrive.

Climate change, biodiversity loss and environmental pollution are already having myriad impacts on the natural environment, with consequences for the social and economic systems that rely on a healthy environment. The environmental scientists of the future must be able to work in partnership to address challenges holistically. Humanity has reason to be optimistic about the future, as long as it takes the actions necessary to achieve that future.

Transformative change, underpinned by systems thinking principles, is a key part of realising that change. Understanding the leverage points within social and natural systems will be essential to embedding an integrated approach and supporting a transition to a sustainable society. This society will need to be co-created with communities, with environmental scientists providing opportunities for knowledge exchange and outlining evidence-informed options to address challenges.

Sustainability is not possible without inter- and transdisciplinarity. To develop multifunctional solutions to social, economic and environmental challenges, environmental scientists need to work across specialisms and disciplines, reducing the likelihood of 'single factor solutions' with risks of unintended consequences. Tapping into expertise from the social sciences and engineering will be essential for this. Environmental scientists can lead by example in developing interdisciplinary teams, through utilising their existing expertise in working across specialisms to deliver research and applied science.

Effective inter- and transdisciplinary working depends on access to enabling skills, such as communication and strategic thinking. Teams with 'knowledge brokers' and 'boundary spanners' can support collaboration, allowing for genuine knowledge exchange. For environmental scientists to act as agents of change, many will also need technical skills, net zero skills, digital skills and knowledge of systems. To upskill the sector, learning providers and professional bodies need to update curricula and training, develop technical pathways, and expand lifelong learning opportunities.

With updated skills and knowledge, environmental scientists will ensure that technologies are used appropriately to support environmental understanding, analysis, modelling and prediction, limiting the risks which are inherent to technological change. Advancements such as real-time monitoring, remote sensing, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and machine learning, are already disrupting the sector, but have the potential to unlock approaches to environmental improvement.

Technological development is also revolutionising the amount, quality, connectivity, and granularity of environmental data. Increased availability of real-time data allows scientists to measure and predict environmental systems on large scales, but quality and interoperability can be variable. By increasing data sources through the roll out of standards and improved accessibility and transparency, environmental scientists can unlock a greater role of data in decision making. This will allow scientists to measure progress towards targets using integrated assessment approaches, which take account of a combination of data sources and better reflect the systemic nature of environmental issues.

Translating evidence to different audiences will continue to be crucial, so environmental science requires meaningful engagement with decision-makers and the public. The science-policy interface is likely to change significantly, including a greater role for public engagement and public empowerment.

Principles of environmental justice and Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (ED&I) must be embedded throughout environmental work. The complex, interconnected issues facing the environment require collaboration, coordination, and cooperation. Fundamental to tackling these issues and creating a truly sustainable future is the ability to deliver environmental work that transcends governments,

cultures, and disciplines, delivering for both people and nature. Targeted interventions will be needed to increase the inclusivity of the sector so that those from diverse backgrounds are inspired and enabled to build careers in environmental science.

Achieving a just transition to a sustainable society requires that environmental work is underpinned by the concept of environmental improvement, as it is essential for securing the benefits of a healthy environment for future generations. Embedding principles of improvement will be a critical role of environmental scientists and this will depend on a profession that is equipped with the skills, knowledge and ways of working to support transformative change.

The profession must act to realise this vision now; due to path dependency, the decisions made now will have a large impact on the future. The IES is committed to a leadership role in shaping environmental science and working with our members and partners to achieve our vision: a future for environmental science that will enable current and future generations to benefit from all that a healthy environment offers and where both humanity and nature flourish.

# Background

At the beginning of 2023, the IES launched a year-long horizon scanning and foresight project, Future of Environmental Science 2023. This project sought to bring together interdisciplinary perspectives on the future of environmental science, framed around five key themes:

- 1. Megatrends examining megatrends like climate change, rapid urbanisation and technological development and their impact on the environment sector.
- 2. The science exploring emerging science, research and development, and the relationship between science and society and their implications on the environmental sciences.
- 3. The regulatory landscape analysing how regulation, policy, and funding for environmental research is changing, and interrogating the role of regulation in the future of environmental science.
- 4. The workforce assessing how the environmental workforce is changing, and how it needs to change, in terms of demographics, skills needs and specialism spread.
- 5. The job exploring how the day-to-day jobs of environmental scientists are changing and what they may look like in the future.

Each of these themes involved extensive member engagement, as well as engagement with external environmental experts, collaborations with other organisations, and desk-based research. The project consisted of more than 20 dedicated events, over a dozen articles and detailed reports and briefing papers on a few key topics. Throughout these activities, more than 30 stakeholder organisations were engaged in the work (from government departments and major environmental NGOs to academics and funding organisations), who either received updates or fed directly into the research, and the project had more than 80 contributors from across the environmental sciences, representing a range of interdisciplinary perspectives on what the future may look like. The events also attracted over 850 attendees across the year, underlining the rich engagement achieved with professionals in the sector.

These perspectives, along with complementary research and discussions, were mapped into high-level themes and the links between these themes were identified and recorded. Over the course of the year, the project explored a total of 661 themes, with more than 1,300 connections identified between them. This reflected the high level of complexity in the environment sector and underlines the importance of systems thinking to support the sector in adapting to a changing societal, economic and environmental context.

Findings from this project have culminated in the development of this vision statement, which seeks to provide an oversight of the key areas of discussion from across the year and underlines our recommendations for how the environmental sciences can support a future which works for people and nature.

Our goal for the project was to support our own organisational horizon scanning, but also to conduct the project in the public domain to support the environmental science sector in planning ahead and managing risk. The findings are therefore being released in this report open access to support the wider sector.

## How will this feed into IES activities?

Every three years the IES undertakes a period of horizon scanning to inform the development of our new strategic goals. This is closely linked with our organisational Theory of Change; horizon scanning is a key activity within our pathway to impact to ensure that we as a professional body have a good understanding of contemporary environmental challenges, potential solutions to these, and the most effective levers and routes for systemic change.

Our Theory of Change outlines our organisational pathway to impact and reflects the dual nature of the work of the IES – the internal focus on supporting our members, and the external focus on supporting transformative change in the environment sector and society at large.

#### Our Theory of Change therefore focuses on two key impacts:

- 1. People have access to the relevant science to help solve environmental challenges
- 2. A knowledgeable, skilled, diverse and trusted environmental profession that is engaged in the transformation to a sustainable society

These two impacts are intrinsically linked, as the environmental profession plays a key role in helping different audiences have access to robust and relevant science. As such the latter of these impacts is nested within the former.

This Vision Statement directly feeds into the achievement of these impacts, by providing an overview of current challenges and opportunities in the sector and a framing to consider what the most effective levers for change will be to achieve the future we want. It also supports our Theory of Change in a broader sense, by identifying avenues in which the IES should be engaging with our key audiences, namely our members, policy makers, the public and education institutes.

## Our Vision for the Future of Environmental Sciences

Humanity has everything it needs to create a better future for society and the environment, supported by environmental science and the change that scientists can create within our own community.

Moving away from the business-as-usual model of incremental, atomistic change, action which is faster, more ambitious, and more effective will achieve a much better response to environmental crises. Using transformative change and a strong understanding of systems to facilitate rapid triage of the worst consequences of environmental decline could pave the way to a future where natural systems are repaired, moving towards environmental improvement.

This is our vision for the future of environmental science. It is one where environmental scientists are knowledgeable, skilled, diverse, trusted, and engaged in the process of transformation. It is one where people have access to the relevant science to help them solve environmental challenges and co-create a sustainable society where people and nature thrive.

Achieving this vision paints a picture of a positive future for both the environment and wider society, in which people and nature mutually thrive.

## Science transforming the planet: what can we hope for if we act now?

In our vision of the future, **environmental science** played a leading role in shaping society's understanding of environmental challenges. Humanity's success in addressing environmental challenges can be attributed to utilising **transformative change** by using the leverage points which were most likely to affect the overall system.

Through interdisciplinary collaboration with social scientists, engineers, and policy makers, environmental scientists were able to work with society to achieve the change needed and supported society in creating a shared vision for the future. At the centre of that shared vision were the principles of **interdisciplinarity**, systems thinking, and sustainability, which was facilitated by carbon and systems literacy across society.

To deliver a systems approach, science used the opportunity of **technological change** to shape the way that society makes decisions, managing the risks of new technology and novel chemicals while appropriately applying Artificial Intelligence, digital landscapes, and advances in monitoring and modelling to support society's approach to change.

Technology made transformative change possible by **consolidating data and evidence** on which interventions would be most likely to succeed and where unintended consequences may arise, informed by post-implementation reviews and real-time monitoring of the effects of policies. As a result, decision makers could take a reflective approach, adapting to failures more quickly than would otherwise have been possible, ensuring timely and effective action to address environmental challenges.

Environmental scientists used enabling **skills** to communicate evidence to the public and facilitate knowledge exchange, ensuring that society had a direct role in shaping the choices we made about what we wanted the future to look like. Through storytelling, strategic planning, and visualisation techniques, environmental scientists were well-placed to work with both policy makers and the public, bringing together research, policy, and professionals to translate complex decisions into actionable choices for the public.

Those skills were rolled out to the environmental workforce across many routes into the profession and through targeted professional development for those already working. By systematically approaching the ways that environmental scientists are educated, the sector was able to simultaneously increase the diversity of the profession by tackling the structural barriers to entering the workforce, bringing a wider range of perspectives into environmental science in the process.

This was a critical step to **rebuilding trust in science** and helping environmental scientists to bring different communities together to support change. People were empowered to make decisions about the future because science was relevant and accessible to them. At the same time, decision makers had the evidence they needed to act and made decisions which were truly informed by that evidence, using it to create the world that science and the public had co-created together.

As scientists worked to **support policy and the public** in making decisions, the growth in the environmental science sector allowed them to continue discovering new information about the natural world while also playing an increasing role in tackling challenges directly, identifying solutions and helping people to make decisions about which to use. At the same time, growing the sector allowed the inclusion of a more diverse workforce, ensuring that environmental science had the breadth of expertise and perspectives needed to tackle challenges.

By **embedding justice** and **environmental improvement** in all decisions, from the project level to high-level decisions about the future we want to see, we ensured that nature and the services it provides were plentiful and accessible to everyone. At the professional level, scientists promoted best practice that took every opportunity to seek environmental enhancement, rather than defaulting to protection or mitigation of harm. Using those case studies, these practices became widespread, ensuring improvement in more than just name.

At the societal level, scientists worked with people to shift their view away from the 'fortress model' that the natural world is separate from the human world. People began to see their role as part of a wider ecosystem, as well as how interconnected they are with nature. As a result, decision makers and communities pursued more holistic approaches to environmental challenges, which helped to secure multiple benefits throughout the transition.

In the end, humanity embraced a sustainable approach to living within planetary boundaries and transformed society into one that exists in partnership with the natural environment, providing a safe and just space for everyone.

Environmental scientists played a key role in achieving this change. The knowledge, skills, diversity, and reliability of the profession was a fundamental lever in ensuring that humanity had the evidence needed to craft the world they wanted to see.

This vision ends with a human society which is happier, optimistic for the future, and flourishing thanks to the benefits springing from an abundant natural world.



Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

## Recommendations: What key actions deliver a better future?

Many actions will be necessary to deliver the best possible future set out in this vision statement. These 10 recommendations represent the most pressing factors in determining whether that world will manifest. These recommendations are aimed at environmental scientists, the environment sector, governments, and all of society.

- 1. Environmental scientists work with social scientists to build trust and co-create a future vision for a sustainable society with communities, facilitating knowledge exchange and informing citizens of the evidence and how different approaches can be achieved.
- 2. Environmental scientists retain the objectivity of their science by drawing a line between science and activism, but are ready to be 'informed agitators' on behalf of science when needed.
- 3. Environmental scientists play a critical role in the transition to a sustainable society and the development of evidencebased solutions, enabled by technology. Scientific expertise ensures that appropriate technologies are applied to support understanding, data gathering, analysis, modelling and prediction.
- 4. Environmental scientists measure progress towards environmental targets using 'integrated assessment approaches' which utilise a combination of data sources and take account of the systemic nature of environmental issues. Findings from assessments are used to form evidence bases on the effectiveness of interventions.
- 5. Environmental scientists embed environmental justice across all projects to make them sustainable. The environment sector employs a diverse field of environmental scientists who champion environmental justice in their work and co-create solutions with communities.
- 6. The environment sector develops training to support environmental scientists as agents of change, providing enabling skills, technical skills, digital skills, and systems thinking skills. Competency frameworks are regularly reviewed and updated to reflect the skills mix needed in the sector.
- 7. The environment sector establishes knowledge networks and communities of practice to act as forums to support systems thinking and links between disciplines. They focus on providing case studies of practical applications of systems thinking and interdisciplinarity, as well as tools and frameworks to support those approaches.
- 8. Governments and policy organisations recognise the role of evidence-informed policy design and delivery, embracing the full range of scientific insights, whether or not they are politically convenient.
- 9. Society's approach to environmental crises is **integrated at every level**, from global governance to the ways environmental scientists work. Decision makers understand and respond to the climate crisis in the context of biodiversity loss, pollution, and the complex social and natural systems underpinning them.
- 10. Society meets the burden of continuing environmental improvement to prevent further environmental decline. No generation leaves the world in a worse state than they received it, recognising that a status quo of environmental decline means that 'do no harm' is an insufficient way of preventing damage.

# Planet Earth and the future of the human habitat

How is the natural environment changing? How is it shaping the world people live in? What developments can be expected for the natural assets and services which are fundamental to human existence and wellbeing?

A cause for optimism in the face of environmental challenges emerges from the source of those challenges: humanity has the capacity to alter the natural systems around it in ways which would be unimaginable to those even a single generation in the past. Just like any animal, the places humans live are still habitats, even as urbanisation drives fundamental shifts in how they function. And just like with any animal, risks to the human habitat pose sombre threats to the survival of humanity.<sup>1</sup>

Yet if social and economic systems have created significant negative changes for the natural world, there should also be confidence that they can create significant positive changes. Looking ahead to the future of the environmental sciences, the ways that humanity interacts with its habitat will decide the outlook for the natural assets and services which are fundamental to human existence, and will impact other species sharing that habitat.

## Environmental crises: interwoven challenges and unprecedented understanding

Before looking to the future, the present day sits in the shadow of multiple complex and interwoven environmental challenges. Climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental pollution are the three primary harbingers of the degraded environment wrought by unsustainable systems of consumption and production which underlie global society and the economy.<sup>23</sup> Further manifestations emerge such as the degradation of soils, destructive resource intensity, and the socio-environmental challenges linked to urbanisation.<sup>4,5</sup>

Despite the challenges, the past of environmental science has armed the future with an excellent array of evidence to untangle the complexity of these challenges. Global efforts to address environmental degradation, led at their heart by UN science-policy panels like the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), have provided all the information necessary to choose the future people want to see for the world within which they live.<sup>67,8</sup>

Humanity is not yet taking advantage of that overwhelming body of evidence to find a safe blueprint for its collective future. Without further action, the world is on a pathway towards a global average increase in temperatures of more than 2 degrees, driven by agricultural production linked to rising per capita consumption and unsustainable use of fertilisers and water; power systems bound up in harmful fossil fuels; and land use changes which sacrifice massive carbon sinks for short-term economic gains.<sup>910</sup> Most troublingly, the current trajectory for the global climate is driven by a miasma of inaction, apathy, and greenwashing that disregards the need for action as a low-priority concern: as the house is burning down, there are still many who are more concerned with 're-painting the kitchen'.

The quantity of evidence on the subject makes the options incredibly clear. If humanity continues on its current path, or if it strays even further from developing sustainable models of production and consumption, it will face an increasing number of widespread impacts as irreversible tipping points are crossed for the climate and ecosystems.<sup>11</sup>

Without restating the work of science-policy panels, it is clear that the future of the natural environment will be inseparably tied to the extent of action to address climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental pollution. In the absence of action, the work of environmental science will increasingly be bound up in the task of adapting human society to snowballing impacts, whereas a more concerted effort to address environmental crises in the short-term will create a future where environmental scientists are instead focused on safeguarding against future challenges and maximising the benefits of integration with the natural world.

Even in the present, the impacts of the triple crisis are widespread: heat records are routinely being broken as rising temperatures become a pressing threat to human health; water is becoming more scarce in the face of surface and groundwater droughts, and more fierce extreme weather events and flooding increase; food security is less certain as key agricultural producers face changing climatic conditions; and climate-led ecosystem changes drives desertification and new climate danger zones.<sup>11</sup>

## "Nobody will be unaffected and even those who profit most from maintaining the polluting status quo will face significant costs and challenges."

Combined, these represent significant risks to human life, as well as the risk of lost income, infrastructure damage, and novel health concerns, such as the spread of zoonotic disease. The social and economic harms significantly outweigh any costs which could be accrued as the world transitions away from carbon-intensive economies.<sup>12,13</sup> As the impacts of the climate crisis are likely to compound exponentially unless carbon emissions are substantially mitigated, it will also be impossible to establish the stability and certainty in global market conditions needed to sustain long-term economic growth.<sup>14</sup>

The harms of climate change will also be distributed unfairly in any scenario, with island nations and subsistence farmers facing nearexistential threats in the short and medium term.<sup>15,16</sup> Even then, the financial insecurities associated with climate change and biodiversity loss will be borne across all of society. Nobody will be unaffected and even those who profit most from maintaining the polluting status quo will face significant costs and challenges.

## Getting past the era of environmental challenges: triage for the triple crisis

Looking to the future, humanity is faced with a range of options: pursue transformative change which brings the planet out of this crisis; triage the worst of the impacts while securing a sustainable transition; follow a 'business-as-usual' approach to eventually get through the climate crisis but not without sacrificing much in the process; or abandon hope and cascade into a world of collapsing natural systems.

The current trajectory is insufficient to address any of the three apex environmental crises. Presently, policy measures are setting the world on track for more than 2 degrees of global warming above preindustrial levels. The main challenge is policy delivery: comprehensive and expedient delivery of all Nationally-Determined Contributions (NDCs), multilateral agreements, and climate targets could bring that number down to 1.7 degrees.<sup>910,17</sup> To that end, the biggest difference between a world which achieves a transition to net zero with significant yet manageable climate-related impacts and a world where the impacts of climate change are serious and unmanageable is whether the secrets of effective implementation can be unlocked.

The first step will be to correctly align financial streams, which requires a robust and consistent global taxonomy so that the money raised for sustainable transition, mitigation and adaption goes to the right projects. About 90 per cent of the upfront investment needed for the transition is expected to have a low or neutral cost when compared to inaction, so delayed or greenwashed investments will mean significant losses for investors.<sup>14,18,19,20</sup>

While novel technologies may be able to accelerate or cheapen the transition, they cannot be a priority for investment while more pressing aspects of the transition remain unaddressed. Climate mitigation is achievable with the technology currently available, so investments in new technology which take money away from the transition should be avoided.<sup>9</sup>Put simply: zero sum investments are ultimately zero benefit.



Action which mitigates carbon emissions while also addressing biodiversity loss and environmental pollution should focus on systems approaches to the biggest drivers of those crises: infrastructure and land use, energy and power, transport, and consumption.<sup>9</sup> Transformative change of those systems will secure significant co-benefits for air quality, soil health, water quality, resilience, and socio-economic benefits, while also minimising the necessary costs of infrastructure adaptation.<sup>5</sup>

Addressing these four complex drivers would be a significant first step towards delivering on global climate and biodiversity commitments. Taking those steps will not create a future where all environmental challenges have been resolved but would help to triage the most significant threats to humanity's future so that the long-term task of creating sustainable communities and regenerating nature can continue.

Net zero carbon is only the first step in that journey, and the world is highly likely to reach net zero at some point in its future.<sup>14</sup> The question will be how much is sacrificed along the way, so the responsible course of action will be to adopt proactive pathways which minimise the costs of transitioning and maximise the potential for social, economic, and environmental benefits.

## The role of land and place: agriculture, planning, and transport

A more sustainable approach to land use starts with agriculture and the planning system. Widespread adoption of regenerative agriculture and sustainable land management, driven by 'public money for public goods' approaches to farming will provide the supply-side changes necessary to support behavioural and dietary change by consumers.<sup>21</sup> In a world where consumption decreases alongside more sustainable practices, food security will be achievable while drastically reducing pollution to watercourses and land.<sup>22,23</sup>

Mainstreaming of sustainable design throughout the whole planning system, driven by environmental scientists working at the heart of decision making, will be crucial to decarbonising infrastructure and ensuring sustainable development which meets the planning system's linked social and environmental objectives.<sup>24</sup>

Sustainability considerations cannot end with carbon: nature, air and noise quality, and health must also be part of the design process, with sufficient environmental and ecological expertise available to local authorities to make informed decisions. In many instances, it will be necessary to protect spaces for nature, which requires framework-level planning to coordinate land use for multiple functions.<sup>1</sup>

Decision making will need to ensure that grid connectivity, the use of heat networks, building standards and energy efficiency improvements, and whole lifecycle environmental assessments are integrated into developments from the outset of projects at the design stage. This will only be possible in the context of short and long term strategies to address the environmental impacts of concrete, which accounts for nearly 8 per cent of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions.<sup>25</sup>

Sustainable approaches to planning will also support the decarbonisation of transport systems. The latter will require a transformative approach to how humans travel, aimed at reducing the need for medium-length and longer journeys by putting sufficient infrastructure close to where people live, such as through the development of '15 minute towns' and similar approaches.<sup>5,26</sup>

Local plans should make active travel a realistic and presumed option, but sustainable public transport and affordable electric vehicles will also be necessary for wider accessibility. Both of the latter require infrastructure development and sufficient consumer incentives for a viable transition, as well as transition plans for deployment and long-term resilience, avoiding any risk of 'lock-in' to the risk of single-points-of-failure, such as overdependence on electrification.<sup>27</sup>

In the circumstances where air travel and shipping are necessary, such as for freight and long-distance international travel, significant steps should be taken towards producing sustainable fuels, energydense batteries, sectoral decarbonisation roadmaps, and carbon offsetting plans.<sup>28,29</sup> Transforming the transport system will require significant reductions in the most-polluting forms of travel, so reasonable alternatives need to be made possible through rail and tram networks, as well as utilisation of digital technology to remove the need for travel.<sup>5</sup>

## Decoupling and diversification: recharging our power systems

Power systems will require significant transformation and public understanding of the need for action on energy is already strong, which has driven declining costs for renewable energy production. Renewable sources are expected to be the largest global source of energy production by the end of the decade.<sup>30</sup> The cost of energy production from solar photovoltaics dropped 90 per cent between 2010 and 2019, with wind energy production also dropping 40 per cent.<sup>10,14</sup> As the insecurity and cost of fossil fuels drive up prices and uncertainty, feedback loops will continue to drive renewables into the wider energy mix, regardless of which pathways the world follows.

The challenges for the energy transition will be to situate those renewables in the overall energy mix of different countries, addressing the dual challenges of grid connectivity for deployment and integrated energy storage to address intermittence. Once scaled up, deployed, and decentralised, those renewable-heavy energy networks will be the backbone of a just energy transition which provides communities with sustainable and secure power sources.<sup>31</sup>

To achieve sustainable energy systems, we must diversify our energy sources away from fossil fuels, totally decoupling them from our economy and power generation. That will require communities to make decisions about their overall energy mix, so during the short and medium term, transitional energy sources may be necessary as we scale up the scope of renewable sources, including imperfect solutions such as blue hydrogen or nuclear energy.<sup>5</sup>

Where adopted, those technologies will need to be carefully managed to prevent negative social or environmental outcomes.<sup>32,33</sup>

In most realistic pathways, a diverse array of energy sources will be a necessary element of the transition away from fossil fuels, so the role of environmental scientists will be critical to ensuring the appropriate use and management of a diverse range of energy technologies.<sup>34</sup>

Many of the best solutions will be tailored to their local context, so at the national and international level, many energy solutions will need to be available, allowing scientists to inform communities about their options. Knowledge transfer will be a vital component of ensuring the just dissemination of information about energy choices. Implementing those decisions about energy may then require the use of novel policy approaches where appropriate, including community-owned energy and decentralised power grids.<sup>5,31</sup>

## Moving from GDP to sustainable development and circular economies

Climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution are, at their core, driven by the historic consumption of the environment through our economic systems and technological developments.<sup>35</sup> Transformative change will require humanity to address that consumption by moving towards a more sustainable economy.

The world's current approach exists under a paradigm of demand management, where Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth remains the primary focus of economic systems. Such an approach cannot be achieved in perpetuity and will ultimately not be sustainable.<sup>36,37</sup>The inevitable truth is that the planet cannot simultaneously sustain limitless growth in capital, growth in population, and growth in resources.<sup>38</sup>

Historically, the global economy has depleted resources in favour of growing capital and expanding populations, but as the finite limits of resources are reached, perpetual capital growth will no longer be possible. Human society should make the shift away from growth-driven economics an active choice, rather than an inevitable policy failure which leads to destructive recessions, and which embeds financial insecurity and economic injustice.<sup>14</sup>

If we deliver on existing commitments, society could instead adopt a wellbeing or sustainable development approach, driving economic change which captures multiple social, economic, and environmental benefits in line with the Sustainable Development Goals.<sup>36</sup>

Working with the grain of existing economic models, this approach would shift the growth of the economy towards green jobs which provide net contributions to the environment, driven by skills development and consumer demand for sustainable businesses. Market mechanisms would utilise regulation to promote sustainability while also improving competition through 'level playing fields'.

Taking a transformative approach to resolving global consumption would require us to significantly alter economic systems to create a more circular economy.<sup>5,39</sup> Totally decoupling the global economy from systems of growth is unlikely to be realistic, but the system could be altered to significantly reduce the extent to which that growth relies on resource use and waste.<sup>40</sup>

That kind of change will rely on embedding lifecycle and whole value chain considerations across business models, while promoting behavioural change to encourage the application of the waste hierarchy: reduced consumption, reuse of products, and recycling of non-reusable materials. It would also involve novel approaches to how people live and work, such as community ownership of assets, tools, and services.

Even without reforming economic models towards circularity, greater reporting of corporate environmental impacts will be important to inform consumer choices and maximise the potential to minimise resource use. To avoid greenwashing, it may be necessary to employ novel approaches such as robust certification of companies and their environmental commitments.

## Adaptation and resilience: how can we live with the choices we make?

Even in climate conversations, adaptation has been a significantly undervalued aspect of society's wider approach. In the wider context of the triple crisis, adaptation is even less embedded in solutions.<sup>27</sup> The hard-learnt truth from the climate crisis is that adaptation and resilience cannot be considered to be separate from the decisions made about mitigating or preventing an environmental crisis .

This is because resilience is bound up within the choices made about how environmental challenges are addressed. More incremental or atomistic approaches will increase the need for adaptation, either because vulnerability to hazards increases or because the hazards themselves increase in scope and scale.<sup>11</sup>

Particular caution should be taken in the face of tipping points in complex systems, as many are likely to be irreversible or may otherwise cause unintuitive and rapidly intensifying impacts on people and nature. For example, changes to both climate conditions and ecosystems can distort the way that pollutants in the natural environment behave, creating novel terminal products or causing contaminants to produce unexpected harms.<sup>41</sup>

Likewise, the cumulative impact of pressures on multiple systems must be accounted for, to ensure that humanity's capacity to adapt is sufficient to create resilience to all the consequences of its decisions and not just the most intuitive changes.

In the face of these challenges, society's approach to adaptation must be developed with reference to interlinked social and natural systems. Adaptation efforts have historically focused on the climate crisis, and within that context have disproportionately centred on flood defence.<sup>27</sup> A more holistic approach to adaptation will be necessary, regardless of which pathways are taken, integrating energy security, food security, water security, and ecosystem resilience into approaches to the climate crisis.<sup>42</sup>

Across adaptive efforts, governments should also account for the risks and challenges associated with biodiversity loss, pollution, and other environmental issues such as soil degradation.<sup>65</sup> Soil is essential to a substantial proportion of the global food supply – as much as 95 per cent in countries like the UK – so threats to soil are likewise threats to global food security, the supply of human labour which needs to be fed, and the complex value chains linked to global trade.<sup>22,43</sup>

Structural changes in ecosystems, including fragmentation, species distribution, and disruption of habitats, can all lead to the loss of functionality and the disruption of the ecosystem services which are vital to both humanity and the wider natural world.<sup>17</sup> These changes can exacerbate the ecological emergency, but can also have immediate effects on the way people live their lives, requiring adaptation to retain access to food, natural resources, and key regulating functions of the environment such as carbon cycling and storage. Most critically, the potential loss of some ecosystems, such as alpine systems or coral reefs, could have devastating cascading effects on the global environment.<sup>9</sup>

Urban environments will have a significant impact over the shape of the future. As economic growth drives land use change, there has been a substantial conversion of the human habitat from diverse ecosystems into urban or agricultural land, with the same systems driving unsustainable consequences for the natural world.<sup>4</sup>

This process of urbanisation has led to many socio-natural challenges, including for transport, air quality, and housing, but has also given rise to opportunities for shared access to goods and services. In the modern world, the challenges of urbanisation are often seen most dramatically in the global south, where populations are increasingly concentrated in urban centres.<sup>9</sup>

The challenge for the future will be to ensure that society maximises the opportunities of urban environments while adapting to the associated risks, making use of 'place-making' approaches such as '15 minute towns', as well as broader integration of sustainability principles in local plans and frameworks.<sup>17,24</sup> There are inherent justice questions at the heart of how cities and towns are designed, which are only likely to increase as demographic change drives competition for economic migrants and social change polarises attitudes to the jobs and services which urban centres can provide.<sup>9</sup> Whether those opportunities are maximised will determine if urbanisation continues to drive environmental degradation without increasing opportunities, or if the process of altering the urban environment can become a positive influence on the urban landscape. That requires an approach to planning and design which embeds resilience, co-benefits, and environmental improvement at every stage.<sup>76</sup>

Many instruments already exist to support the proliferation of adaptive measures to address these challenges, though the majority are not yet scaled to meet those challenges, tuned towards adaptation as their objective, or operating with reference to the complex systems and interconnected crises which they must be able to address.<sup>34</sup>

Regulatory measures such as European Habitats Regulations, Biodiversity Net Gain approaches, or Nutrient Neutrality requirements have the capacity to embed adaptation throughout the processes most likely to interact with ecosystems.<sup>1,42,45</sup> Heuristics like the mitigation hierarchy demonstrate the potential to embed approaches, particularly if they are utilised at the design stage, while metrics and case studies can improve consistency of delivery across projects or scales. Key challenges can also be addressed more directly, such as setting priority habitats and aligning them with framework-level governance such as land use frameworks or national biodiversity commitments.<sup>46</sup>

Ultimately, individual measures will only be as effective at embedding ecosystem resilience into decision making as the principles, values, and understandings which underpin them. Before any of these approaches can succeed, society must value the inherent benefits of the natural world, not just as an economic asset but for the wider values and sources of wellbeing that it can address.<sup>47,48</sup>

This re-imagining of how we conceive value will be critical in making the difference between a society which respects nature and secures maximal benefits from it, and a society which takes moderate mitigatory and adaptive measures but does not fully



reckon with the vast potential opportunity or risks associated with the natural world.

The more that people imagine themselves to be separate from the natural world, the harder it will be to embed resilience to environmental crises, and the less likely society is to secure the full range of benefits on offer.

## Pollution, chemicals, and systems approaches to cross-contamination

Recent years have seen a significant increase in the recognition of the climate crisis and ecological emergency in policy, media, and across society. Despite this, the extent of environmental pollution remains largely unacknowledged. Efforts to construct a UN-led science-policy panel on chemicals and pollution will likely make a substantial contribution to improving that situation, much akin to equivalent panels on climate change and biodiversity (the IPCC and IPBES, respectively).<sup>49,50</sup>

In many instances, efforts to address climate change and biodiversity loss will also address pollution, due to the interlinking nature of the crises and the ways that they are driven by the same social and economic systems.<sup>6</sup> This means that the majority of action on the triple crisis poses the potential opportunity for co-benefits.<sup>3</sup>

Contaminants, chemicals, and other pollutants have the potential to affect almost any natural system, all the way from core natural systems such as air, water, and land down to biological systems like the human body.<sup>41</sup> Within that context, specific challenges such as soil degradation and noise pollution have been under-addressed.<sup>42</sup> Action to address environmental pollution therefore interacts directly with society's ability to secure a vast array of ecosystem services, as well as basic human needs like health and wellbeing.

Likewise, many sources of pollution can affect multiple natural systems, often moving through one into another and polluting each along the way. For example, ammonia can be a serious challenge for both air and water quality, and one of its most significant sources in agricultural fertiliser can also lead to the degradation of soil organic matter.<sup>42</sup> Standard approaches such as the Source-Pathway-Receptor model are useful for managing the different consequences of a particular pollutant, as well as the ways that interim pollutants can be transformed as they travel through the environment.<sup>51</sup>

Even while these approaches can support robust risk assessment and direct interventions, the state of pollution requires framework-level approaches to ensure the overall strategic management of the crisis. This is especially important in the context of environmental pollution, where there is a simultaneous need for regulatory generality and regulatory specificity, which only framework-level governance will be well-placed to address.<sup>52</sup>

The need for a general approach to chemicals arises from the uncertainty surrounding emerging contaminants and novel chemicals, which are being generated and proliferated into the environment at an unprecedented rate. Chemical products for cleaning and personal care, agricultural chemicals such as fertilisers and pesticides, and deliberately biologically-active medical products are all contributors to an increasing presence of chemicals in the environment.<sup>41</sup>

Even if the social and economic drivers of chemical use are addressed, the precautionary principle demands that regulation retains the scope to consider dangerous pollutants outside of those specific chemicals for which there exists a deep and robust evidence base.

The regulation of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) has demonstrated the incredible complexity of novel families of chemicals, including related chemicals like Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). The vast and differentiated nature of these chemicals, their sources, their contextual safe limits, and their specific dose relationships demands a regulatory approach which has the flexibility to catch chemicals as soon as they emerge on the horizon. Broad legislation which allows chemicals to be regulated in general terms will be a necessary first line of defence against emerging contaminants and novel consequences of pollution.<sup>41,53</sup>

Simultaneously, specific regulations needed to deal with the different effects of pollutants on the environment. Tailored approaches and specific limit levels allow for more bespoke control over a wider array of pollutants. In addition, fine particulates, including PM2.5, can have no safe levels for human health, requiring a specific regulatory approach which goes beyond limit levels.<sup>54,55,56</sup>

To that end, framework-level governance will be essential to address pollution. As for most environmental challenges, it will be needed to unite different scales of action, different systems and pollutants which have linked sources and interwoven impacts, and different stakeholders involved in the governance landscape. It also has a fundamental role in creating coherency between regulatory floors which provide a general basis for addressing contaminants and targeted measures which address specific pollutants or contexts. Such frameworks offer a crucial basis for cross-stakeholder communication and public understanding, both of which will be necessary to address the drivers of chemical pollution.<sup>57,58</sup>

Much with the climate crisis and biodiversity loss, a core element of addressing environmental pollution will necessitate going beyond mitigation towards identifying opportunities for regeneration and remediation, embedding improvement at every scale.<sup>44</sup> While pollution is less scalar in nature than addressing a single negative output, such as carbon emissions, the development of approaches such as Air Quality Positive developments offers some insight into how more transformative approaches to pollution can take place.<sup>59</sup>

The best future the world can hope for would systematically reshape the economic and social drivers causing pollution, but a future which significantly addresses the context of environmental pollution can still be achieved with integrated frameworks for governing chemicals, using both general and targeted measures.

## Environmental consciousness: how will humans shape the habitat we live in?

Fortunately, there has been a positive shift in public consciousness over recent decades. Younger generations place greater value on nature and the services it provides, driving a shift in willingness to act for the good of the planet.<sup>60,61</sup> This trend is only likely to increase, so there should be a considerable degree of optimism about the chance to overcome environmental challenges, as long as that consciousness transforms into action.<sup>62</sup>

The concept of conditional optimism can guide our thinking: humanity has reason to be optimistic about the future, as long as it takes the actions necessary to achieve that future. $^{63,64}$ 

The psychology of environmental crises is inherently tied to the collective willingness to take actions, often without the immediate sense of the tangible benefits people gain from environmentally sustainable behaviours. By now, people are all too familiar with the 'free rider problem' and the 'tragedy of the commons', but frameworks have begun to emerge which are fundamental to reimagining the human conception of value.<sup>36</sup>

Ecosystem services, planetary boundaries, and 'doughnut economics' all challenge the ways that we think about what we want, but ultimately the decisions people make will be guided by personal values, not universal ones, which will in turn determine the shape of the future.<sup>765</sup> The role of environmental science in protecting the future of the human habitat is, first-and-foremost, about providing the evidence and understandings needed to help people understand what is at stake and what it would mean to them if it was lost.

The best world on offer is one where humanity becomes a species of ethical designers, pulling on the strings of sustainable social and natural systems which serve a range of interests and values. The worst world is one where humanity loses influence over the environment, which shifts on the whims of social structures under the yo-yoing tides of degraded habitats and generationally shifting values.

Between those two extremes, there is still a choice amongst the more likely scenarios. 'Business as usual' will bring about the unstemmed degradation of natural systems, caused by the step-by-step collapse of the 'body' of the human habitat.

As each of its organs fails, it may be possible to find artificial transplants which never function quite as well as the originals, and some parts of the body may survive the decline, but not without losing functionality and value for future generations. The body would hobble on, but not without loss.

A better future is achievable with action, as long as humanity meets the conditions of its conditional optimism. The most positive realistic future which can be achieved begins with the triage of environmental decline as environmental science brings humanity through the era of chaos marked by environmental crises into a settled peace where it adopts a more autious approach to remediating and repairing natural systems over time, allowing it to recapture crucial values which might otherwise be lost.

The key to that future is immediate action, informed by systems thinking and enacted with a transformative approach to change. Humanity has every reason to know that these crucial systems can change, and that such change can be beneficial for everyone. The next step is to embrace a more positive relationship with planet Earth and the human habitat.

## How can we achieve the best possible future?

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for the environment is one where:

- Society's approach to environmental crises is integrated at every level, from global governance to the ways environmental scientists work. Decision makers understand and respond to the climate crisis in the context of biodiversity loss, pollution, and the complex social and natural systems underpinning them.
- Society transitions to a more circular and regenerative economy, enabled by the evidence of environmental scientists, novel approaches such as community ownership of assets, and regulatory requirements for greater corporate reporting of environmental impacts, encouraging businesses to embed climate, biodiversity, and the environment as whole value chain considerations.
- Governments underpin environmental ambitions with flexible and context-appropriate delivery plans, using transformative, rather than incremental, approaches to change. Environmental scientists support delivery by providing insights on implementation in practice.
- Governments cooperate globally on environmental pollution, mirroring the processes for climate and biodiversity, empowering the forthcoming global science panel to play an active role, supported by national policy which is sufficiently general to cover novel and emerging pollutants and sufficiently specific to address the effects of individual contaminants.
- Governments embed adaptation in decisions about mitigating or preventing environmental challenges, with the goal of creating sustainable social and natural systems where opportunities are maximised, risks are managed, and the balance between them is fairly-shared.

# Emergence of the dragonfly: Crafting a new world through transformative change

How can a new vision for a transformed society be co-created? How can environmental meaningfully transform complex social, economic, and natural systems which inhere against change?

When talking about the future, metaphors come all too easily. The butterfly is a popular one: the transformation from one thing into another captures all the possibility associated with a world remade in a more beautiful image.

However, an understanding of complex systems reveals that such a simple approach to transformation is inaccurate. Social, economic, and environmental systems are entangled in feedback loops, subtle drivers, and holistic pressures over time, making them resilient to some changes and wildly susceptible to others.<sup>1</sup> The result is that changes often lead to policy failures or unintended consequences. To address the complexity of systems, transformative change approaches are needed, utilising key leverage points to manipulate whole systems.<sup>2,3</sup>

In that context, it is not the metamorphosis of the butterfly humanity should be seeking, but the emergence of the dragonfly. When a nymph transforms into a dragonfly, many subtle pressures come together to create a new creature beneath the surface of the nymph's skin. Once that unseen change has begun, the nymph moults, shedding away its past appearance as it adopts a new form. Often, more than a single moult is needed as the creature grows into what it needs to become. Nonetheless, at the end of the journey, the world bears witness to a full transformation: the emergence of the dragonfly.

Through that lens, much can be learnt about the requirements of transformative change. 'Transition' is not as simple as putting society's hopes into a cocoon and expecting them to emerge flawlessly on the other side. Systems inhere against change, so it is necessary to work with their key drivers, making those subtle transformations beneath the surface until the whole system emerges transformed. Just as the emergence of the dragonfly is only possible under the right circumstances, enabling conditions must be met to facilitate transformative change. And much as the nymph must moult many times, so too does transformative change require iteration and reflection in order to be fully realised.<sup>4</sup>

Systems literacy will be a crucial element to engaging the public in meaningful choices about the future, but systems understanding is a more urgent prerequisite for policy design.<sup>5</sup> Transformative change is a necessary element of meeting society's hopes to transition away from the unsustainable pressures which drive environmental challenges. For that change to be achievable, the most potent leverage points at the heart of social and natural systems will need to be used to create a better future.

#### Why do we need transformative change?

The Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) defined transformative change in its



Global Assessment as "a fundamental, system-wide reorganisation across technological, economic and social factors, including paradigms, goals and values."<sup>6</sup> That definition aligns with the understanding that environmental challenges have been caused by many complex, reinforcing pressures arising from social, economic, and natural systems.

To address those challenges, their causes need to be addressed, requiring holistic interventions which work across the complex systems they operate within. Incremental or atomistic approaches may still lead to a world where those challenges are addressed, but they will do so at considerable cost: unambitious approaches will mean sacrificing natural systems or services which provide immense benefit to people and the planet.<sup>7</sup>

Less ambitious approaches often fall down when the complex and deeply embedded drivers in social and natural systems inhere against change or produce unexpected consequences. As a result, changes may not be meaningful or lasting, and they may come with negative costs, side effects, or the need for further changes at a later date.<sup>8,9</sup>

Focusing on key levers like education, skills, economic systems, and governance will be critical to creating a vision of the future that works for everyone.<sup>10,11</sup> Environmental scientists are well-placed to do so: understanding natural systems can expose where those levers will be most impactful, and the capacity for interdisciplinary working across specialisms allows scientists to understand the unexpected consequences that interventions may cause. In a future where environmental science takes advantage of learning from across environmental challenges, building links with social science and engineering in the process, transformative change can be achieved.<sup>5</sup>

Regardless of which pathways society adopts, widespread changes are inevitable. Technological developments will mean massive changes for society and the economy, providing opportunities to improve the sustainability of systems of consumption and production as a significant co-benefit.<sup>12</sup>

Likewise, the climate crisis will cause substantial changes for the world, whether or not society seeks to address it.<sup>13</sup> Choosing to pursue transformative change puts humanity in control of what those changes look like, providing the chance to secure multiple benefits and mitigate potential risks. Transformative approaches can address the mutual causes of climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental pollution, avoiding the need for multiple costly transitions and increasing the likelihood that the root causes of the crises are addressed.<sup>14</sup>

The benefits of such an approach are manifold: costs will be significantly lower because an integrated approach is more efficient, it will be easier to secure a 'just transition' because social and economic structures causing injustice can be tackled at the same time that their effects on natural systems are addressed, and adaptation can be integrated more easily because society has greater control over what the world looks like after the transition.<sup>15,16</sup> Altogether, transformative approaches minimise risk and maximise opportunities.

If the only certainty in the world is that change is inevitable, pursuing transformative change is an easy way to make that change a force for good in the world.

## People and perspectives: Who will drive transformative change?

Achieving transformative change will not be easy; it requires novel thinking and a strong understanding of the systems people work and live within. Fundamentally, the core questions will be: who will drive transformative change, what systems and frameworks will underpin it, and how can that transformative change be delivered?

In that context, the 'who' factor is especially critical: people are at the heart of transformative change, not only because they are key operating agents whose actions embed feedback loops and routines into systems, but because transformative change exists for human benefit. The principle at the heart of transformation is the creation of a particular vision of the world, where society embraces rather than consumes the environment, using transformative change to reach that goal. Without a vision, transformation is a meaningless endeavour, so the wants and needs of human society are fundamental to determining that destination.

Values and world views are two of the most fundamental drivers of social systems. If the natural world is viewed as an economic resource or a wilderness to be tamed, society is unlikely to align its ambitions with environmental conservation and improvement, so many seemingly independent pressures will continue to arise.<sup>17</sup>

Conversely, if people recognise nature's fundamental role in underpinning the ecosystem services society relies on, it is more likely that those considerations will be recognised as decisions are made, mitigating the impact of many small decisions which add up to an unsustainable society.<sup>18</sup> For example, the choices people make every day as consumers reflect a wide range of considerations which arise from their finances, their personal preferences, and their values. The things people buy shape the global economy, which shapes how people interact with the world.<sup>19</sup> Changing social values may seem abstract, but they can fundamentally reshape humanity's relationship with nature.<sup>20</sup>

For individual actions to help guide transformative change, everyone must be working towards the same vision of the future. To maximise the potential leverage of collective action on social and economic systems, efforts must be taken to reach a consensus about the future people want to achieve. Co-creation approaches, carbon literacy, and community collaboration tools like citizen assemblies are critical ways to unite society, but they need to be scaled up to make the most of their potential.<sup>7</sup>

## "Environmental science must avoid falling into the trap of dictating one approach to policy at the expense of the public being able to make its own decisions."

The need for greater unity is particularly stark in the context of increasingly polarised societies where scientific evidence has become politicised in public opinion. Environmental science must avoid falling into the trap of dictating one approach to policy at the expense of the public being able to make its own decisions.<sup>21</sup> Instead, science should provide evidence on the implications of choices and the ramifications of taking particular pathways, including the costs and co-benefits associated with decisions.<sup>22</sup>

When society has collaboratively created a vision of the future, science and policy will be empowered to design the mechanisms which will bring about that future, aided by robust monitoring and effective policy delivery.

The role of effective science communication in supporting collaborative decisions about the future will be paramount, and science must play a role in providing the scientific literacies, like carbon literacy, which will be necessary to empower community decision making.<sup>25</sup> To that end, the relationship between science, the public, and policy will be vital in supporting transformative change, even beyond the extent to which it informs public consent for decision making.

Within policy processes, the perspective of participants plays a crucial part in determining how they interact with those systems, so having 'process literacy' as a means of engaging with processes and the roles people play within them is a prerequisite to the proper functioning of those systems.<sup>23</sup> Key stakeholders will need to understand their role in a manner which allows for the potential to secure multiple benefits for society, the economy, and the environment.

For example, where planning and development processes are seen to be adversarial between developers, local authorities, and environmental experts, those parties engage in an adversarial manner. There is less propensity for data sharing, less willingness to collaborate on design early in the process, and less capacity for mutually beneficial outcomes. When policy systems operate in such a way, drivers in those systems stress against the overall potential to secure multiple benefits.<sup>27</sup>

Building stronger relationships between science, the public, and policy can maximise the potential for cohesive systems which are open to the possibility of transformative change. An early step in the transformation must be to ensure adequate satisfaction and familiarity with the processes involved in the transformation itself, as well as those in a post-transition society.

## Systems and frameworks: What will drive transformative change?

Going beyond the role of participants in social and policy systems, those systems themselves will be critical to driving any kind of transition away from a world of environmental crises, making use of the key leverage points necessary to achieve transformative change.

Given the prolific role played by the global economy in shaping policy decisions and the actions of individuals, economic leverage points have a special power in driving or subverting environmental degradation.<sup>15</sup> Embedding circular economy principles and sustainability throughout corporate value chains will be crucial to addressing the unsustainable pressures linked to global economic growth, because those principles provide the means to increase the efficiency of resource use without losing value or compromising on the quality of the environment.<sup>25</sup>

In a future where businesses increasingly factor sustainability into corporate strategies through ESG principles and corporate carbon initiatives, the potential to achieve the decoupling of economic systems from unsustainable activity will depend on accountability and transparency, as policy frameworks will be an important part of holding businesses to account, so that consumers can make informed decisions about how to spend money in line with their values.<sup>26</sup>

Both in economics and in the broader environmental space, effective policy depends on the ability to unite different spatial scales and carry decisions through to delivery. Where different environmental strategies, regulations, and policies operate at specific scales or contexts, frameworks must bring them together to ensure coherence and to prevent issues falling into gaps between policies.<sup>23</sup>

Uniting policies through framework-level governance allows for targeted policies which address the key leverage points necessary to transform systems, while also respecting the interactions between those drivers and ensuring a systems approach to solutions. Even if policy tools are independently geared towards environmental outcomes, their effectiveness at securing those outcomes depends on the coherence between them, the scope of targets across the system, and the ability of the overall framework to ensure that every aspect is contributing towards the same outcomes.<sup>22</sup>

For example, land use frameworks have the potential to align planning policy, nature recovery strategies, agriculture, and other uses of land.<sup>27</sup> Even if each individual policy regime has environmental objectives, there is no guarantee that they will collectively meet national and international objectives for nature unless they are contextualised in a bigger picture. Nature does not recognise boundaries drawn on maps or departmental jurisdictions, so policy frameworks must be able to work beyond those limits as well.



Not only can framework-level governance prevent gaps in policy, it can support the effective delivery of policy. Embedding post-implementation reviews and iterative monitoring of implementation allows these tools to be tested and fine-tuned until the governance system as a whole has been transformed.<sup>4</sup>

## Leveraging policy and practice: How will we drive transformative change?

To achieve transformative change in practice, it won't be enough for people to want change and to recognise the systems which can make it a possibility. Key leverage points must be actively targeted with effective interventions, linking the policy scale with robust monitoring and implementation, driven by the relationships between scientific evidence, policy makers, industry, research institutes, and the public.<sup>22</sup>

In doing so, the social and economic instincts which drive individual and collective action will be vitally important, so the insights of social sciences like behavioural economics and sociology are fundamental.<sup>28</sup> At the same time, environmental science can support the appropriate application of technological advances to facilitate change.<sup>29</sup> Only by drawing together these technological, economic, and social factors with knowledge and evidence from environmental science can meaningful transformative change be achieved, manipulating the drivers in complex systems, rather than succumbing to them.<sup>6</sup>

For example, a city seeking to reduce unhealthy levels of air pollution might seek to impose clean air restrictions linked to transport, such as low emission zones for private vehicles. While many people support these policies, they may also feel disempowered by the uniform application of fines throughout the zone or by how those fines are deployed, restricting choices about how they travel. The result is that these policies are difficult to implement and may face resistance from communities, so may be hard to maintain with the degree of agility necessary to respond to changing pressures on the environment.

A transformative approach to implementing these policies could make use of technological developments while also integrating modern social approaches to address the challenges for implementation.

Empowering people from the start, citizens would be supported in shaping regulation. Based on the model of citizen assemblies, the local community would be brought into meetings where they would be given direct access to scientific evidence on the effects of air pollution from transport, then supported in developing different options for limit levels and fines, all informed by the expertise of air quality professionals and post-implementation monitoring of the effectiveness of existing low emission zones.

Once members of the community had decided upfront what levels of air pollution they were collectively comfortable with, regulation would be put in place to apply fines to vehicle emissions when those limits were breached. Real-time monitoring stations at key locations within the low emission zone could collect robust data about pollutant levels with hyperlocal specificity, supported by reliable validated artificial intelligence to cover for any gaps in data.

Based on the data, the autonomous system could automatically update enforcement action in line with the earlier decisions of the community. Fines, exceptions, and bans could all be deployed as desired. If pollution was particularly rife, harsher penalties could be automatically enforced. If the circumstances were less severe, the system could automatically become more lenient.

Taking this kind of autonomous regulatory change approach could have a number of benefits: society would be immediately empowered with evidence and the power to make its own

IES **PREPORT** Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

decisions. Once it has, the decision does not need to be relitigated every time regulatory action takes place, because society has already made its choice. In the process, regulation would have been depoliticised while also increasing citizen empowerment.

For this kind of approach to be successful, it would be vital to ensure that any citizen input is legitimate and represents the views of the community, so social and economic transformation would be necessary.<sup>22</sup> Real-time monitoring and Artificial Intelligence would need assured reliability and consistent delivery, so technological transformation would be necessary.<sup>30</sup> Finally, policy processes and regulation would need to be able to keep pace with real-time changes in the environment, so regulatory transformation would be necessary.

This hypothetical case study is only one example of the ways that transforming all these systems together could achieve novel approaches to tackling environmental challenges. It would not be suitable for all issues or all places, but demonstrates that transformative change has the capacity to bring systems together in ways that empower communities, embed scientific evidence, and provide real solutions to seemingly insurmountable challenges.

## What the future holds: is transformative change still achievable?

In the face of dynamic social, economic, and natural systems which push back against attempts to change them, it can feel that uncertainty is overwhelming and that there is not much agency to shape the future. However, much like the dragonfly, many small, coordinated and well-managed changes beneath the surface can come together to transform the world.

Through a focus on transformative change, it becomes possible to see the conditions that will allow people to feel 'conditional optimism'.<sup>31,32,33</sup> There is every reason to be optimistic about the ability to create lasting beneficial change, as long as the conditions of making that change a reality are met. Those conditions are the subtle changes at key leverage points, which give rise to the power of transformative change.

The world is not yet aligned with transformative approaches to environmental crises, but such approaches are still achievable. The critical factors which will determine which future humanity faces will be how well people work collaboratively to build a shared social vision of the future and how quickly they embrace the path to that future through transformative change.

Once humanity knows what it wants to achieve and makes the necessary preparations, society will be ready to take flight through transformative change, carried on the wings of the dragonfly.

## How can we achieve the best possible future?

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see is one where:

- Environmental scientists work with social scientists to build trust and co-create a future vision for a sustainable society with communities, facilitating knowledge exchange and informing citizens of the evidence and how different approaches can be achieved.
- Governments adopt framework-level governance to coordinate processes, and learning providers disseminate process literacy to help society guide those processes towards transformative change.
- The environment sector spreads scientific literacy (including on carbon, oceans, and systems) throughout society through education pathways, lifelong learning, and public engagement by scientists.
- Governments replace unsustainable economic drivers, like fossil fuel subsidies or economic barriers to sustainable consumer choices. Society reimagines what is seen as valuable, embracing transparency, accountability, and sustainability.

# The rise of sustainability, interdisciplinarity and solutions-driven science

What do we need to deliver a sustainable future? What is the role of environmental scientists in realising this future? How can we develop multifunctional solutions to the crises we face?

Transitioning to a sustainable society is essential for securing a positive future. Sustainability at its core is predicated on the need for interdisciplinarity and systems thinking. It depends on the interaction between social, economic and environmental systems and ensuring they are in balance to safeguard the longevity and wellbeing of humanity.<sup>1</sup> These systems cannot be looked at in isolation, and neither our social or economic systems can achieve their optimal function without a healthy environment.<sup>2</sup>

One of the key drivers that has led to the multiple environmental and social crises facing our society is the disconnect between how we manage these systems and a lack of consideration of the interconnectedness between them. Infinite economic growth driven by extractivist industries is not possible in a world of finite resources and delicate ecosystems — the environmental cost of our economic systems is a woefully under-considered negative externality that cannot continue. Only through true interdisciplinary working can solutions be developed that holistically address the interlinked environmental and social crises facing humanity and take into consideration the social, economic and environmental dimensions of the world.

Environmental scientists can lead by example in this area. At its core, environmental science requires understanding of systems and there are already numerous examples of projects where environmental science expertise has supported the development of systems-led design and solutions.<sup>3,4,5,6</sup> Capitalising on, and disseminating learnings from, these types of projects will be a key role of environmental scientists of the future.

#### **Embedding interdisciplinarity**

The importance of interdisciplinarity for the future of environmental science cannot be overstated. Environmental science is fundamentally an interdisciplinary field, bringing together knowledge from geography, geology, biology, physics and chemistry to understand the world around us. However, specialisation within the sector can lead to the development of siloed approaches to environmental challenges and the implementation of single-factor solutions aimed at dealing with specific environmental concerns, rather than taking into account the wider systems within which they sit.

As understanding of the interconnected nature of environmental and social crises grows more evident, the need for multifaceted perspectives and integrated approaches becomes more accepted. Frameworks such as the UN Sustainable Development Goals<sup>7</sup> and Kate Raworth's Doughnut Economics<sup>8</sup> recognise this importance. They place environmental considerations as a key determining factor in reaching a sustainable future or "safe and just space", which not only meets the social and economic needs of humanity but also allows for a society that operates within planetary boundaries.

The question now is how to take these frameworks, along with other relevant frameworks, and use them in tangible, evidencebased ways to facilitate interdisciplinarity and the development of multifunctional solutions.

Currently, practice is not reflecting ambition in many cases, with interdisciplinary and systems thinking based projects still in the minority. Environmental scientists are often leading in this space among scientific disciplines, but further work needs to be done to embed interdisciplinary practice across the environmental sciences, and STEM as a whole. Environmental projects which utilise this type of thinking such as integrated catchment management<sup>9</sup> and natural capital approaches<sup>10</sup> should be analysed to determine what works — and what does not — and to apply this to future interdisciplinary work.

## **Science for solutions**

The rhetoric surrounding the need for interdisciplinarity reflects the shift in the scientific community away from traditional 'discovery science' focused on purely understanding the environment, to a more challenge-led and solutions-driven approach, much more focused on the application of science and integrated approaches to environmental challenges. Discovery science will always be an essential element of the work of the scientists, but this must go together with solutions-led science to drive change. Implementing solutions to the complex, interconnected issues facing our environment is dependent on breaking down siloes between environmental disciplines and convening scientists to develop holistic solutions and avoid unintended consequences.

Moving away from single-factor solutions will depend upon deep knowledge of the environment and our place within it, as well as behavioural change and a philosophical shift in the way we structure work and our education systems.

Discipline-led science can stymie this type of thinking as it can restrict what is deemed relevant to a particular specialism. This in turn can smother innovation and creativity, particularly in the 'publish or perish' culture prevalent in science and research. Highimpact journals are often discipline-focused, with interdisciplinary research often published in lower status journals. This leads to the further fragmentation of knowledge into disciplinary siloes.<sup>1</sup>



Reframing how we think about research and research funding is therefore a key part of the puzzle in realising interdisciplinary science.

There is now also a greater understanding that interdisciplinarity needs to go beyond collaboration between environmental disciplines (although this is naturally essential) but also covers the importance of collaborating with other disciplines in the social sciences and engineering, as well as transdisciplinary science which involves collaboration with non-academic stakeholders. An example of where this is needed is related to the built environment. There is a strong interaction between the natural and built environment, through behaviour, planning and decisionmaking, and environmental scientists will need to work with the engineering community to create mutually beneficial solutions that enable development and contribute to environmental improvement.

There is a need for greater porosity between the social sciences and environmental sciences to support the behaviour shifts needed to drive transformative change, particularly with regards to delivering a just transition and improving Equity, Diversity & Inclusion within the profession. Tapping into the social sciences can help the environmental profession understand the barriers to multicultural participation in science and can help develop initiatives to effectively engage with those from diverse backgrounds.

Uniting research, professional practice, policy and the public will allow for the development of solutions that can be interfunctional across these different areas and take account of the full suite of skills and knowledge available in society. It will also allow different stakeholders to feel a sense of ownership and empowerment over the transition to a sustainable society, maximising its likelihood of success.

#### **Embracing environmental systems**

Placing the environment at the heart of our decision making will be a fundamental part of supporting solutions-led science. We need to realign our society to one that fits within the environment as a functional element, as opposed to consuming it for short-term gains.

Through embracing and enhancing the environment the ecosystem services it provides which are essential to human health, wealth and wellbeing can be protected and supported. This will rest upon a realignment of how society views its place within the environment as well as the value prescribed to different elements of it. This needs to go beyond nature-based solutions aimed at dealing with single issues, to consider how we can curate complex systems can be curated with symbiotic gains for both humanity and the wider environment. This will require both development of deep systems-based knowledge of the environment and a paradigm shift of how society considers itself within the larger ecosystem of planet Earth.

Fundamental to this will be reimagining land use and how society manages habitats and their associated ecosystem services. Developing a common framework for assessing value to different stakeholders and deciding the role of environmental professionals in acting as stewards for these environments will be an important success factor.

For example, where private land is used for a specific purpose that provides services for the wider population, professionals will be needed who understand these services, how they are valued and how to manage and optimise them for the public good. This is already being done in some aspects of environmental work, such as flood management, but this needs to be scaled up to support more complex implementations across the environmental science profession. Digital knowledge systems will be an important part of understanding, managing and modelling our environment and supporting the application of systems thinking and interdisciplinarity.

## From specialisms to systems - Challenging disciplinary norms

Environmental science, by its nature, is based upon an understanding and management of systems. It is no surprise, therefore, that fundamental to discussions on the future of environmental science is the need for embedding systems thinking principles. Although interdisciplinarity and systems thinking are currently 'in vogue' in scientific and political rhetoric, in practice there seems to still be a level of confusion and reticence about how it can be applied.

To build a positive future of environmental science it is crucial that tools are developed to embed systems thinking and build bridges for truly interdisciplinary practice. Frameworks will be needed to support interdisciplinary working as well as novel approaches to knowledge sharing like best practice communities and knowledge networks, case studies of successful projects using interdisciplinarity, upskilling in science communication and systems literacy, and forums to connect disciplines. Professionals also need to be open to new approaches and ways of working, whilst maintaining the high standards and robust scientific methods that are currently used. This aligns with that broader need for shared understandings which unite the public, policy makers and integrate multicultural perspectives and scientific literacy.

There will always be a need for subject specialists within the environmental sciences, but environmental scientists who act as knowledge brokers and boundary spanners are also needed. These scientists will play an important role in facilitating the sharing of environmental science knowledge between specialists and supporting the creation and management of interdisciplinary teams. Defining what constitutes a 'green job' will also be part of this and will shape the sector to come, as it is likely this definition will broaden as sustainability becomes embedded across industries and sectors. There should be a strong focus on skills in interdisciplinary working, including enabling skills such as communication, collaboration and influencing.

Systems literacy will be needed, not just among the scientific community, but more broadly among policy makers and the public. There is a role for environmental science and scientists in supporting raising the public's consciousness and understanding in this area and supporting evidence-led behaviour change and solutions. This will go beyond just needing specific tools or techniques for systems approaches, but also a deep understanding of the natural and social systems themselves.

## "To be successful, environmental scientists will need a good understanding of the political and social landscape they are operating in..."

It is also important to note the blurred lines between science and activism in the environmental sector and how this may impact the interface between the public, science and policy makers and thus the role of environmental scientists as change agents.<sup>11</sup> To be successful, environmental scientists will need a good understanding of the political and social landscape they are operating in, and tools to navigate it effectively. Key to this will be considering how they can translate scientific evidence into useful formats for different stakeholders. Developing a common language and values framework are an important aspect of supporting interdisciplinary teams and bridging understanding across specialisms. Practicing systems thinking through a practical, rather than a purely theoretical, framing can also be effective at supporting shared understanding and considering how systems thinking can be used in the dayto-day work of different stakeholders. Dedicated communities of practice and knowledge networks can facilitate collaboration and knowledge-sharing between disciplines and provide a useful forum for sharing case study examples of what works (and importantly what doesn't) in different contexts.

#### **Evolving education systems**

The increased understanding of interdisciplinarity and systems thinking has important implications for education in environmental science and how environmental scientists of the future can best be supported. Embedding sustainability across the curriculum and bridging gaps between disciplines will be an important part of equipping the next generation of environmental scientists with the necessary skills in systems thinking and interdisciplinary working.

Education is responsible for shaping how students see the world around them. Currently, in the UK students are taught through the lens of different subjects and that means as they specialise they all develop differing perspectives on the world and their place within it. This can be valuable in certain contexts, but it does limit understanding of the systems they work within. Through evolving education systems to support systems thinking and interdisciplinarity, ways of working that naturally support the development of holistic and multifunctional solutions can be developed.

A major factor for the lack of interdisciplinarity is that education systems and research institutions are still heavily discipline-based, with a focus on developing technical expertise in a specialism rather than a broader understanding of the systems that underpin environment and society. Moreover, this is often reflected at the decision-making level, with government departments often siloed around topics and specialisms leading to a lack of connectivity and porosity between departments. This inevitably leads to decisions being made for single reasons, without a thorough understanding of potential implications of actions in other areas of the system and without realising the potential for multiple benefits.

There are already examples of good practice in supporting interdisciplinarity in education, such as Education for Sustainable Development (ESD)<sup>12</sup> and the Planetary Health Education Framework,<sup>13</sup> as well as the requirement for all QAA subject benchmark statements to make reference to the QAA/Advance Higher Education Guidance on ESD.<sup>14</sup> Dedicated institutions, such as the London Interdisciplinary School, are also providing examples of education to support interdisciplinarity, but these are few and far between and traditional discipline-led education is still the norm.

IES **>** REPORT Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

Frameworks and case studies to facilitate systems thinking in academia will be important to support a roll-out of best practice approaches to supporting interdisciplinarity. The Planetary Health Education Framework,<sup>13</sup> which uses a transdisciplinary lens to support action-oriented science, is focused on fusing theories, methodologies and expertise across disciplinary boundaries. The aim is to provide a basis for academics to work across disciplines, and with other civic and non-academic partners, to tackle real-world challenges and support simultaneous improvements in human and environmental wellbeing. The ESD CoDesignS Framework is another example of supporting interdisciplinarity and sustainability, providing support for all disciplines to embed ESD in curriculum design.<sup>15</sup> Learnings from approaches like this can support specialist scientists to collaborate across disciplines and apply their specialist knowledge to key challenges.

Evolving education systems is also necessary to equip future professionals with the skills and knowledge needed to succeed in careers and drive change in professional practice. In the environment sector, many employers are facing skills and resource challenges and if education is not adapted to the needs of society, this skills and resource gap is only likely to widen. There is evidence that graduates are also driven to pursue careers that make a different to people's lives and want to work with organisations with good sustainability principles. Providing students with skills in interdisciplinarity and systems thinking will help them understand their role within society and how they can contribute their expertise to a more sustainable future throughout different career paths.

If a piecemeal approach to embedding sustainability and interdisciplinarity in education continues, through trying to shoehorn sustainability modules into a discipline-focused curriculum, change will not be achieved in the appropriate timeframes. A concerted effort across education, research and the professions is needed to embed interdisciplinarity, prepare future environmental scientists and upskill the current workforce to deliver solutions that work for people and planet.

Changes to education also need to happen at all levels, from primary through to higher education.<sup>16</sup> The most effective forms of educational change will be for those who experience it from

the beginning of their education journey, at primary levels. This will be a slow process so must be done concurrently with other forms of supporting interdisciplinarity. This could include the roll out of alternative forms of learning, such as the International Baccalaureate, which support a more holistic educational approach. Technical education can also play an important role in supporting interdisciplinarity, by focusing on provision of skills at the applied level and helping those on technical education pathways to develop an understanding of how their theoretical knowledge applies to day-to-day work.

It is also important to consider how education systems and research ecosystem can support greater diversity in the sector. Breaking out of traditional moulds of education may help facilitate increased diversity. When adapting education systems, it is important that the sector moves forwards with humility, accepting that western norms of education do not have all the answers, and that community and indigenous knowledge is also a key source of information for supporting change in our education.

## The role of the professions in delivering a sustainable future

There is currently no profession that fully embraces sustainability due to its boundary-spanning nature. In order to support transformative change to a sustainable society, embedding sustainability, and by extension interdisciplinarity, throughout the professions will be key.

Professional and licensing bodies need to embrace sustainability and consider how they can embed sustainability into their CPD, competencies and best practice. This can be difficult; professional bodies are often constrained by their objects and discipline of focus. Collaboration and partnership across professional bodies will therefore be key for this to tap into the relevant expertise and to ensure systemic, rather than siloed change. These partnerships must be built on an ethos of mutual benefit and transparency and provide space for collaborative development of materials to support their respective members and the development of professional practice for sustainable development.

Professional bodies must also utilise their unique position in society to convene key stakeholders and drive change in



professional standards and competencies, with the aim to support their members not just as professionals, but as change agents in society. Vehicles for collaboration between professional bodies should be championed, such as Licensing Bodies and specific forums like the Professional Bodies Climate Action Charter which can assist in the development of collaborative approaches and resources.

Professional bodies should also utilise their links with education institutions to drive change in best practice regarding sustainability upskilling within education settings and providing opportunities for developing skills in interdisciplinary working and systems thinking. There are various ways this could be achieved, including considering updating accreditation criteria and creating teaching resources.

A focus on lifelong learning is also a fundamental part of ensuring that the environmental workforce is upskilled in the skills needed for interdisciplinary working and sustainability. Professional bodies, along with the wider education and training sector, will need to play a key role in this through the provision of regular CPD opportunities aligned with current best practice.

## How do we achieve a sustainable future?

Interdisciplinarity is a theme that has woven through almost all the discussions in the Future of ES23 project. Ambition and rhetoric around supporting interdisciplinarity is where we want it to be, but this ambition must now be met with changes in practice that embed principles of interdisciplinarity, systems thinking and sustainability throughout environmental science and beyond. If we continue on the current path, we will not move fast enough to embed these skills and as such will continue to develop single-factor solutions to increasingly complex environmental and social problems.

It is important to note that embedding interdisciplinarity and systems thinking is not mutually exclusive with supporting discipline specialists – without disciplines interdisciplinarity would not exist. However, forging links across disciplines and allowing for knowledge exchange remains central to delivering a better future for our society, economy and environment.

We already have much of the knowledge and technical capability that we need to develop a sustainable future. Now, it is just about piecing together that expertise to build the future we want.

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see in terms of interdisciplinarity is one where:

• The environment sector establishes knowledge networks and communities of practice to act as forums to support systems thinking and links between disciplines. They focus on providing case studies of practical applications of systems thinking and interdisciplinarity, as well as tools and frameworks to support those approaches.

- Research institutions and funding organisations support research which utilises interdisciplinary teams and focuses on solutions-led science, creating new funding streams, supporting the development of interdisciplinary research departments, and removing structural barriers to collaboration.
- Learning providers embed sustainability, interdisciplinarity and systems thinking principles at all stages of education, focusing on understanding social, economic, and environmental systems and supporting skills in science communication, collaboration and stakeholder engagement.
- The environment sector supports professionals as agents of change by developing standards and lifelong learning resources on sustainability, systems thinking and interdisciplinary skills. Environmental scientists forge stronger links with social sciences and engineering to avoid siloed approaches.

# Specialisms and systems: Skills to secure a sustainable future

What skills are needed to deliver the transition to a sustainable society? What are the skills needs in the environment sector? How can we ensure that environmental scientists are equipped with the skills and knowledge to practice solutions-led science?

In a changing world, the skills in the workforce need to adapt rapidly to the needs of society and the demands from employers. In response to increased legislation around environmental improvement, net zero and sustainability requirements, the demand for environmental expertise is significantly growing and leading to expanded career pathways and employment opportunities. This is producing novel skills needs in the sector and reframing what it means to be an environmental scientist. The prominence of environmental science expertise is only set to increase as we ramp up action to deliver a sustainable future.

Increased acknowledgement of the need for an integrated approach to environmental, social and economic issues is also causing an expansion in what is considered part of the environmental sector and creating a more broadly defined "green skills" need. It should be noted that when discussing skills, this encompasses a broad spectrum of the skills, knowledge and competencies needed at all levels in the sector.

Effective implementation of solutions-led science will hinge upon an environmental science workforce equipped with the necessary technical, systems thinking and enabling skills, such as communication and strategic thinking.

#### **Enabling skills**

The role of environmental scientists in society is increasing in prominence, driven by increased public interest in environmental challenges, regulatory requirements around organisational sustainability, and greater understanding of the need for integrated solutions to environmental and social issues. This is leading to enabling skills in the environmental workforce becoming increasingly vital.

Enabling skills support the effective translation of environmental science into action, paving the way for environmental scientists to act as agents of change. Enabling skills are varied, and environmental scientists need a variety of them in their toolkit to tackle complex issues and engage with key stakeholders effectively. Not all environmental scientists will need all of these skills, but having access to these skills within project teams will be important to support more effective outcomes.

These skills include:

• Science communication: verbal and written communication skills are essential to drive change. Environmental scientists

need to be able to distil complex concepts to a variety of stakeholders to support effective knowledge transfer and inform action. This needs to be done in a way that presents key findings whilst avoiding oversimplification. This will be especially important when communicating complexity, informed by systems thinking. Communication skills will need to be adapted for different audiences and will range from public engagement, to influencing policy makers, to engaging with industry and commercial organisations and, importantly, those in other disciplines. Each of these engagement types will require different communication skills and environmental scientists will need to be adept at identifying how best to communicate based on their stakeholders' existing knowledge base and interests, as well as the goal of the interaction. Informing and driving behavioural change will be a key aspect of science communication work, and environmental scientists should seek to learn from, and collaborate with, social scientists to upskill in this area. Media training will also be important to develop skills in this area tailored to leveraging media resources for change.

- Problem-solving and critical thinking: these skills are aligned with the need for solutions-led science. Environmental scientists will need to be skilled in applying theoretical knowledge, case study insights and previous experience to novel situations. Applying scientific reasoning to realworld concerns should be a key target for environmental education to support a focus on solutions and to foster skills in problem-solving. Critical thinking complements problemsolving skills, allowing scientists to approach problems using a logical and systematic approach. Critical thinking will also be essential to supporting the development of new ideas and questioning the status quo.
- Innovation: given the scale of the change needed to transition to a sustainable society, skills in innovation should be cultivated in the sector to support complex problemsolving and adapting to new ways of living. Undoubtedly, unforeseen issues will also materialise on the journey to a sustainable society and novel problems will require novel solutions. Innovation will need to be a fundamental part of environmental scientists' toolkit to support change, adapt to change, and leverage change to support environmental improvement.
- Leadership and collaboration skills: these skills are essential components for supporting interdisciplinary science and the integration of knowledge across disciplines. Those within interdisciplinary teams will need to build strong relationships with other members and have a good understanding of



where they can best add value. To facilitate the reframing of society that embraces nature, environmental scientists will also need to show strong leadership skills to champion environmental science and effect change. Foundational to this will be the development of skills in formulating and enacting strategic plans.

- **Community engagement skills**: co-creation of solutions with communities will be needed to support a just transition and create community buy-in, and this will hinge on the effectiveness of community engagement skills. Environmental scientists will need to be equipped with appropriate and effective collaboration and communication skills to support this.
- **Process literacy**: to enact change, environmental scientists need robust knowledge of policy and organisational governance. Policy knowledge should go beyond understanding regulation and reporting requirements, to cover how the policy process works and how it can be influenced. Understanding the interface between policy, the public, and science will also be crucial to develop levers for change. Knowledge of organisational governance and how it can be influenced will also be key. Creating senior leadership buy-in is a key success factor for embedding sustainability and limiting greenwash.

## **Technical skills**

Between 2022-2023, job postings requiring green skills rose by 22.4%, with the share of talent in the workforce increasing by almost half as much (12.3%).<sup>1</sup> The growth in the number of environmental science related roles indicates the increasing demand for technical skills associated with the environmental sciences and the need for growth in the next generation of environmental scientists. "Technical expertise will be crucial to our transition to a sustainable society, but how this technical expertise is framed is changing."

Technical skills, those that cover specialised environmental knowledge and expertise, will always be essential to addressing environmental crises and will be at the core of realising a future where society is aligned with the environment. Technical expertise will be crucial to our transition to a sustainable society, but how this technical expertise is framed is changing. A focus on sustainability and solutions-led science is leading to a demand in skills driven by challenge areas, for example water management, regenerative agriculture, Biodiversity Net Gain, natural capital, nature-based solutions and the circular economy. Emerging areas of science, like dealing with novel contaminants, will also likely lead to an increased focus on skills in environmental chemistry and land and water remediation.

This demonstrates the need for specialists in environmental science such as freshwater science, ecology, land condition and climatology to focus on how their technical expertise can be applied to real-world challenges to support policy delivery. This is shifting the focus from more theoretical principles to application. This follows a natural progression for environmental scientists; by its nature environmental science is more heavily focused on application than the other scientific disciplines. This puts environmental science and take a leadership role in interdisciplinary teams.

Field and lab expertise will continue to be important skills areas for environmental scientists, but the skills mix needed in these environments will adapt in response to changing technologies and information. Proficiency in sample collection and analysis will remain fundamental but the methods for these are likely to change significantly. For example, innovations in field and lab instruments and the rise in automated or remote technologies will impact the activities of environmental scientists in these areas. Environmental scientists will need to show flexibility and adaptability to manage these changes, learn how to use specialist technology, and use their expertise to determine the best tools and techniques available to them.

As we strive for environmental improvement, environmental impact assessment and related technical disciplines will also remain pivotal in order to support a planning system which delivers sustainable housing and infrastructure for society, with built-in environmental improvement. Environmental-led design will be a key success factor for this and will likely be another area of skills growth needed.

In an increasingly complex legislative environment, skills and knowledge of regulation and reporting requirements will be vital, particularly in periods of legislative flux. The emergence of net zero and related policy illustrates how legislative change can drive skills needs.

Technical routes into the sector will be key for filling these skills needs and strides are already being made in this area. There is a need to increase the number of technicians with level 4-5 education in the workforce, as there is evidence that a lack of these qualifications in the workforce may be contributing to the 'productivity gap' in the UK workforce.<sup>2</sup> Historically, environmental science has typically been a graduate-level occupation, but as the workforce expands, differentiation of roles and new routes into the sector will be needed. Technical education will be key to fulfil this need and further technical routes into the sector should be developed, including apprenticeship schemes.

#### A focus on skills for the climate transition

A suite of carbon reporting legislation has come into practice mandating eligible companies to disclose their annual greenhouse gas emissions to support the delivery of net zero ambitions.<sup>3</sup> This requirement is leading to growing demand for skills related to carbon accounting and reporting, supporting organisations in understanding how to measure greenhouse gas emissions and set targets for reducing emissions aligned with a net zero future.<sup>4</sup>

Measuring and reporting on carbon is only one dimension of an organisation's net zero journey. Detailed carbon management plans must be developed and delivered to support achievement of carbon reduction targets. Carbon management plans require a set of skills in addition to carbon accounting and measuring baseline emissions as they require a process of setting targets and devising a strategy to deliver this target through evidencebased action. Organisations will need to utilise a plethora of different expertise, covering areas like energy, waste management and transport. Given the context-specific nature of developing these types of plans, those developing carbon management plans need to show initiative in applying different types of carbon reduction measures in different contexts, and exhibit skills in considering environmental concerns holistically to develop solutions with co-benefits and reduce the likelihood of disbenefits. Moreover, actions need to show a solid understanding of an organisation and its related supply chains, to ensure that measures are feasible and achievable. Finally, delivery of carbon management plans requires strong collaboration skills across organisational departments and buy-in from senior leadership. This highlights the importance of enabling skills in addition to technical skills in this field.

Key skills that therefore need to increase in the sector to support the delivery of net zero include technical expertise in carbon accounting, renewable energy, low-carbon infrastructure and whole life carbon management, circular economy, and utilities and waste management. Enabling skills in communication, implementing policy, supporting behavioural change, strategic thinking and innovation will also be fundamental to supporting effective carbon reduction.

Beyond carbon reduction measures, reporting requirements under the Task force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) also stipulate the need for climate risk reporting. Global temperatures have increased 1.1°C above pre-industrial levels<sup>5</sup> and climate projections show that even if all current Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) are met, the globe is on track for a further 1.3°C degrees of warming.<sup>6</sup> Increased global temperatures are already leading to increased occurrence of extreme weather events and climate hazards and these are predicted to further increase in frequency and severity as temperatures rise.<sup>7</sup>

Moreover, a move to renewable energy systems based on electrification can lead to increased system vulnerabilities through overreliance on specific infrastructure, in this case national grids. We must ensure that our systems are resilient to climate change and its associated impacts. Skills related to climate adaptation, resilience and risk management should therefore be prioritised for skills development, and resilience should be a key component of organisational strategy. Carbon management plans should thus be developed in tandem with climate adaptation plans to manage risk.

Putting together climate adaptation plans will require dedicated skills and knowledge regarding climate resilience and climate risk. This includes the ability to assess current and future risk and use this information to prioritise adaptation measures that are likely to have the biggest impact on resilience. This in turn requires a sound knowledge of different adaptation measures and their applicability, as well as an understanding of governance frameworks to support the delivery of adaptation plans.

To support these skills there needs to be a concerted and complementary approach across education institutes, employers, and professional bodies to support the upskilling of the current environmental workforce and skills development for the environmental scientists of the future.

IES REPORT Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

Currently, there are no comprehensive, industry standard carbon management training courses to support skills development in this area. Moreover, although there are a number of climaterelated degree courses, these often do not include sufficient practical experience in implementing carbon management plans on the ground. Degree courses should ensure that they offer opportunities to develop skills in practical decarbonisation solutions that can support the delivery of net zero targets. Alternative routes into the profession should also be utilised to support skills growth in this area; technical pathways like apprenticeships offer brilliant potential to provide a vehicle for fostering practical net zero skills. Action plans for net zero skills should be delivered, backed by significant investment, to meet the skills needs in these areas.

As emissions reduction measures move towards tackling scope three emissions, carbon literacy training will also continue to increase in importance as a significant proportion of emissions in this scope will relate to behavioural change. Current climate literacy training should also be updated to reflect the increased focus on adaptation and resilience and to support understanding and buy-in for adaptation plans. Climate literacy needs to be rolled out across all disciplines to enable interdisciplinary collaboration in research and development — a key determinant of achieving climate-related targets and managing risk effectively.

#### **Digital skills**

Technological innovation has led to the digitisation of a significant proportion of working practices. In the future, this is likely to continue with digital literacy and associated skills becoming increasingly important in all sectors of society. Managing digital workspaces, using new technologies and handling data will all be important aspects of the future environmental profession.

Technological innovation has revolutionised the way environmental scientists collect, curate, analyse and visualise data on the environment. This has led to a step-change in the quantity and granularity of the data we collect. Increasingly sophisticated methods for analysing data are helping us to understand our environment and model and predict future environmental systems. Handling big data sets and integrating data sets are already recognised skills needs in the sector, and this will only increase further in the future.

This has major implications for the skills needs in the sector. Although not all environmental scientists will need to be experts in data science, there will be a level of proficiency in digital skills required across the sector. Environmental scientists will need skills in using new technologies and expertise on which technologies are best suited for particular purposes. Skills across the spectrum of data collection, quality assurance and cleaning, analysis, visualization, and modelling will be needed.

Advancements in machine learning, AI and remote sensors will increasingly lead to the automation of the more routine components of data collection, cleaning and analysis. This may shift the focus of the skills needs in environmental scientists towards the more complex area of data interpretation. For example, the rising focus on managing environmental risk and assessing progress towards environmental targets will likely result in a greater need for skills related to environmental modelling and prediction, especially around topics like climate change, pollution dispersion and ecosystem dynamics. This will shift the focus for environmental scientists to integrating data insights with real-world assessment to feed into decision making. This will hinge upon the ability to integrate data sets to provide insights at the systems level.

#### Systems literacy

Environmental scientists are being increasingly consulted to develop integrated solutions to environmental challenges. To effectively fulfil this need, they need to be upskilled in systems thinking principles to support the development of multifunctional solutions aligned with a sustainable future.

This requires specialist knowledge of environmental systems and how they interact, as well as a broad understanding of the social and economic systems in which they operate. Managing this complexity will be a key requisite of future environmental scientists. Moreover, in the face of multiple environmental crises, supporting adaptive capacity in society will be vital. This requires environmental scientists to develop skills in solutions optioneering to support evidence-based decision making, with insights on how the different solutions impact and interact within systems.

Systems thinking is inextricably tied to interdisciplinarity, which in turn is a key enabler to supporting sustainability science.<sup>8</sup> As sustainability moves up the agenda, skills in both interdisciplinarity and systems thinking will be crucial to effectively address the interlinked crises of climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental pollution in a just way. To achieve this, systems literacy skills will not only be needed among environmental scientists, but across all disciplines, decision makers and the public. Due to environmental scientists' existing expertise in spanning the boundaries between disciplines, they will need to support the dissemination of interdisciplinary and systems thinking skills by acting as agents of change in society. This will require strong enabling skills alongside existing technical skills.

## The importance of competency

Given the complex skills mix needed in the environmental workforce to support solutions-led science founded on principles of sustainability, competency frameworks, such as the UNESCO Competency Framework<sup>9</sup> and Chartered Environmentalist,<sup>10</sup> are needed to support targeted professional development. Competency frameworks and associated registrations, as well as underpinning ethical frameworks, provide quality assurance of those leading environmental work and feeding into key decisions. This is imperative to support the development of an environmental workforce with the right skills and attributes to drive change, as competencies go beyond assessing knowledge, to ensure that professionals have the necessary skills, experiences,



abilities and behaviours to use their knowledge effectively in the real-world. To counter the risk of skills 'tick-boxing', principles of continuous learning should be embedded throughout professional practice, aligned with competencies.

Competency frameworks should be reviewed and updated periodically to make sure they reflect the skills needed in a changing world and do not remain static or outdated. Competency frameworks across disciplines should embed sustainability and interdisciplinary principles; this should not be siloed in environmental work alone.

In a world where engagement across the policy, public and scientific worlds are needed more than ever, professional registrations can be an effective tool to build trust and counter bad practices. This cannot be one-sided, however; competencies and skills within stakeholders will also need to be developed to realise change. Skills audits should be conducted across disciplines and stakeholders to identify gaps in skills and knowledge, target provision and inform sectoral transition roadmaps.

#### Environmental scientists of the future

The environmental workforce is well-equipped to support the transition to a sustainable society given its focus on real-world problems and interdisciplinary science. However, to fully realise the role of environmental scientists as agents of change, education and upskilling must complement strong environmental knowledge and technical skills with a suite of digital, systems thinking and enabling skills. These skills should be underpinned by structures to support targeted professional development and recognition to support environmental scientists in reaching their full potential as architects of the future.

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for skills is one where:

• The environment sector develops training to support environmental scientists as agents of change, providing enabling skills, technical skills, digital skills, and systems thinking. Competency frameworks are reviewed and updated to reflect the skills mix needed in the sector.

- The environment sector develops new technical pathways to fulfil skills needs, such as apprenticeship schemes focused on carbon management and climate adaptation. Learning providers complement the development of technical knowledge with more opportunities to apply knowledge to real-world problems, supporting a shift in focus to solutionsled science.
- Professional bodies and learning providers develop comprehensive, industry-recognised training and guidance on carbon management, accounting, and reporting to support upskilling and the emergence of best practice. This training includes opportunities to develop skills and knowledge on practical measures to reduce emissions, as well as how to measure risk and build resilience through adaptation.
- Governments support skills audits of the professions and wider stakeholders to inform the development of skills strategies which support sectoral transition pathways aligned with a sustainable future.

# Enabler or inhibitor? Technological development and the environmental sciences

How can technology support environmental scientists? What are the impacts of technological development on working practices? What are the opportunities and risks of technological development?

Technological development and increased digitisation are key megatrends affecting all areas of society and science.<sup>1</sup> The accelerating speed of technological development, particularly in the areas of machine learning, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and remote sensing is having profound implications on the ways of working of environmental scientists and the ability to monitor, analyse and model environmental systems. Advancements in these areas are proving disruptive to the environmental scientists and society, changing the ways environmental scientists and society at large understand, manage, and interact with our environment.<sup>2</sup>

Technology and the environment have a complicated past. They are often considered as the antithesis of each other, with technological development being driven by humanity's need and desire to control or supersede aspects of the environment.<sup>2</sup> Technological development was at the heart of the Industrial Revolution, with climate change driven by anthropogenic activity a direct result of our technological innovation during this time.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, technological development has resulted in the production of a multitude of novel chemical and biological products which have resulted in adverse environmental impacts.<sup>4</sup>

Despite technology's chequered impact on the environment, it will play a fundamental role in supporting our transition to a sustainable society and will continue to be a shaping force in the future of environmental work.

#### Understanding our environment

Environmental scientists are now able to monitor, record, analyse and model our environment at an unprecedented level. Technological innovation has led to the development of several technologies that support these functions, including earth observation techniques such as Geographic Information Systems (GIS), remote sensors, analytics platforms, and cloud technologies, which can record and analyse environmental data in real-time at increasing granularity and hyperlocality when used in combination with advancements in data science.<sup>5</sup> This in turn supports environmental scientists in making predictions about aspects of the environment and informs time-critical decision making related to environmental conditions.<sup>6</sup> Rapidly detecting changes in our environment is a useful tool for managing environmental risks and developing early warning systems, pinpointing issues in environmental systems, tracing sources of pollution and predicting changes to the environment based on different factors. It is also an important tool for accountability in the environmental space, allowing us to record adherence to government policies and legislation, and provide opportunities for more fully understanding our impacts on the environment.<sup>7</sup>

The emergence of digital twin technology provides environmental scientists with an opportunity to model and simulate environments under different conditions, supporting systems-led approaches and reducing the risk of novel interventions due to the ability to test them first for likely effects.<sup>8</sup>

Being able to observe and understand more of our world, along with the technological capability to bring numerous observations together to inform decision-making, will continue to play a significant role in the future work of environmental scientists. How we ensure that this technology is used to inform solutionsled science will heavily depend on environmental scientists applying these findings, translating them to decision-makers and using them to change course when needed.

## The rise of green technology

Technology is often lauded as our salvation from environmental crises, particularly climate change, with our faith in technological solutions perhaps leading to a level of apathy in our action towards a net zero future. It is widely acknowledged that we have much of the technological capability to meet net zero, but that the changes needed at a societal and economic level are inhibiting progress. Understanding what technology is needed, and how this should be applied, will be an increasingly important role for the environmental professionals of the future.

'Green technology' refers to technology that is designed to mitigate and/or reverse the effects of human activity on the environment . This encompasses a wide range of different technology types, ranging from renewable energy technology to electric vehicles to carbon capture, utilisation and storage to name just a few.

There has been a large increase in the number of technologies described as 'green', but the environmental credentials of these and their potential application to support solutions-based science is not always clear or correct. Understanding the resource

implications of rolling out new technologies, their embodied carbon and their ability to fit within a circular economy are all important aspects of considering how — and if — different technologies should be used.

Technology alone is not a panacea for environmental crises, but instead should be used as a tool to support our transition to a sustainable society which embraces the environment. Technologies that enhance the environment should be prioritised, with a focus on technologies to support green infrastructure and nature-based solutions where possible. Technologies that treat the symptom instead of preventing the disease should be used as a last resort, prioritising technology that treats issues at their root and can lead to multiple long-term benefits.

This highlights the need for targeted investment focused on environment-enhancing technologies and the optimisation of existing technologies and supportive infrastructure, such as grid connectivity and storage systems, as opposed to sinking investments into novel technologies that will take too long to pay environmental dividends or which are highly resource-intensive and incompatible with a circular economy.

## Working in the field (or in the cloud)

Technological development has had profound impacts on the working practices in the sector, some of which were accelerated by the Covid-19 pandemic. Day-to-day jobs of environmental scientists vary greatly across specialisms, but hybrid and remote working are newer aspects that are shifting the working landscape further.

Fieldwork will always be a key factor of environmental work, but there are also increased uses of remote survey techniques, such as using GIS and Unmanned Ariel Vehicles (UAVs), to carry out tasks that previously had to be done onsite. This means that many environmental professionals now must manage a trichotomy of working practices — online, onsite and office — as well as the interface between these working environments.

Each way of working requires different skills and knowledge and the ability to switch between them as needed. Managing outputs from hybrid approaches is also changing the way work is done; technological advancements lead to the ability to access data sets from a number of different sources and at higher volumes than ever before. This can shift the focus of working practices away from data collection and towards data analysis, with associated implications for working practices and the skills needed.

These changes to working practices may lead to a disconnect between the perception of an environmental science career and what the day-to-day job looks like. Some may enter the sector hoping for a hands-on working environment out in the field, but this is likely to be only part of the work of future environmental scientists. Managing and collaborating via digital workspaces will also be a key constituent of environmental work and the expectations and skills around this will need to be fostered accordingly.

For graduates and new entrants into the sector, hybrid working can present a number of challenges. A less consistent approach to

onsite and office working can change the process of professional development – learning through osmosis from colleagues in the office environment has previously played a key role in supporting the development of enabling skills, such as communication, management and leadership. Hybrid working is leading to more people turning to online training and 1:1 meetings for professional development opportunities. Though this is likely to work for some, it might be more challenging for others. Organisations will need to manage these challenges through varied and flexible approaches to ensure that their skills needs are met and to retain employees. One crucial consideration is that increased remote working availability can lead to a more inclusive working environment – which is important given the diversity issues currently faced by the sector.<sup>9</sup>

The rise in remote and hybrid working is also leading organisations to consider further how they can instil a sense of organisational culture and socialisation between team members. This can be challenging, but perhaps presents an opportunity to learn from young people in the sector, many of whom would have grown up being part of online communities. It can also support organisational alignment with the ethics and values of young professionals, by providing opportunities for greater flexibility and work-life balance, both shown to be increasingly important for entrants to the workforce.<sup>10</sup>

The rise of digital workspaces such as digital Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)<sup>11</sup> could facilitate greater collaboration across disciplines and organisations. Digital EIA workspaces allow specialists from across the EIA process to work collaboratively and remotely in real-time, facilitating engagement with key stakeholders through digital environmental statements. Augmented reality can also be used in the planning and development space to connect with key stakeholders in project development.

Robotic and autonomous systems have the potential to support environmental science through their ability to replace human activity which is high risk or repetitive, support research and innovation, and improve accessibility to hard-to-reach areas for surveying.<sup>12</sup> Biotechnologies, novel materials and 3D printing will provide opportunities for new applications to support the restoration of ecosystems<sup>13</sup> and production methods that support circular economy ambitions.<sup>14</sup>

Artificial Intelligence (AI) is high in the public zeitgeist, with open access applications leading to questions about how it will influence society and the world of work. Although AI applications are increasing in the environment sector,<sup>15</sup> many of these are still in their infancy and it remains unclear how AI may affect working practices in the future. Trends in current AI technology development indicate that it could play a key role in future environmental data analysis and modelling. For environmental scientists this would mean that less time would be spent performing these functions themselves, with a focus instead on identifying the best use of AI technologies, writing appropriate command code and interpreting AI outputs. Moreover, as AI technologies develop and their use expands, environmental scientists will need to play a role in demystifying the use of AI and offering assurances on the validity of AI analysis

IES **►** REPORT Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

through complementary real-world monitoring. It's important to recognise that AI will be unable to take the role of environmental scientists in demystifying complex concepts, interpreting the values of nature, and translating evidence into forms which support evidence-based interventions and decision making. AI will likely play a role in making some of the mundane aspects of environmental work more procedural, leaving more time for environmental scientists to face the bigger question of how we use science and evidence to transition to a world which fully embraces and enhances the environment

#### **Engaging with the environment**

Given the scale of societal change needed to realign our relationship with the environment, providing opportunities for stakeholders — such as decision-makers and the public — to connect and engage with the environment is of paramount importance. Behavioural change and increased consciousness of our environment can be facilitated through technology by communicating information in new ways and providing opportunities for active engagement. Technology can also improve the accessibility of stakeholder engagement options by providing the option to engage with environmental science from home.

## "...technological development is redefining and expanding the way that citizen scientists can feed into scientific research..."

Technologies are facilitating stakeholder engagement on multiple levels, such as through digital workspaces, augmented reality, and novel data visualisations with adjustable parameters.<sup>16</sup> This can support interdisciplinary working by providing digital spaces for collaboration and developing novel ways of communicating science and evidence dependent on audience needs and interests. Visualisation can be an effective tool for bridging gaps between disciplines and translating complex scientific evidence into more digestible formats. It is important that this is done in a way that does not lead to the oversimplification of complex environmental information.

The availability of low-cost technologies, such as low-cost sensors, are facilitating citizen scientists to engage further with our environment and contribute data at local levels, which feed into nation-wide and, in some cases, international projects.<sup>17</sup> Citizen scientists are at the interface of science and the public, and technological development is redefining and expanding the way that citizen scientists can feed into scientific research and engage with scientists and each other. Digital platforms allow remote training for citizen scientists and the ability to submit data in real time, as well as the ability to connect with other citizen scientists and build online communities.

Technology and digital spaces can therefore provide rich opportunities for building connections with the natural world

for those from all backgrounds, paving the way for collaboration and knowledge sharing in innovative and creative ways.

## System error – technological risk

Technological development does not come without risk, and as the use of technology in all sectors continues to grow it is important to ensure that there is a careful consideration of risks and that these are mitigated effectively to ensure resilience in our systems.

Technological systems are vulnerable to human risk, in the form of both human error and malicious intent, such as through hacking and novel and dangerous deployments. Moreover, single points of failure and cascading risks are inherent to overreliance on technological systems. In cases where system failure occurs due to single points of failure, it can be unclear how to deal with the issue, especially as technological set-ups get increasingly complex and sophisticated. Overreliance on technological systems also has implications for public infrastructure, such as energy grids, and must be used in a way that does not overburden existing and new infrastructure, particularly in the move to a renewable energy system based on electrification.<sup>18</sup> Building resilient systems should therefore be a priority from the outset to protect against risks and ensure that technology remains an enabler, rather than a barrier, to professional scientific endeavour.

One key example is the rapid emergence and reliance on new remote sensing technologies. Complex real-time monitoring systems can be vulnerable to single points of failures which can have cascading impacts throughout the system, reducing the resilience of systems and thus their reliability. This is particularly pertinent when linked to early warning systems related to extreme weather events and observation networks which depend on consistent data gathering.<sup>19</sup>

The growth in technology related to the environment, such as low-cost air quality sensors, also raises issues related to whether they are scientifically robust and are deployed correctly, especially in the case of non-specialists. This results in limitations to the data collected by them and causes quality control issues – all of which must be accounted for when using the data for decision-making and evidence-based interventions. Environmental scientists need to rapidly respond to advancements in technologies and ensure they are upskilled in deploying appropriate technologies, understanding their outputs and their limitations, and practicing reactive agility to manage risks and maximise benefits of technological use. Supporting scientific literacy across other non-specialist stakeholders, such as citizen scientists, will also be important given this issue to ensure understanding of the correct use, and limitations, of certain technologies and resultant datasets.

The environmental impacts of new technology can also not be ignored, both in terms of resource consumption, embodied carbon and associated pollution. Many green technologies rely on transition-critical minerals which can be resource-intensive to produce and rely on extractivist methods that can be deeply


damaging to ecosystems.<sup>20</sup> For example, increased demand for heavy metals needed for technology like electric vehicles can result in harmful deep-sea mining practices. This not only damages ecosystems, leading to degraded habitats and biodiversity loss, but can lead to contamination issues over larger areas.<sup>21</sup> Technologies which depend on rare materials and finite resources must be made in a way that is compatible with realising the circular economy, to ensure that new resource extraction is limited, along with the associated damage to the environment.

Technological development has also led to the emergence of novel contaminants, such as PFAS and nanomaterials, which are spreading rapidly throughout the globe in our land, water and air. Some of the impacts of these are still uncertain, but evidence is emerging which indicates associated risks to ecosystem and human health.<sup>22</sup> Environmental scientists of the future are likely to play an increasing role in understanding how these contaminants are impacting our world and managing and remediating novel contaminants, as well as championing the precautionary principle in their use to help mitigate environmental and health risks. Dealing with emerging contaminants is likely to have implications for how we manage waste and deal with contamination in our land and freshwater systems.

In some cases, technology and digital systems will require high initial investment and maintenance costs which has implications for the accessibility of technologies, especially in lower income countries. The accessibility of technological solutions should therefore be a consideration to ensure the benefits are wrought by society as a whole, as opposed to limited benefit to specific commercial enterprises. Where technological solutions are adopted to address climate change and its impacts, it will be especially important to ensure that these are shared globally, to fully safeguard against the loss and damage associated with past technological developments.

#### Harnessing the power of technology

Technology will be a fundamental part of future working practices for environmental scientists and of supporting our transition to a sustainable society. However, we must not become complacent and think that technological innovation holds the key to dealing with all of our environmental crises.

Technology can be a tool to support action but must be pursued in tandem with transformative change at economic and social levels. The expertise of environmental scientists should remain central to our transition to a sustainable a society, with technology acting as an enabler rather than a 'silver bullet' solution. Cuttingedge technologies, such as AI and machine learning, should be used to support environmental scientists in the development of more effective solutions to complex environmental challenges, providing insights into the uncertainty, intricate interactions among multiple variables, and highly nonlinear processes that exist in the environment.

The risks and uncertainties surrounding technology should be acknowledged and managed to ensure resilience of our systems and the decreased likelihood of unintended consequences. How technology is leveraged in the environment sector should be subject to careful consideration, with a thought for how technology is regulated and quality assured to ensure its validity for supporting evidence-based decision making or its application to environmental issues.

We must also continue to adapt to an increasingly digital workspace and embrace the opportunities that lie within for increasing diversity, accessibility and engagement in the environmental sciences.

## IES **PREPORT** Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for technology is one where:

- Environmental scientists play a central role in the transition to a sustainable society and the development of evidencebased solutions, enabled by technology. Scientific expertise ensures that appropriate technologies are applied to support understanding, analysis, modelling and prediction.
- The environment sector uses technology to inform systems approaches to challenges, particularly by combining datasets and parameters, modelling environmental systems, and facilitating interdisciplinary collaboration.
- Governments and funding organisations focus investment on proven technologies which support the transition, rather than sinking investment in uncertain technologies or those that will take too long to develop to make contributions to addressing environmental challenges.
- Governments assess technology and digital systems for risk to support resilience and reduce the likelihood of 'single points of failure' or 'cascading risks'. Regulation focuses on reactive agility to maximise the benefits and reduce the risks of technological development.
- Environmental scientists use technology to facilitate increased engagement with decision makers and the public through innovative and creative approaches to evidence-informed decision making, behavioural change, and accessibility.
- The environment sector assures the quality of new environmental technologies to ensure the validity of data captured and the appropriateness of applying technology to environmental science.

## Transforming the data landscape to transform the environment

How are novel developments in data shaping environmental science? What are the challenges associated with 'big data'? How can data shape our decisions as we work towards environmental improvement?

Data is the cornerstone of environmental science. It provides us with the ability to observe the world around us, measure trends, and understand our impacts. It is a fundamental part of solutionsled science, giving us the tools to quantify the impact of our activities and use this to inform future evidence-based action.

Over the last few decades, the data landscape has shifted significantly, with a substantial increase in our ability to collect and curate data. This has revolutionised the amount, quality, connectivity and granularity of the data we collect. Technological innovation has allowed us to collect data at the hyperlocal to global scales, leading to vast datasets collected through diverse means – from hand-sampling to remote sensing to global observation systems. In turn, new technologies and statistical software utilising machine learning Artificial Intelligence (AI) allow us to analyse data at a scale previously impossible.

Data is critical to securing funding for environmental work and advocating for environmental action. Robust data and evidence are needed for effective engagement with government and industry, whether on supporting the roll-out of environmental schemes or in proving efficacy in dealing with environmental issues. In areas where best practice is still emerging, such as for the application of certain nature-based solutions, the collection of data and evidence is particularly important. Without sufficient data and evidence, securing funding for new nature-based solutions can be very challenging, leading to stasis on the ground.

#### Data for decision making

Within the environmental and regulatory landscape there are a number of international and national targets and goals, including international frameworks like the Global Biodiversity Framework,<sup>1</sup> as well as national legislation and policy like the Environment Act<sup>2</sup> and Environmental Improvement Plan for England,<sup>3</sup> which includes legally binding domestic targets.

Increasing the evidence-base for environmental science is a fundamental requirement for quantifying and mitigating the impact of human activity and supporting national and local policy development. Real-time environmental data can provide evidence on the success of interventions at the hyperlocal, local and national levels.

Data and evidence also play an important role in accountability and ensuring that stakeholders are meeting their requirements, targets or pledges.<sup>4</sup> Increasingly sophisticated data collection can also pinpoint harmful practices and hold perpetrators accountable, helping to trace environmental incidents and sources of pollution.<sup>5</sup> This can play an important role in supporting the 'polluter pays' principle in environmental regulation.

Data can act as a conduit for information transfer, providing a common language for specialists and non-specialists. It is therefore essential that data continues to be a driving force in the development of environmental decision-making in the future and that we fully realise the potential of our growing data capabilities to support environmental improvement, rather than limiting environmental harm.

## The role of data in monitoring environmental improvement

Current environmental goals and targets will never materialise into environmental improvement in the future, unless we can measure progress towards them and scale up or adapt approaches in response to findings. If we continue with 'business as usual' whereby we focus our data insights on informing target setting, rather than target delivery, we will not achieve the environmental improvement needed.

Monitoring methodologies and data collection must therefore be an integral part of environmental projects, to report and monitor progress towards environmental goals, review the effectiveness of policy interventions, and allow for continuous improvement.<sup>6</sup>

For longer term commitments, such as Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) requirements, monitoring will be essential to determine if the BNG increase has been maintained over the required 30-year timeframe and will provide invaluable insights on the efficacy of different mitigation methods. This also has important implications for measuring compliance and dealing with enforcement of policies, as it raises the question of how to deal with projects which do not meet this legislation. This puts a spotlight on the skills needs in local authorities and other delivery organisations which will need the capability and capacity for interpreting datasets to ensure planning and related activities are aligned with policy requirements.

Assessing progress towards long-term environmental improvement will need to go beyond purely monitoring data. Integrated assessment approaches will be needed to address effectiveness of interventions on complex, systemic environmental issues. This will require a combination of different data and information sources including monitoring data, environmental accounts, practice-based knowledge, and stakeholder perspectives. This will also support a move towards more interdisciplinary science by combining insights across disciplines. Analysis of retrospective data should be combined with modelling and predictive data capabilities to measure progress towards environmental goals and inform decision making to ensure a scientific approach based on the objective of continuous improvement.

#### The rise of infrastructure-level data

The rise of novel data sources has allowed for the development of complex, interlinked systems of data collection. These go beyond more traditional project-level data to infrastructurelevel data, which combines outputs from a variety of sources to provide data at larger spatial and temporal scales. An example of this type of system is the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS),<sup>7</sup> a permanent global system for observations, modelling, and analysis of marine and ocean data. The use of infrastructurelevel data in environmental science will likely continue to increase significantly, with a key role of environmental scientists of the future being able to effectively utilise this data for a variety of projects.

The benefits of this type of data are that it provides a sustained source of information to not only help us better understand aspects of the environment, but also to build robust evidence for environmental trends, and, subsequently, allow us to better predict changes to our environment. This is an important part of ensuring we are on track to meet environmental ambitions or signal the need for a change in course.

It will also be a key component of supporting systems-led approaches to science. Data at the infrastructure-level provides a much greater ability to understand the complex, interlinked systems that comprise our environment. Siloed, project-level data is much less equipped to support systems approaches as data collection is narrow in focus and often not able to provide the duration of data collection needed for understanding longerterm issues. Infrastructure-level data does have some challenges for its implementation and use.<sup>8</sup> It often has high capital and maintenance costs and requires resources in capacity-building for those installing and using these data systems. Using existing infrastructure to feed into data systems is one way of decreasing the high initial costs of implementation and instead would just incur marginal costs of building capacity and capability to use in this way. Where infrastructure-level data systems traverse national borders, it will also require international treaties to support its expansion. This can be a major benefit of infrastructure-level data as it provides an opportunity for international collaboration and alignment with international environmental governance systems and targets. This is critical to addressing complex environmental crises.

Despite the rise in infrastructure-level data, funding systems are still heavily skewed towards project-level data, with funding often not available for longer-term, large-scale projects. Transforming our practice around data collection and adapting our funding models for science and research will be key to fully capturing the value that this type of data system can provide. This would also create a shift away from project-level proprietary data in the sector to open source, infrastructure-level data that can support increased capability across research communities. This infrastructure-level data should be developed following a public good model, which supports the rise of open-source data.

## Improving the accessibility, interoperability and transparency of data

There is already a vast quantity of data available on the environment around us. However, a large amount of this is proprietary, locked behind paywalls, or hidden in different areas of the internet. To ensure that we are not just collecting data, but actually translating its findings into learning and action, an increase in the amount of open data will be essential for unlocking the value of large datasets. Open data is incredibly



important for supporting systemic change and allows for the same dataset to be put to myriad uses, providing a much more efficient and equitable system.

Data should be managed in a centralised database to maximise accessibility. To make the most of the data available, we also need to ensure that is interoperable so that it can be used across systems for a multitude of stakeholders and applications. Application Programme Interfaces (APIs) should also be developed to support data analysis and visualisation across the sector.

To support the establishment of centralised databases, it is vital that open data standards are developed. This will support stakeholders in collecting, publishing, accessing and sharing data that is of better quality and aligned with an agreed 'common language' for data. This is also a useful tool for sharing data across disciplines, where there may be different norms around dataset formats — essential for supporting interdisciplinary science. One of our immediate goals should be to move towards coherence and standardisation of environmental data to ensure validity and consistency of data, and to improve transparency.

Transforming data into actionable information requires powerful visualisation techniques which can highlight insights, such as trends, anomalies and statistically significant findings into easily digestible information for a variety of stakeholders. Decision makers need data to inform evidence-based policy, often in fields in which they are not specialists. This means that data needs to be presented in a robust but understandable format. Data can also be a powerful tool for engaging with the public, helping to cut through scientific jargon to deliver targeted messages that can support awareness-raising and behavioural change. Data visualisations should be used to their full potential in these areas, whilst ensuring that insights are not oversimplified or misinterpreted.

#### The power of the public - citizen scientists

Technological innovation has also enabled extensive growth in the number of citizen scientists mobilising to collect environmental data, from measuring soil health<sup>9</sup> to water quality<sup>10</sup> to wildlife sightings.<sup>11</sup>

Declining government investment in environmental protection is leading to a lack of evidence around aspects of the environment.<sup>12</sup> There is a need to supplement sparse datasets with new information to support targeted action and measure effectiveness of policies and interventions. Citizen science data can be combined with other data sources, such as remote sensor data and infrastructure-level data, to support powerful insights in environmental science.

This can be a useful tool for filling data gaps in national datasets, as well as empowering and building environmental citizenship among members of the public through 'hands-on' experience of environmental work. Increasing public connection with the environment supports other important pathways to improving the impact of environmental work, supporting behavioural change and community-led action. Citizen science can democratise the process of evidence gathering and gather new insights into different individual and cultural approaches to evidence gathering and analysis.

The rise of citizen science data does not come without challenges. There are many schemes nationwide , with great diversity in how they are implemented and managed, and varying levels of quality assurance protocols. Although citizen science data can lead to locally rich pictures of environmental status, the data landscape as a whole is fragmented due to the range in quality of citizen science projects and the resulting data.

This has a number of important implications for environmental scientists. Working with citizen scientists requires several important skills especially soft skills related to science communication and public engagement. This highlights the importance of having environmental scientists with inter and trans disciplinary working skills who can span boundaries and act as knowledge brokers. For those using citizen science datasets there are also questions around ensuring the quality and validity of data, requiring a good understanding of the uncertainties and limitations of datasets, as well as how they can be quality assured and cleaned so that they are robust enough for use in scientific study.

In order to maximise the vast potential benefits of the work of citizen scientists in the future, it is important to put in place a national standardised framework for citizen science projects which can support the development of schemes that meet the scientific rigour needed to support evidence-based change.<sup>13</sup> Key success factors for establishing a more robust network of citizen science projects will be the development of data platforms, data integration tools, and training packages, as well as rolling them out in a cost-effective manner to those coordinating projects.

## Unlocking the value of data through skills, communication, and quality assurance

The rise in data collection is helping us to fill data gaps and can support us in assessing the effectiveness of policy decisions and mitigations, providing early warnings of change and removing the subjectivity surrounding enforcement decisions. Data developments have had profound implications on the work of environmental scientists. Skills in handling and analysing big datasets, managing diverse datasets, modelling, and data collection techniques are important to effectively leverage the opportunities that data brings.

These skills will be important tools in the arsenal of environmental scientists of the future. Although not all will need to be experts in conducting data analysis, there will be an overarching need for environmental scientists to understand how data can be used for insights, the best data analytics tools to use, and, importantly,

to understand the outputs from data analytics software to inform action. Translating data analysis to different audiences and combining findings from multiple datasets will also be key skill requirements for many environmental scientists. This includes understanding the uncertainties and limitations inherent in datasets and being able to communicate them effectively. These types of skills should be fostered through higher education and technical pathways into the environmental sciences, as well as dedicated CPD programmes.

#### "Unlocking the value of data will be an important part of the mission of future environmental scientists."

As the number of different ways of collecting data increases, issues arise for assessing the quality of data. The accuracy and precision of sensors and monitoring equipment can be variable and should be considered as an uncertainty and a limitation to the datasets collected through these types of instruments. Ensuring data is cleaned and checked for accuracy is an area where machine learning and AI are likely to provide support by identifying potentially erroneous data points and flagging these to the user.

Unlocking the value of data will be an important part of the mission of future environmental scientists. These insights will be vital to enabling evidence-informed decision making, designing interventions to support the restoration and conservation of our ecosystems, and supporting our transition to a society in harmony with our environment.

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for data is one where:

- Environmental scientists measure progress towards environmental targets using 'integrated assessment approaches' which utilise a combination of data sources and take account of the systemic nature of environmental issues. Findings from assessments are used to form evidence bases on the effectiveness of interventions.
- Governments establish centralised environmental datasets, rolling out standards to support interoperability and quality assurance, supporting evidence-informed decisions and policy delivery.
- Governments develop 'infrastructure-level' data systems under a public goods model, facilitated through international agreements and frameworks where needed. Research funders support these systems by adapting funding models and project timelines.
- The environment sector develops a national standardised framework for citizen science projects to support standards for how projects are delivered and managed, providing guality assurance for data collection.

The environment sector prioritises digital skills development in data analysis, visualisation, interpretation, and communication, supporting data as a tool for evidenceinformed decision making.

## Delivering a just transition: The importance of equity, diversity and inclusion in the environmental sciences

Global challenges require global solutions. The complex, interconnected issues of biodiversity loss, pollution and climate change will continue to be the key focus of future environmental work and will require unprecedented collaboration, coordination and cooperation. Fundamental to tackling these issues and creating a truly sustainable future aligned with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) is the ability to deliver environmental work that transcends governments, cultures and disciplines and delivers for both people and nature.

The concept of environmental justice is integral to this. Environmental justice is often defined as *the fair treatment and meaningful engagement of all people regardless of race, colour, national origin, or income, with respect to the development, implementation and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations, and policies.*<sup>1</sup> However, environmental justice should go beyond environmental policy, to also recognise the disproportionate impact of environmental crises on marginalised communities and should therefore also cover equitable exposure to environmental good and harm.<sup>2</sup> Examples of environmental justice issues are wide ranging, from low-income communities facing poor air quality in the UK<sup>3</sup> to the impacts of climate change disproportionately affecting marginalised communities in the global south.<sup>4</sup>

Developing a future for the environmental sciences that is built on principles of environmental justice will require targeted intervention to increase the inclusivity of the sector to enable and inspire people from diverse backgrounds to pursue and maintain a career in environmental science. The sector will also need to ensure that it is porous to new ideas and ways of working from other disciplines; the social sciences will be a key ally in transitioning to an environmental workforce that is representative of the society that it serves.

#### Justice at the core

There is no such thing as a purely environmental initiative. This means that environmental justice principles need to be embedded throughout the environmental sciences, with multicultural participation in environmental policy and practice playing a key role. Environmental justice started as a social movement in the mid-20th Century and is therefore rooted in social activism.<sup>5</sup> To ensure that the environmental science of the future is underpinned by justice, interdisciplinary working and links with the social sciences will be key success factors. Systems thinking approaches must take account of social context, and environmental scientists must be equipped with the skills needed to understand these social systems.

Managing the relationship between science and activism will continue to be an important dimension of the environment sector. Effectively navigating the interface between science, policy and the public will be an important part of this to ensure that environmental activism and environmental science can be complementary approaches to ensuring better environmental decision-making. Science can empower society to engage with contentious issues and can be a tool for driving change. To capitalise on the synergies of science and activism, it is essential that scientists continue to work with robust evidence, but that we embrace openness, transparency, and collaboration to support change. This in turn will be a vital part of creating broad and diverse connections and improving inclusivity in environmental science.



The good news is that we are not at 'square one'. There is widespread understanding of the need for improved Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (ED&I) in environmental science and the rhetoric for environmental justice and inclusivity is there. There are also numerous examples of organisations and policy looking to address barriers to inclusion.<sup>6,7,8</sup> However, it is essential that we move beyond rhetoric to develop systemic solutions that support tangible change in the sector through targeted initiatives and a better understanding of what works. Siloed, small-scale initiatives will not be effective in dismantling the structural barriers to improved inclusivity in the sector. Change is therefore needed at multiple levels concurrently. We must inspire people from diverse backgrounds to engage with environmental science, enable them to pursue careers in the sector and nurture those already in the sector to support them in reaching leadership positions.

We must also consider all dimensions of inclusivity, including protected characteristics such as ethnicity, gender, disability, neurodiversity, sexuality and socio-economic background, and the intersectionality of these. Through concerted and targeted action barriers can start to be dismantled and a stronger environmental profession can be built for the benefit of everyone.

#### Equity, Diversity and Inclusion – A nonnegotiable

Foundational to achieving environmental justice is the inclusion of diverse voices and expertise in environmental science, the environmental professions and in environmental decision-making. ED&I initiatives are therefore at the heart of delivering a just transition.

Currently, the environment sector is one of the least ethnically diverse sectors in the UK.<sup>9</sup> Other aspects of diversity also face challenges, such as the inclusion of disabled people and those from low socioeconomic backgrounds. The only way to build a sector that delivers for people and nature is to build one which is diverse. Science alone cannot solve environmental challenges. The translation of science into practical applications and decisionmaking is what creates change. For transformative change, science must inform, and be done in tandem with behavioural and political change. Effective behavioural change will not be realised in a sector that is not inclusive or representative of society. It is therefore not only a moral and ethical imperative to support ED&I, but also a pragmatic one.

The realisation of net zero targets is also dependent upon a growing environmental workforce and the widespread growth of green skills in the economy. To meet this demand, the sector needs to inspire more people from all segments of society to pursue environmental careers. Moreover, a number of environmental specialisms are struggling with resourcing and recruitment issues,<sup>10</sup> underlining the need to attract and retain a wider pool of talent.

A key starting point to improve ED&I in the sector is supporting multicultural participation in environmental science and

demonstrating that the environment sector is relevant and welcoming to people from all backgrounds. This will require identifying and understanding barriers to ED&I in the sector, and cocreating solutions to support greater diversity.

#### Diverse routes support diverse voices

Perceptions and knowledge of the sector can be a barrier to diversity. Showcasing the breadth of careers in the sector, the relevance of these careers to people from diverse backgrounds and their lives, and highlighting role models to create a sense of belonging are all important aspects of ED&I initiatives. This must start from a young age, with people from all backgrounds having a good understanding of the environment, the ecosystem services that it provides, and the careers that exist to support it. It is therefore vital that different career pathways into the environment sector are promoted, such as technical pathways and apprenticeships, to showcase the breadth of career types within the sector and challenge perceptions of what makes an environmental scientist.

Making traditional routes, such as Higher and Further Education, in the sector more inclusive will not be enough to tackle the issue of diversity in the sector. These routes have a number of in-built structural barriers that inhibit diversity.<sup>11</sup> Therefore, it is important that as we work to break down these barriers, we also develop new routes into the sector. Technical pathways and apprenticeships will be a key component of this, as will paid internships, ringfenced opportunities for those from diverse backgrounds, sponsoring diverse talent, and creating networks to foster a sense of community.<sup>5,12,13</sup>

As working practices change in response to global megatrends, it is important that we keep ED&I at the forefront to ensure that changes to working practices do not pose a barrier to inclusion and that practices that support greater diversity, such as the emergence of flexible working, are supported. ED&I initiatives must also extend beyond recruitment into the sector and support working practices within roles. For example, a key challenge in the environment sector can be working practices on site. Organisations should ensure that processes and frameworks are in place to support inclusive working environments across the sector for those from diverse backgrounds. A number of initiatives of this type are already in place and the learnings from these should be disseminated to support change.<sup>14</sup>

Action is needed at multiple levels to support ED&I,<sup>5</sup> including:

- Inspiring younger generations through outreach and "inreach" through community champions<sup>15</sup>
- Ensuring working environments are inclusive to all
- Creating entry routes into the sector aligned with different educational backgrounds and increasing the visibility of employment opportunities

IES **PREPORT** Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

- Ensuring ED&I is embedded into recruitment practices at all levels and creating and investing in scholarships, bursaries and internship opportunities that are ringfenced for people from underrepresented backgrounds
- Retaining talent in environmental science research through ringfenced opportunities for people from underrepresented backgrounds
- Supporting those from underrepresented backgrounds in the sector into leadership positions
- Cocreating solutions and championing diverse voices when we communicate with decision makers
- Exploring the impact of intersectionality or people's experiences in the workplace through further research

#### **Moving beyond ED&I**

As we progress with ED&I in the environment sector and work to break down structural barriers, it is important to remember that achieving ED&I goals should be the minimum of what we achieve in this space.

In the multicultural world we live and work in, it is worth reminding ourselves that even ED&I has been developed in the context of historic and modern colonialism. Moving beyond ED&I, we should rethink inclusion so that it is instead based around cross-cultural integration, benefiting from the strengths and knowledge of all parties involved. This can bring up some difficult, philosophical differences, such as the alienation between science and spiritualism, but would allow for truly equitable relationships where power is shared, and solutions are co-created.

#### **Environmental justice and future generations**

Sustainability is defined by our actions not impacting the ability of future generations to meet their needs.<sup>16</sup> Environmental justice, therefore, should not only be framed as an issue affecting society currently, but it is also at the heart of sustainability science. If we continue with business as usual, we will impart innumerable environmental injustices on future generations.

#### "The actions we take today will directly impact our ability to deliver the just transition..."

The future of the environmental sciences therefore cannot be discussed without considering environmental justice. The actions we take today will directly impact our ability to deliver the just transition to a sustainable society and must be the foundation of delivering a vision for the future of environmental science.

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future

they wanted to see for environmental justice and ED&I is one where:

- Environmental scientists embed environmental justice across all projects to make them sustainable. The environment sector recruits a diverse field of environmental scientists who champion environmental justice in their work and co-create solutions with communities.
- The environment sector develops ED&I initiatives at multiple levels, breaking down structural barriers to inclusion, including through increased outreach, modernising recruitment processes, and adopting new working practices. Lessons learned from initiatives are shared widely to support systemic change.
- Environmental scientists use inter- and trans-disciplinary collaboration to drive just approaches to transformative change which champion the voices of underrepresented communities.
- The environment sector and learning providers promote greater diversity of career pathways to support underrepresented communities in pursuing and retaining careers in the environmental sciences.
- The environment sector champions multicultural participation in environmental science and cross-cultural integration and collaboration to support the co-creation of solutions to environmental challenges.

## A broad church for a shared environment: Raising SPIRES to unite science, policy, and the public

How can science be made relevant to the public and useful to policy? What should the science-policy interface of the future look like? How can science bring together an increasingly polarised society?

The natural world has the potential to benefit all people and places, now and in the future. That mutually beneficial relationship is subject to how well different perspectives on the environment are reflected, and the extent of those benefits is subject to how well links are built which capitalise on different sources of knowledge.

In particular, the relationship between science, policy, and the public is crucial for ensuring effective regulation, evidence-led policy, and an empowered public. Despite the importance of this relationship, the interface between science, policy, and the public has 'hollowed out' over time, as interactions have become increasingly transactional, and trust has become strained and polarised.<sup>1</sup>

#### "...science must be available to the public to provide information, identify solutions, and demystify the complexities of natural systems..."

While these challenges persist, there is already significant progress being made in modern science communication to improve the relationship between science, policy, and the public. Those efforts will be fundamental to determining whether the future of environmental science is one where society is estranged from the knowledge and the means to deal with environmental challenges, or one where the public is empowered to pursue transformative change.

#### Science and society: empowering the public

Solutions to environmental challenges are irrelevant until they are legitimised by public opinion. There are inherent subjectivities in the way society responds to the crises facing humanity, so people must have a say in which pathways are pursued.<sup>2</sup> To that end, science must be available to the public to provide information, identify solutions, and demystify the complexities of natural systems so that the public is empowered to make meaningful choices.

Over time, the relationship between science and society has become fragmented and polarised. That estrangement has been caused, in part, by the way that science is portrayed in the media, as well as by the alienation of science from the public due to increasingly complex policy decisions.<sup>3</sup> In step with that polarisation, many benefits of public interaction with science are also being lost, including the ability to reach a consensus on the existence of problems and the solutions which are best placed to address them. Science-informed understandings of both will be necessary to secure effective change.<sup>4,5</sup>

Where once there was a strong social desire to understand the breadth of science, the complexity and expansiveness of scientific inquiry has made such a feat impossible. Instead, the public engages with science on a 'need-to-know' basis, leaving the more technical aspects to policy makers and relying on news and popular media to learn about environmental topics.<sup>6</sup>

With the onset of social media and the 'mediatisation' of news, the latter has weakened the public's interface with science.<sup>7</sup> As the consumption of media takes place in increasingly short bursts, there has been a growing demand for content which is concise, staunchly defending a non-nuanced argument, and simple enough to fit into a tweet or short video. Global politics and the rise of populism have demonstrated the effect of mediatisation on how leadership is viewed, but it also jars with the ways that science works, which is inherently complex.<sup>8</sup>

These trends have not universally lessened trust in science, despite the claims of some politicians that society has "had enough of experts".<sup>9</sup> Instead, public opinion is polarised, with many viewing scientists as some of the most trustworthy figures in society and others viewing science as completely removed from their interests.<sup>10</sup> While the majority of society still trusts science and cares about environmental issues, the ability to form a consensus across society relies on engaging everyone, including those who currently feel disenfranchised by evidence-led policy.<sup>3</sup>

Several solutions are already beginning to emerge, all of which will need to be employed to secure the best vision for the future. Popular science has demonstrated the strong desire of the public to be informed by science, and environmental programmes such as Blue Planet and Wild Isles have been successful in garnering public support for policy action.<sup>11</sup>

David Attenborough's filmography has historically focused on explanation rather than advocacy, but nonetheless drives society to action, suggesting that the lack of scientific information has effectively disempowered people from making choices that they would otherwise make.<sup>12</sup> Popular experts like Sir David are vital resources in building trust with the public in ways that work alongside the human desire to be entertained and the behavioural drivers that have caused challenging trends like mediatisation.<sup>13,14</sup>

While short-term economic value systems have dominated decision making over the last century, they can be co-opted through frameworks like ecosystem services which reiterate the economic importance of nature. <sup>15</sup> Reframing issues like air quality as health concerns rather than purely environmental ones has also been successful, raising the issue on public agendas and framing it as an area of science where expertise remains highly trusted.<sup>16,17</sup>

Participatory approaches like citizen science, forums of empowerment like climate assemblies, and broad networks that bring together other trusted groups can all support engagement.<sup>18</sup> In each of these instances, case study examples of best practice are already producing strong results.<sup>1</sup> To secure the best possible future for the environment, those solutions should be scaled up to bring in groups who are currently still estranged from science.

#### Science and policy: informing decision makers

Much like its relationship with society, science must have a good relationship with policy, governments, and decision makers to effect meaningful change in the world. As the legitimacy of modern environmental science comes from the extent to which it helps society overcome challenges, a priority for the future of environmental science will be to ensure that meaningful relationships are established with decision-makers.<sup>19</sup>

Historically, the relationship between science and policy has been two-way: policy sets strategic priorities for science, provides research funding, and employs or appoints experts within governments; meanwhile, science provides evidence for policy, shapes our knowledge of the world which influences priorities, and educates the public who direct policy makers. However, the relationship has become increasingly linear over time, as science is called upon by policy to answer specific requests for evidence but does not inform the general rationale behind decision making processes.<sup>3</sup>

As a result, modern environmental science often struggles to see the evidence it produces used by policy, especially when there is uncertainty around data, when evidence bases are vast or complex, or when evidence needs to be collated between governmental and non-governmental sources across multiple spatial or temporal scales.<sup>20</sup> At the same time, political megatrends, such as populism and the rising political prominence of authoritarian regimes spurred by an increasingly poly-nodal world, have made scientific evidence a lower priority for many decision makers.<sup>21</sup>

The COVID-19 pandemic caused a period of increased global reliance on scientific evidence, as well as unprecedented visibility of scientists to the public. This pushed back against some of the changes to the science-policy interface, normalising the prominence of science and its role in informing decision making, though the latter remains controversial, particularly given the heavily politicised role of science in the pandemic.<sup>10</sup>

Science and policy interact across multiple organisations and processes, often subconsciously or without deliberate design. These inherent and diffuse relationships will be most important to address as key leverage points with the capacity to transform policy processes and governance systems, while also giving regulation the scientific credibility needed to outlast political cycles and the certainty to create 'level playing fields' for businesses and consumers.<sup>22</sup>



In the face of prolonged uncertainty caused by apathetic and somewhat polarised public opinion on science, the need for a reimagined science-policy interface is urgent. Despite those uncertainties, significant opportunities are available to create a relationship between science, policy, and the public that brings all three together, empowering the public to engage in scientific ideas and policy decisions, ensuring effective decisions through evidence arising from well-targeted environmental science, and legitimising science and policy through public consent.

## Science, research, and practice: coordinating the evidence landscape

Within the scientific community, there are many constituent elements which must be properly aligned to maximise the potential of science to aid policy and serve society. Insights from environmental professionals often do not make their way to researchers, and the findings of research rarely influence practice on the front lines. While best practice is driving links between research, industry, and practice, more can be done to make these approaches consistent and widespread.<sup>23</sup>

Testing research against the experiences of professionals working on the front lines and feeding research into guidance, are crucial for ensuring continuing development of best practice and confirming that theoretical understandings of the interactions between nature and society hold up in practice.<sup>24</sup> Likewise, if research is untargeted or not informed by practical insights, it may lead to less effective use of money, science capital, and time, all of which are limited in the context of pressing environmental challenges.

Industry also has a fundamental role to play in these relationships, particularly given the rising number of green jobs and the vast knowledge and expertise contained within the private sector. Capitalising on networks of professional practice will be vital to informing research and policy, as well as rolling out best practice, so the private sector needs a strong incentive to engage.<sup>25</sup>

Environmental expertise can be quality assured through professional registration, standards of competency like the UNESCO Competency Framework, and Continuing Professional Development (CPD).<sup>26</sup> This quality assurance is often directly influential for an organisation's financial 'bottom line' so can be a strong incentive to drive collaboration.

Environmental scientists, particularly young professionals, are also increasingly motivated by the potential for interdisciplinary collaborations and the sense that they are part of environmentally ethical communities.<sup>27</sup> If global economic conditions cause the labour market to continue growing tighter on average over the next half century, companies that allow their employees to collaborate and network will be more attractive to the best talent.<sup>24,28</sup> Novel technologies and increased flexible working are only likely to facilitate these interactions even further.

The final lever needed to bring together scientific communities of research and practice will be robust and comprehensive skills development, particularly for underutilised skills such as relationship building, storytelling, articulating complexity, understanding policy and economics, and media training. These will all also be fundamental to the capacity of environmental scientists to engage effectively with the public and policy.<sup>29</sup>

## SPIRES: bringing everything and everyone together

The broadest churches have the tallest spires. As environmental science improves its relationships, it should bring more communities into contact with the broad church of interdisciplinary expertise that science can contain.

Managing those diffuse and complex interactions to ensure that the implications of science are useful and relevant to humanity could be facilitated through a "SPIRES" (Society, Policy, Industry, Research, the Environment, and Science) model:

- **Society** must be engaged to legitimise science. The relationship between science and society determines if evidence is meaningfully used and if science is fulfilling its duties to the public. For the relationship to succeed, more than just the most vocal or science-positive voices should be engaged, including those who have been historically excluded, such as indigenous communities.
- **Policy** must be engaged to implement science. The relationship between science and policy determines if society is empowered to make choices based on evidence. For the relationship to succeed, science should be part of the consideration of policy design and implementation.
- Industry must be engaged to leverage science. The relationship between science and industry determines whether the majority of environmental scientists are working towards the goals and interests of society. For the relationship to succeed, interdisciplinary and challenge-led science should be relevant to consumers and businesses, so that best practice is encouraged as widely as possible.
- **Research** must be engaged to drive science. The relationship between science and research determines if there is sufficient evidence to empower the public and inform policy. For the relationship to succeed, research should be guided to address pressing issues emerging from practice, as well as the needs of policymakers and the public.
- **The environment** must be engaged to ethicise science. The relationship between science and the environment determines how scientific evidence can provide benefits for society. For the relationship to succeed, the connection between society and nature should be reimagined, alongside how people value the natural world.

In practice, these relationships are inherent, subconscious, and decentralised, so the focus of environmental science should be on altering the interactions which already exist to improve relationships between parties. Best practice is already emerging. Evidence and monitoring can be embedded into the feedback loop of policy implementation to make regulation more effective and inform the public's appreciation of what works.<sup>20</sup> Research-informed scientific literacies can be spread to increase public understanding of science and policy. Networks and knowledge communities can be developed which unite science, society, and policy to solve environmental challenges.<sup>24</sup>

The challenge for the future will be to make these practices more widespread, bringing together all applications of science at a single point that connects to society: the tip of the SPIRE. Evidence-informed monitoring without public support may be illegitimate. Scientific literacies which do not facilitate solutions may be disempowering. Knowledge networks without access to evidence may be ineffective.<sup>3</sup>

Only combining all three will be sufficient to empower communities to make decisions about the future and to give policy the data it needs to create change.

#### How can we achieve the best possible future?

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for the interface between science, policy, and the public is one where:

- Governments and policy organisations recognise the role of evidence-informed policy design and delivery, embracing the full range of scientific insights, whether or not they are politically convenient.
- Environmental scientists acknowledge the polarisation of public opinion and rebuild trust by increasing skills in public engagement to address 'mediatisation' and scientific literacy for the public.
- Businesses utilise the scientific expertise in their workforce, encouraging collaboration and professional registrations to assure high standards and make work environments more attractive.
- Environmental scientists build stronger links between research, policy, and practice, informing research priorities with professional insights and translating research findings into best practice for professionals.
- Environmental scientists embrace the dual mandate of informing the public to support decisions and create change, and securing a healthy environment which thrives and serves the interests and values of humanity.

## Discovery or solutions: Redefining environmental science for the next generation

How is the definition of environmental science evolving? What is the changing role of environmental science? Are research institutions equipped to deal with emerging issues in environmental science?

Any future for the environment will be determined at its heart by environmental science and the scientists who will deliver that future, both through the evidence and understandings that help people to engage with the environment, as well as the insights that drive environmental solutions.

Science will need to be accessible to a wider section of society than ever before, drawing on a broad coalition of voices and networks to ensure it addresses the inherently subjective questions associated with the application of science, incorporating diverse voices and maximising the potential for interdisciplinary collaboration. This access must be transparent and accountable, ensuring that provisional and emerging evidence is well understood by all stakeholders.

Science is already changing, but the workforce will need to continue changing to bring together society, policy, and evidence to address the immense environmental challenges facing our planet.

#### What is modern environmental science?

Over the last year, the IES's Future of ES23 horizon scanning and foresight project has been seeking to scope and shape the future of the environmental sciences. As well as assessing what the future will look like, and how a more positive future can be created, the IES has also taken stock of developments for environmental science, seeking to modernise the way that the discipline is understood and defined, building on the IES definition established in 2017.<sup>1</sup>

Definitions are important. If environmental science is defined in too narrow terms, it may limit the scope for collaboration and interdisciplinary working. If environmental science is defined too broadly, it may open the door to greenwashing and other forms of misinformation that weaken public understanding and trust in science. A good definition is clear, accessible, and has strong boundaries that support targeted interventions and actions.<sup>2</sup>

In the first instance, common-language definitions of environmental science were considered alongside rich pictures and other visualisations. These inspired a working 'root definition' constructed in line with Soft Systems Methodology (SSM), which was used as a starting point for further discussions.<sup>3</sup> The IES reflected on this provisional definition with reference to Critical Systems Heuristics (CSH), with the primary goals of challenging the definition's boundaries, as well as the extent to which it reflected the reality of environmental science beyond the perceived reality of the IES's immediate stakeholders and network.<sup>4</sup> Finally, senior leaders in the environment sector were consulted for their perspective on the working definition.

The work culminated with a synthesis, intended to capture a single working definition that captured the accessibility of common-language approaches, the completeness of the root definition, and the critical reflectivity of the CSH approach through a systemic triangulation process. For the purposes of this vision statement, the IES's understanding of environmental science is:

Modern environmental science is an interdisciplinary challenge-led field studying, developing, and disseminating knowledge of natural processes and systems through scientific tools, methods, and understandings, including their application to social and economic systems, the creation and assessment of solutions to environmental challenges, and the two-way interactions between the human and natural worlds.

Environmental scientists work across natural and social disciplines, incorporating academics, policy professionals, environmental engineers, and practitioners. They use scientific methods to inform environmental work, as well as insights from diverse sources of knowledge including professional practice, the interactions between science, policy, and society, and indigenous forms of knowledge.

## How has the role of environmental science changed?

The legitimacy of modern environmental science comes from the ability of evidence and insights to inform decisions and educate the public about the socio-natural world.<sup>5</sup> This relies on a bedrock of trust that those insights are objective and impartial, driven by a reproducible and reliable scientific approach. To maintain that trust, environmental science and the ways scientists use it must be defensible.<sup>6</sup>

Historically, science served society through discovery: the more people learned about the natural world, the more it informed the many ways that humanity interacted with it. Without science's role in society changing, the needs of society have adapted in the wake of pressing environmental crises. These crises now necessitate that environmental science concerns itself with solutions, and with communicating the insights that support those solutions to decision makers and a broad public audience.<sup>7</sup>

Building on recent theoretical developments, including Jesse Schrage et al.'s archetypes of sustainability scientists<sup>8</sup> and the Motivational Interviewing approach adapted by Robert Costanza



for the purpose of communicating the need for sustainable wellbeing,<sup>9</sup> it is possible to identify five persona roles which environmental scientists can adopt at different times to meet their obligations to humanity:

- The Sceptical Arbiter: environmental science challenges conventional thinking and contests hypotheses about how the world must and should work, allowing the public to reconsider social systems and interactions with the natural world.
- The Expert Communicator: environmental science demystifies evidence and understandings of natural systems and the consequences of our interactions with them, allowing the public to understand and engage with the environment, now and in the future.
- The Neutral Convenor: environmental science brings together scientific disciplines, policy, and society to acknowledge and address environmental challenges, allowing the public to share different perspectives and debate what matters.
- **The Open-minded Designer**: environmental science identifies solutions to environmental challenges, provides options for society, and explains the costs and trade-offs associated with different pathways, allowing the public to make choices about the future.
- The Rational Translator: environmental science operates at the interface between evidence, policy, and society, brokering knowledge and spanning the boundaries between different competencies, allowing the public to ensure that evidence informs the design and delivery of solutions.

#### "...as environmental science engages increasingly in challenge-led endeavours, it should be unapologetic about its role in propelling forward solutions..."

While many scientists use these personas to be solutions scientists who support a transition in the face of interlinking crises, others still need to focus on discovery, further developing humanity's collective knowledge of environmental systems through a precautionary lens, so that future generations have the evidence needed to address challenges which do not yet exist.<sup>10</sup>

To that end, environmental science should be broadly defined enough to serve society in many roles, and sufficiently detached from specific challenges that scientists can engage in precautionary inquiry. At the same time, as environmental science engages increasingly in challenge-led endeavours, it should be unapologetic about its role in propelling forward solutions for society.

## Ethical challenges: where should lines of appropriateness be drawn?

The boundaries set by the ways environmental science is defined align with the ethical commitments of environmental scientists. Scientists often care about the same issues as activists, but they are not activists, at least not in their professional capacity.<sup>5</sup> The growing public consciousness of environmental issues brings with it challenging boundaries between the personal and professional lives of scientists, some of whom may be activists outside their work and who may feel that the science they engage in is just one aspect of an integrated 'work-life mission'.<sup>11</sup>

Those challenges will be increasingly difficult to navigate as environmental challenges grow more present in public discourse, though the margin of appropriateness for scientists remains largely unchanged. Environmental science has often been bound up in deeply subjective questions about how people live their lives, from clearing smog to repairing the ozone layer.<sup>2</sup>

Regardless of how politically sensitive these issues are, environmental science remains appropriate as long as it serves the source of its legitimacy, which comes from the ways that it informs society's responses to environmental challenges through scientific methods and insights.<sup>12</sup> Straying from objective evidence into subjective views would be inappropriate, but that doesn't preclude environmental scientists from being 'informed agitators' who advocate for responses informed by the evidence and who speak truth to power on the challenges and trade-offs that will arise from society's decisions about how it responds.<sup>13,14</sup> If the legitimacy of environmental science comes from empowering the public to make informed decisions, then the mandate of scientists must be to offer and pursue real solutions to environmental challenges which can be implemented in practice and which avoid unintended consequences.<sup>7</sup>

Science may not always be seen as an ally to policy makers whose preferred solutions may not work in practice, or to activists whose communications may be diluted by the complexity of scientific knowledge, but for environmental science to meet its ethical obligations, it must not compromise on the truth of its insights and evidence.<sup>5</sup>

#### Validity, reliability, and reproducibility: Maintaining the tenets of environmental science

If the future of environmental science will be determined by its potential to secure society's trust and serve as a useful ally to policy and industry, it must be objective enough in its approach to be a reliable ally as well. Science has always sought to achieve that goal through the scientific method and the fundamental criteria that underpin good research: validity, reliability, and reproducibility.<sup>15</sup>

Maintaining those tenets will require adaptation in the face of a changing science landscape. As data collection becomes increasingly supplemented with artificial intelligence and machine learning techniques, it will be necessary to ensure the validity of data which arises from projections and expectations rather than 'in the field' data collection. As citizen science projects increasingly supplement data for resource-constrained organisations, it will be necessary to ensure the reliability of data that is collected under less rigorous scrutiny, which may otherwise lead to peaks and troughs in the consistency of collection periods.<sup>16</sup>

As environmental science increasingly enters the space of solutions-led science, reproducibility will also be a significant challenge to overcome, as many solutions will be novel in nature. Post-implementation reviews and robust monitoring, incorporating infrastructure-level data, will be vital to achieving that reproducibility.<sup>17</sup> To that end, the process of implementation depends on other core features of the classical scientific method, such as observation and experimentation.

A robust research and innovation landscape will be pivotal to maintaining these standards, which requires funding to be sufficient, accessible, flexible, and targeted. To ensure the appropriate social controls over the direction of that research, it should also be transparent and democratised in its allocation. Research needs to match the interdisciplinary and challenge-led nature of emerging environmental science, so funding applications should allow for holistic and thorough projects, which may require novel funding approaches and research practices.<sup>18</sup>

Crucially, there is a wide body of environmental research which is not fully utilised , so stronger links between research science and professional science could convey the findings of emerging research into practice and transfer discovery on the ground into new focus areas for research. For example, a large amount of climate research is not directly cited in policy documents or reflected in professional practice, instead filtering through the vast crucible of IPCC reports.<sup>19</sup> Practitioners on the ground are unlikely to have an awareness of the specifics of this research or its implications for their work.

The private sector has a role to play in this process, particularly on funding emerging areas of research and bringing financial and intellectual capital to drive investment in pressing challenges. The COVID-19 pandemic demonstrated the power of private sector science to identify and implement solutions when society's urgency is great enough, so decision makers should learn from the successes of that approach as they seek to address environmental challenges.

## Who are the environmental scientists of the future?

Environmental science is an increasingly collective endeavour, thriving on interdisciplinarity, systems thinking, and collaboration. The success of environmental science in the future will depend considerably on the extent to which scientists can connect with one another to solve environmental challenges, utilising knowledge networks and communities. Even then, for any interdisciplinary activity to succeed, scientists will also need to be skilled as individuals.<sup>7</sup>

Recent years have seen an expansion in the working roles and sectors of environmental scientists. Beyond traditional fields such as research, policy, industry, and consultancy, there are many emerging science roles in entrepreneurship, social enterprise, environmental design, and corporate sustainability. Equally, many new routes into the profession have emerged, including through apprenticeships, technical education, and career changes facilitated by the rise of green jobs.<sup>20</sup>

This provides an opportunity to leverage scientific capital in sectors where it was not previously possible, as long as networks are utilised to build links between the profession, practice, and research. At the same time, greater equity, diversity, and inclusion across the workforce has the potential to increase the breadth of knowledge and expertise in environmental science.<sup>21</sup> In this context, education is a key leverage point, as are professional bodies who serve as custodians of competency and best practice.

Emerging disciplines, such as data science and behavioural science, are fundamentally important to measuring the success of environmental policies and shifting the patterns of individual action that drive unsustainable consumption and production. Similarly, many areas of social science have increasing importance for environmental science. All of these fields could help to maximise society's chance at a positive future, as long as collaboration is balanced with the ongoing need for robust physical and natural science.<sup>2</sup>

As these novel specialisms begin to rise, there has also been an increased recognition of the importance of many previously underappreciated fields, such as soil health and environmental resilience beyond the most pressing impacts of climate change.<sup>10</sup> Even within longstanding fields of environmental science, there is a significant amount of novel science in response to megatrends linked to environmental crises, technology, and social trends.<sup>22</sup>

For example, in groundwater science, environmental crises are driving groundwater droughts and diminishing buffering capacity, leading to increased study of the effects on watercourses and novel approaches to resilience. Technology has provided new tools for data collection and collation, and economic demand has driven a rise in financing for groundwater management.<sup>2</sup>

These trends will determine whether science can support society's environmental ambitions. If they are correctly nurtured and linked through interdisciplinarity, then they will reinforce the capacity of the scientific community to address environmental challenges.

Environmental science has seen a trajectory of growth over recent decades, so the key question for the future will be how those scientists and the science they produce interact with society, build strong credentials to engender widespread trust, and play the mutual and complementary roles of developing solutions and precautionary discovery.

#### How can we achieve the best possible future?

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for environmental science is one where:

- Environmental scientists retain the objectivity of their science by drawing a line between science and activism, but are ready to be informed agitators on behalf of science when needed.
- Environmental scientists embrace their dual role in creating solutions to environmental challenges and discovering evidence about the natural world to inform future generations.
- The environment sector facilitates collaboration across industry, research, policy, and practice, using competency standards, professional bodies, and routes into the profession to promote collaboration and knowledge sharing.
- The environment sector provides the skills needed for scientists to engage in multiple roles in society, including challenging conventional thinking, demystifying the environment, bringing groups together, and communicating visions for the future.
- Research funders modernise their approach, ensuring funding is sufficient, accessible, targeted, transparent, democratised, and interdisciplinary in design. Governments and businesses should deploy partnerships to drive private sector finance for science, particularly for priorities such as the implementation of environmental solutions.

## The future of environmental ambitions: Mitigation hierarchies, protection pyramids, and the quest for improvement



How can ambitions increase beyond the bare minimum or a 'tickbox' approach to regulation? How can aspiration for environmental improvement be embedded in every interaction with the social and natural world?

Environmental science will help society to shape the future, but environmental scientists will also contribute to that vision directly, as their work sets the tone for what constitutes good practice and how a high-level vision translates into action in practice. It has taken a long time to make the case in favour of the mitigation hierarchy as a baseline approach.<sup>1</sup> Even now, the idea of minimising the environmental consequences of society's actions whenever possible remains politically controversial and efforts to engage the hierarchy beyond the mitigation stage are ad hoc or minimalist.<sup>2,3</sup>

All the preferable pathways for the future involve reimagining the value of nature, which necessitates a more universal application of the classic mitigation hierarchy and a more consistent approach to how society uses it. In professional practice, a presumption of mitigation must rapidly be replaced with a presumption of protection, which should eventually become a presumption of environmental improvement, taking every opportunity to maximise the multiple benefits that nature can provide as the default for environmental work.<sup>4</sup>

There are many complex drivers and competing interests which prevent environmental improvement becoming an embedded assumption, so science should work with society to shift perspectives and values in a way that brings society along on that journey. The promised potential of the mitigation hierarchy can still be fulfilled, seizing the opportunity to protect nature from harm and improving humanity's ability to receive all the benefits it promises for our society, economy, and environment.<sup>5</sup>

## Overcoming greenwashing: the argument for ambitious environmental action

Before reimagining the standard approach to environmental action, society and politics first need to be convinced that environmental approaches should be considered at all. For many in society, the environment remains very estranged from their lives, so they may not be aware of the full range of ways that humans benefit from a healthy environment every day.<sup>6</sup>

As social values evolve, change has already begun and public consciousness of environmental issues is increasing, though there are still polarised perspectives on the extremes. While a vocal minority are not supportive, the overwhelming consensus is the desire for a healthy environment. That desire is not a selfish one: even without complete knowledge of nature's benefits, many people still care about the environment and want to see it thrive. If policy and evidence empower the quiet majority, the future will likely be shaped by environmental values that inevitably create a better world.<sup>7</sup>

Younger generations are becoming more environmentally conscientious, so by the time the global population peaks in around 2065, there is likely to be a strong mandate for environmental

action, regardless of decisions about the environment in the near future.<sup>8</sup> Those short-term choices will determine whether that action is focused on maximising positive opportunities or mitigating and managing the risks created by past decisions.

Although many people value the environment, it can be difficult to encourage decision makers to prioritise nature due to a focus on short term economic gains that are more aligned with political timescales.<sup>9</sup> Science and economics have the potential to inform one another, working together to make the case that economic benefit and the value provided by a healthy environment are complementary, rather than contradictory.<sup>10,11</sup> Frameworks such as planetary boundaries and 'doughnut economics' are critical ways of harmonising the economic and natural worlds to create shared visions of the future.<sup>12,13</sup>

Even when businesses and communities accept these visions and set ambitious goals to create a more sustainable world, there is a significant gap between intentions and implementation.<sup>14</sup> Many approaches are 'greenwashed': environmental values are abandoned in practice, even while organisations continue to express their support for those values. Transparency and accountability can help to push past greenwashing, but unambitious or misleading environmental commitments will continue until strong environmental improvement principles are embedded into processes and targets.<sup>15</sup>

'Weak sustainability' approaches seek to substitute the value of the natural world with socially-constructed value, losing out on the full benefits of nature which could be secured by a 'strong sustainability' approach.<sup>16</sup> For the mitigation hierarchy, this often leads to approaches that emphasise mitigation at the expense of regeneration, or which replace natural capital in one place with 'technically-equivalent' but functionally inferior social capital in another.<sup>17</sup>

The truth is that these approaches to sustainability are not enough on their own to create a better world, so a 'businessas-usual' approach which adopts the mitigation hierarchy in name – but not in practice – will leave ecosystems significantly depleted and plagued by many mitigated but still persisting environmental challenges.<sup>18</sup>

For a better future, the mitigation hierarchy must be understood in the context of natural systems: small cumulative effects can come together to create immense consequences, so tolerating mitigated environmental harms cannot be society's default position.<sup>5</sup> The assumption must be that, whenever possible, environmental degradation does not happen in the first place, which requires the adoption of more robust expectations of environmental protection.

## Safeguarding against crisis and the environmental protection pyramid

Through the lens of rising environmental crises, the ideal of environmental protection has become an increasingly mainstream position, though it still struggles to be prioritised in decision making, particularly in those linked to planning processes and the economy.

The folly of deprioritising environmental protection in favour of short-term economic gain has now been made apparent as environmental crises pose a serious threat to long-term economic stability and growth. In the future, it may still be possible to secure both economic and environmental benefits simultaneously, but environmental protection will have to play a fundamental role in ensuring the long-term viability of natural assets that are critical for future economic and social prosperity.<sup>19</sup>

Environmental protection should be the broad baseline which serves as the 'first line of defence' against degradation; it should be a standard assumption that society does not degrade the environment in most circumstances, avoiding harm whenever possible. In a future with effective environmental governance, that assumption would be paired with principles for decision makers and a broad regulatory regime that safeguards against potential negative outcomes for the environment in sufficiently general terms to prevent degradation.<sup>6</sup>

Upon that robust baseline, a more targeted and holistic use of the mitigation hierarchy as a whole could avoid projects or environmental interventions falling back towards the easiest approach. Instead, mitigation should be the peak of the pyramid – the narrow end case where no other protection measure can reach, with a sharp point which only touches the most extreme cases.<sup>17</sup>

Beyond the immediate future of environmental crises, environmental protection still has a crucial role to play in preventing and addressing new challenges. Even if humanity addresses climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental pollution, global megatrends are already setting the scene for future crises. Everything environmental science has learned about past crises will be fundamental to understanding and addressing future ones.<sup>20</sup>

Rapidly accelerating technological development raises significant uncertainty and implications for the environment.<sup>21</sup> Likewise, novel chemicals emerging in agriculture, health, personal care, and cleaning all pose the threat of new pollution concerns, alongside the novel use of existing chemicals.<sup>22</sup> Social and political change may also lead to unexpected environmental effects, either through social change or the loss of key environmental protections.<sup>23</sup> In the absence of effective regulation, economics and corporate activity will always leave open the potential for environmental degradation where private decision makers are detached from the public beneficiaries of natural assets.

Society's choices about the transition will also drive new challenges for humanity and nature which require different approaches to environmental protection. Delaying the climate transition will have long-term consequences, disabling or diminishing natural services for the future and leaving environmental systems disconnected, so less ambitious action now will require broader protections in the future.<sup>24</sup> Similarly, using one solution to solve many different problems, such as an over-reliance on electrification, may increase the risk of 'single points of failure', requiring more focused protections to ensure long-term resilience.<sup>25</sup>

#### "...regeneration of the environment will be necessary to maximise the full benefits that society and nature are able to achieve."

Across all these pressures, the message is clear: environmental protection is an essential baseline to safeguard the multiple benefits of nature. Mitigation, offsetting, and risk minimisation are essential tools where harm is unavoidable, though they cannot become default approaches. Beyond these, society could benefit from going even further, not just protecting the environment against future harm, but embedding a positive desire to improve nature whenever humanity interacts with it.

## Environmental improvement: seizing the reimagined value of nature

It may be too much to hope for a future where environmental challenges have been fully addressed, but even in a world beyond crises, environmental ambitions will remain relevant. In a post-crisis world, regeneration of the environment will be necessary to maximise the full benefits that society and nature are able to achieve. That process of renewal cannot and should not wait. Beginning the process of environmental improvement as soon as possible will create the healthiest environment for the benefit of future generations.<sup>26</sup>

Environmental improvement has already been embraced in principle throughout the environmental sciences, particularly in industry and consultancy where best practice is encouraging professionals to find ways to go beyond minimal approaches. Driven by regulatory approaches such as Biodiversity Net Gain, Nutrient Neutrality, or Air Quality Positive developments, the UK environmental profession is moving in the direction of improvement when it is possible to include it as a consideration in projects.<sup>4</sup> This has been especially critical for the private sector, where the 'level playing field' provided by regulation is a vital means of providing the certainty needed to change working practices.<sup>27</sup>

Several challenges remain. The first is to spread best practice to secure a future where regulation is informed by evidence and where environmental professionals can access information and guidance through peer-to-peer learning and knowledge communities.

The second challenge is to ensure that improvement takes place in practice and not just in name. Critical specialisms such as Impact Assessment have often struggled to overcome the perception that regulation is a 'box ticking' exercise. Moving those specialisms towards best practice will require everyone involved in developments to view their role in those processes in a new light.<sup>28</sup>

For example, if regulation for consenting processes is viewed as a barrier or part of an adversarial system, participants will push back against environmental protection. Conversely, if participants in a process view themselves as working towards the same goal of social, economic, and environmental outcomes from the outset of a project, they can support a move toward sustainable development. These processes shape many of our key interactions with the natural world, so they should be collaborative wherever possible, rather than competitive.<sup>29</sup>

Securing environmental improvement will depend on whether society can reimagine its understanding of value to be more inclusive of the many ways that nature benefits humanity. Moving away from outdated 'fortress models' of nature which see the environment as separate from people's lives will allow environmentally positive actions to be embedded in decisions, embracing humanity's place as part of the natural world.<sup>17,30</sup>



Environmental values have the potential to reach across different places and scales, taking account of diverse knowledge and viewpoints. When they do, those values can reach the decisions of businesses and policy makers, creating a more equitable system of value which maximises the potential for environmental justice and integrated social, economic, and environmental benefits.<sup>31,32</sup>

In that world, projects would be multi-functional, maximising opportunities, minimising risks, and achieving many different goals for people and nature at the same time. Interactions with nature would be mutually beneficial and sustainable over the long-term, as the natural world overflows with functionality and 'ecosystem services'.

Ultimately, fulfilling the promise of environmental improvement and a systems-informed mitigation hierarchy is as selfish as it is altruistic. Nature operates through reciprocity: it gives back what humanity puts into it. A gradually diminishing environment will give future generations less and less of what they need.

Environmental protection is a necessary minimum to maintain humanity's quality of life in the future, but embedding environmental improvement offers the promise of a future where the most bountiful gifts of the natural world still lie ahead.

#### How can we achieve the best possible future?

As the IES worked to produce this vision, we engaged with environmental scientists working across disciplines. The future they wanted to see for environmental improvement is one where:

- Society meets the burden of continuing environmental improvement to prevent further decay. No generation leaves the world in a worse state than they received it, recognising that a status quo of environmental decline means that 'do no harm' is an insufficient way of preventing damage.
- Environmental scientists embed the mitigation hierarchy across plans and projects, understanding it with reference to systems thinking and the potential for many small, mitigated harms to create much greater consequences for the social and natural world.
- Governments provide a broad regulatory baseline for environmental protection to safeguard against negative environmental outcomes, only breaking the presumption of protection in rare circumstances where harm is unavoidable and society has accepted that there are no suitable alternatives.
- The environment sector spreads best practice on environmental improvement through peer-to-peer learning, communities of knowledge, and professional bodies like the IES.

# In conclusion: From our vision to yours

Our vision for the future of environmental science marks the end of one project, but it is also the beginning of the work to make that vision a reality.

Over the coming years, the Institution will continue working with members and partners to prepare the sector to achieve a better future. It will inform the Institution's next organisational strategy in 2024, as well as our approach to developing the skills and competencies of IES members through training, events, and knowledge communities.

Visions of the future are iterative by nature, subject to changing circumstances which revise the details but not the destination. Visions also iterate as they are exposed to more perspectives, which will be important as the IES engages a broad coalition of partners to achieve a better future for people and the planet. In the process of doing so, the IES will hope to realise this vision while helping society create its own.

Throughout the Future of ES23 project, the message has been clear. Humanity has the potential to address environmental challenges, with environmental science playing a fundamental role in shaping solutions and facilitating the transition to a sustainable society. That future demands that environmental scientists are knowledgeable, skilled, diverse, and trusted, engaging them in the process of transformation towards a sustainable society. It demands that global governments take the situation seriously, embracing the role of evidence and accepting the full range of scientific insights, whether or not they are politically convenient. It demands that science is relevant and accessible to everyone, helping people use evidence to craft the world they want to see.

Humanity has a tremendous influence over the world around it, so people living now have a responsibility to safeguard and enhance the environment for the good of future generations. Only with the expertise of scientists can environmental improvement be consistently realised, so the mission of environmental science and the Institution must be to support people on the path to reimagining and transforming their relationship with the natural world.

Environmental science will be the foundation which sets the world on the journey towards that goal, as scientists and communities embark together on the collective endeavour of **transforming the planet**.



#### Planet Earth and the future of the human habitat

- Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) How are policy developments shaping habitats? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VgipcRLfmvM</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 2. UNFCCC (2022) *What is the Triple Planetary Crisis?*. UN Framework Convention on Climate Change: Blog. <u>https://unfccc.int/blog/what-is-the-triple-planetary-crisis</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 3. Andersen, I. (2023) *Action to tackle the triple planetary crisis.* UN Environment Programme. <u>https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/speech/action-tackle-triple-planetary-crisis</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Llewellyn, C., Sheng, X., and Spooner, S. (2023) Perspectives on the impact of rapid urbanisation on air, land and water. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.theies.org/analysis/perspectives-impact-rapid</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2021) A manifesto for transformative change. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/resources/manifesto-transformative-change</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPCC (2023) Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.]]. IPCC: Geneva, Switzerland. pp. 1-34. DOI: 10.59327/ IPCC/AR6-9789291691647.001.
- IPBES (2019) Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., and Ngo, H.T. (editors). IPBES secretariat: Bonn, Germany. 1148 pages. https://doi. org/10.5281/zenodo.3831673
- Lewis, J. (2022) Can global cooperation fight back against megatrends? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/can-global-cooperation-fight</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Williams, H., Tollitt, P., and Viner, D. (2023) 'Megatrends & the future of the environmental sciences', in Future of ES23: Megatrends wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-megatrends-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- International Energy Agency. (2023) Credible Pathways to 1.5 <sup>°</sup>C: Four pillars for action in the 2020s. IEA: International Energy Agency. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/ea6587a0-</u> <u>ea87-4a85-8385-6fa668447f02/Crediblepathwaysto1.5C-</u> <u>Fourpillarsforactioninthe2020s.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D.C., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E.S., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., and Rama, B. (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York: NY, USA. 3056 pp.. DOI:10.1017/9781009325844.
- Oxford Economics (2022) The global economic costs of climate change inaction. Scenarios & Macroeconomic Modelling: Oxford Economics. <u>https://www.oxfordeconomics.com/</u> <u>resource/the-global-economic-costs-of-climate-inaction/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Grantham Institute. (2022). 'How will acting on climate change affect the economy?' in, Climate Change FAQs: Causes, Impacts and Action. Grantham Institute: Imperial College London.<u>https://www.imperial.ac.uk/grantham/publications/</u> <u>climate-change-faqs/how-will-acting-on-climate-changeaffect-the-economy/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Zenghelis, D. (2023) *The economics of a clean transition*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/economics-clean-transition</u>. (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- World Bank. (2020) Global Action Urgently Needed to Halt Historic Threats to Poverty Reduction. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2020/10/07/global-action-urgently-needed-to-halt-historic-threats-to-poverty-reduction</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Islam, S.N. and Winkel, J. (2017) *Climate Change and Social Inequality.* UN Department of Economic & Social Affairs. DESA Working Paper No. 152 ST/ESA/2017/DWP/152. UNDESA: New York City, New York. <u>https://www.un.org/esa/desa/papers/2017/wp152\_2017.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 17. Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2022) *What still needs to happen to reach net zero?*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/what-still-needs-happen-</u> climate-change-COP27 (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Global Commission on the Economy and Climate (2014) Better Growth, Better Climate: The New Climate Economy Report. <u>http://newclimateeconomy.report/2014/overview/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- Swiss Re (2021) The economics of climate change: no action not an option. <u>https://www.swissre.com/dam/jcr:e73ee7c3-</u> 7f83-4c17-a2b8-8ef23a8d3312/swiss-re-institute-expertisepublication-economics-of-climate-change.pdf (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 20. World Bank Group (2021) *World Bank Group Climate Change Action Plan 2021–2025: Supporting Green, Resilient, and Inclusive Development.* World Bank: Washington, DC. License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10986/35799</u> (Access 22 October 2023).
- 21. Davis, I. (2023) *Promoting sustainable farming (Let's Get Technical: Episode 1).* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a-zEhCzweRw</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 22. Lewis, J. (2020) *Sustainable, healthy, and resilient: Practicebased approaches to land and soil management.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u> <u>sustainable-soil-report (Accessed 22 October 2023).</u>
- 23. Committee on Climate Change. (2018). Land use: Reducing emissions and preparing for climate change. https://www. theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/ Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climatechange-CCC-2018.pdf (Accessed 9th September 2020).
- 24. Sykes, J., Whitney, M., Rush, C., and Pinney, C. (2023) Interdisciplinary discussion: Designing sustainable buildings. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.theies.org/analysis/interdisciplinary-discussion</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 25. Olsson, J.A., Miller, S.A., & Alexander, M.G. (2023) *Near-term pathways for decarbonizing global concrete production.* Nat Commun 14, 4574. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-40302-0.
- Bishop, J., Love, C., Hayat, J., Rees, N., Reid, T., Ogbonna, E., and Sharma, R. (2021) *STAGES on the road to COP26: Clean transport.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=aUu6-209AJs (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 27. Love, C., Pooley, M., Warrens, H., and Brislin-Higgs, J. (2021). *STAGES on the road to COP26: Adaptation & Resilience. Institution of Environmental Sciences.* <u>https://www.youtube.</u> <u>com/watch?v=pol6IELMW60</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Viggiano, R.P., Dornbusch, D., Wu, J.J., Bednarcyk, B., Kowalski, B.A., Lin, Y., Yamakov, V., and Connell, J.W. (2020) Solid-State Architecture Batteries for Enhanced Rechargeability and Safety (SABERS) for Electric Aircraft. Electrochemical Society Meeting Abstracts: The Electrochemical Society. DOI: 10.1149/ MA2020-0251012mtgabs.

- Viggiano, R., Dornbusch, D., Lin, Y., and Yamakov, V.I. (2023) Solid-State Architecture Batteries for Enhanced Rechargeability and Safety (SABERS): Advanced Battery Technology for Sustainable Aviation. NASA Technical Reports. https://ntrs.nasa.gov/citations/20230013163 (Accessed 22 October 2023).IEA (2022) Renewables 2022. IEA: (International Energy Agency): Paris. License: CC BY 4.0. <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/renewables-2022</u>. (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 30. IEA (2022) *Renewables 2022.* IEA: (International Energy Agency): Paris. License: CC BY 4.0. <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/renewables-2022.</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Reid, B., Barwick, J., and Watts, C. (2021) STAGES on the road to COP26: Energy transition. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=KRAfvwe0098 (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Scottish Government (2023) Draft Energy Strategy and Just Transition Plan – delivering a fair and secure zero carbon energy system for Scotland. Scottish Government: Edinburgh. <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/draft-energy-strategytransition-plan/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 33. Grub, H. and Wentworth, J. (2023) *What is a just transition for environmental targets?*. Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology: London. DOI: https://doi.org/10.58248/PN706
- Shukla, P.R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J. (2022) *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press: Cambridge and New York, NY. DOI: 10.1017/9781009157926.001.
- 35. Spooner, S. (2023) *From net zero to combustion transition to embracing our biosphere*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/net-zero-combustion-transition</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 36. Costanza, R. (2022). *Addicted to Growth: Societal Therapy for a Sustainable Wellbeing Future*. (1st ed.). Routledge. https:// doi.org/10.4324/9781003173717.
- Dixson-Decleve, S., Gaffney, O., Ghosh, J., Randers, J., Rockstrom, J., and Stoknes, P.E. (2022) *Earth for All: A Survival Guide for Humanity*. New Society Publishers: British Columbia.
- Meadows, D.H. et al. (1972) The Limits to Growth: A Report for the Club of Rome's Project on the Predicament of Mankind. Universe Books: New York. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/00 0276427201500672.

- Barrie, J., Schröder, P., and Sherman, S. (2023) Making sustainable finance taxonomies work for the circular economy: Lessons from the EU Taxonomy. Royal Institute of International Affairs: London. DOI: <u>https://www. chathamhouse.org/2023/06/making-sustainable-financetaxonomies-work-circular-economy</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023). https://doi.org/2010.55317/9781784135690.
- Dwarakanath, K., Bourne, D., Sutton, P., and Lee, S. (2020) STAGES on the road to COP26: Catalysing the circular economy. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://</u> www.youtube.com/watch?v=M-4-Sw198Ug (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 41. Nathanail, P. (2023) *Emerging soil and water contaminants.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/webinar-emerging-soil-and</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 42. Childs, E. (2023) *Change on the horizon: Emerging science in land, air and water.* <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/change-horizon-emerging</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 43. UN Food and Agriculture Organisation. (2015). *Healthy soils are the basis for healthy food production*. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4405e.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 44. See Chapter 10: The future of environmental ambitions: Mitigation hierarchies, protection pyramids, and the quest for improvement
- Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Nierhorster, E. (2023) The role of data in supporting environmental regulation. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.</u> <u>org/analysis/role-data-supporting</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 46. Glucksman, E., Everard, M., Cocker, S., Butterworth, T., and Goodwin, T. (2021) *STAGES on the road to COP26: Nature*. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sKhv63LuE6M</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPBES (2022). Methodological Assessment Report on the Diverse Values and Valuation of Nature of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Balvanera, P., Pascual, U., Christie, M., Baptiste, B., and González-Jiménez, D. (eds.). IPBES secretariat: Bonn, Germany. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6522522.
- 48. Everard, M. (2020) '*Ecosystems: from single-use to multiple values*', in Reconnecting society with its ecological roots. Environmental Scientist. 29(3), pp 8-13.
- 49. Lewis, J. (2022) *IES joins calls for a science-policy panel on chemical pollution*. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/news/ies-joins-calls-science-policy</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- Kupka, R. (2021) Why We Need a Science Policy Panel on Chemicals, Waste and Pollution. IISD: International Institute for Sustainable Development. <u>https://sdg.iisd.</u> org/commentary/guest-articles/why-we-need-a-sciencepolicy-panel-on-chemicals-waste-and-pollution/ (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. (2022) Entering the FOREST of risk. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u> <u>entering-forest-risk-systems</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. (2023) Progressing or regressing: The future of environmental science under new UK governance. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/</u> resources/progressing-or-regressing (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 53. Nathanail, P. (2023) *Emerging soil and water contaminants.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/webinar-emerging-soil-and (</u>Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 54. Bloss, W. (2021) Air pollution: science shows there's no safe limit – here's how laws must change. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/air-pollution-science-showstheres-no-safe-limit-heres-how-laws-must-change-167223 (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 55. Orellano, P., Reynoso, J., Quaranta, N., Bardach, A., Ciapponi, A. (2020) *Short-term exposure to particulate matter* (PM10 and PM2.5), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and ozone (O3) and allcause and cause-specific mortality: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Environment International, Volume 142. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105876.
- Chen, J., and Hoek, G. (2020) Long-term exposure to PM and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environment International. Volume 143. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105974.
- 57. Coscieme, L., Mortensen, L.F., and Donohue, I. (2021) *Enhance environmental policy coherence to meet the Sustainable Development Goals*. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 296.DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126502.
- Reichel, A., Maguire, C., and Lung, T. (2021) 'Setting the scence', in Knowledge for Action: Empowering the transition to a sustainable Europe. EEA Report No 10/2021. pp 13-17. EEA: European Environment Agency. <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/</u> <u>publications/knowledge-for-action</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Clayton, J. (2023) What can air quality learn from net zero?. Institute of Air Quality Management. <u>https://iaqm.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Net-zero-1.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- 60. Natural England (2022) *The Children's People and Nature Survey for England: Summer Holidays 2021 (Official Statistics).* https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-childrens-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-summer-holidays-2021-official-statistics/the-childrens-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-summer-holidays-2021-official-statistics (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Ballew, M., Marlon, J., Rosenthal, S., Gustafson, A., Kotcher, J., Maibach, E., and Leiserowitz, A. (2019) *Do younger generations care more about global warming?*. Yale Program on Climate Change Communication. Yale University and George Mason University: New Haven, CT. <u>https://climatecommunication</u>. <u>yale.edu/publications/do-younger-generations-care-moreabout-global-warming/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 62. Lewis, J. (2023) *Online/onsite/office: the future of environmental work.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/onlineonsiteoffice-future</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 63. Romer, P. (2018) *Conditional Optimism*. <u>https://paulromer.net/</u> <u>conditional-optimism-technology-and-climate</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 64. Schwerhoff, G. and Stuermer, M. (2018) *Non-renewable resources, extraction technology, and endogenous growth.* Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas. <u>https://paulromer.net/</u> <u>conditional-optimism-technology-and-climate/Martin</u> <u>Stuermer\_Gregor\_Schwerhoff\_2018\_non\_renewable\_181011.</u> <u>pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023). DOI: https://doi. org/10.24149/wp1506r1.
- 65. Raworth, K. (2017) *Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st-Century Economist*. Penguin: London.

## Emergence of the dragonfly: Crafting a new world through transformative change

- Kass, G. (2019) Systems approaches for tackling environmental issues. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/analysis/systems-approaches-tackling</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 2. Childs, E. (2023) *The argument for transformative change: IPCC's AR6 Synthesis Report. Institution of Environmental Sciences.* <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/argument-</u> <u>transformative-change</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- King, N. (2023) The Polycrisis An Introduction. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/</u> polycrisis-%E2%80%93-introduction (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Nierhorster, E. (2023) The role of data in supporting environmental regulation. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/role-data-supporting</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Kemp, N., Martin, S., and Spooner, S. (2023) More than the sum of their parts? Interdisciplinarity and sustainability: Policy, practice and professionalism. Institution of Environmental Sciences. https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/more-sum-theirparts (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPBES (2019) Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., and Ngo, H.T. (editors). IPBES secretariat: Bonn, Germany. 1148 pages. <u>https://doi. org/10.5281/zenodo.3831673</u>.
- Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2021) A manifesto for transformative change. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/resources/manifesto-transformative-change</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Park, K., McCarthy, B. and Harris, J. (2022) 'The challenges of ecosystem restoration', in Ecosystem restoration: Securing biodiversity, complexity and resilience. Environmental Scientist, 31(3). pp 8-13. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u> ecosystem-restoration-securing (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. (2023) Science communication: What can we learn from Kyoto?. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://</u> www.the-ies.org/analysis/science-communication-what-can (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- Warrens, H., Finbow, R., Gosling, P., and Wilcox, E. (2023) *Future* skills of the environment sector. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-skillsenvironment</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 11. Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (2011) *Skills for a green economy: A report on the evidence. HM Government.* https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-a-green-economy-report-on-the-evidence (22 October 2023).
- 12. Childs, E. (2023) *The dual nature of technological development and environmental impact*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/dual-nature-technological</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPCC (2023) Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.]]. IPCC: Geneva, Switzerland. pp. 1-34. DOI: 10.59327/ IPCC/AR6-9789291691647.001.
- Andersen, I. (2023) Action to tackle the triple planetary crisis. UN Environment Programme. <u>https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/speech/action-tackle-triple-planetary-crisis</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Zenghelis, D. (2023) *The economics of a clean transition.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/economics-clean-transition</u>. (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Grub, H. and Wentworth, J. (2023) What is a just transition for environmental targets? Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology: London. DOI: https://doi.org/10.58248/PN706.
- IPBES (2022). Methodological Assessment Report on the Diverse Values and Valuation of Nature of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Balvanera, P., Pascual, U., Christie, M., Baptiste, B., and González-Jiménez, D. (eds.). IPBES secretariat: Bonn, Germany. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.6522522.
- Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) How are policy developments shaping habitats? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VgipcRLfmvM</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- George, S., Emden, J., and Zenghelis, D. (2021) STAGES on the road to COP26 (Economy): Business, Jobs & ESG in the climate transition. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. youtube.com/watch?v=V-TuJk2xPr4</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- 20. Everard, M. (2020) 'Ecosystems: from single-use to multiple values', in Reconnecting society with its ecological roots. Environmental Scientist. 29(3), pp 8-13.
- 21. Lewis, J. and Savage, E. (2023) *Where do we draw the line between science and activism?*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/line-betweenscience-activism</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 22. Childs, E. and Lewis, J. (2023) 'How should the science-policy interface evolve in the future?', in Future of ES23: The Regulatory Landscape wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-regulatory</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 23. Lewis, J. (2023) *Progressing or regressing: The future of environmental science under new UK governance*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u> <u>progressing-or-regressing</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 24. Institution of Environmental Sciences. (2023) *Reframing EIA: A tool for better design for people and planet.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u><u>reframing-eia-tool-better</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Dwarakanath, K., Bourne, D., Sutton, P., and Lee, S. (2020) STAGES on the road to COP26: Catalysing the circular economy. Institution of Environmental Sciences. https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=M-4-Sw198Ug (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 26. Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2022) *What still needs to happen to reach net zero?*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/what-still-needs-happen-</u> <u>climate-change-COP27</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 27. Department of Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (2021) National Food Strategy for England: Independent Review part two. The plan. HM Government. <u>https://www.gov.</u> uk/government/publications/national-food-strategy-forengland (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 28. Lewis, J. (2023) 'Peeling apart the theory of risk', in Environmental risk: At bursting point?. Environmental Scientist, 31(4). pp 10-15. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u> environmental-risk (Accessed 22 October 2023).

## 29. See chapter 5: Enabler or inhibitor? Technological development and the environmental sciences

 Hill, A.E., Walker, M., Rogers, M., and Reade, T. (2023) 'The future of data: opportunities and challenges', in Future of ES23: The Science wrap-up. Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (eds.). Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.theies.org/analysis/future-es23-science-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- 31. See chapter 1: Planet Earth and the future of the human habitat
- 32. Romer, P. (2018) *Conditional Optimism*. <u>https://paulromer.net/</u> <u>conditional-optimism-technology-and-climate</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Schwerhoff, G. and Stuermer, M. (2018) Non-renewable resources, extraction technology, and endogenous growth. Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas. <u>https://paulromer.net/</u> <u>conditional-optimism-technology-and-climate/Martin\_</u> <u>Stuermer\_Gregor\_Schwerhoff\_2018\_non\_renewable\_181011.</u> <u>pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023). DOI: https://doi. org/10.24149/wp1506r1.

## The rise of sustainability, interdisciplinarity and solutions-driven science

- Kemp, N., Martin, S., and Spooner S. (2023) More than the sum of their parts? Interdisciplinarity and sustainability: practice, policy and professionalism. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/more-sum-theirparts</u>. (Accessed on 22 October 2023)
- Stockholm Resilience Centre (2016) The SDGs wedding cake. Stockholm Resilience Centre. <u>https://www.</u> stockholmresilience.org/research/research-news/2016-06-14-the-sdgs-wedding-cake.html (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Maniscalco, J. (2023) Turning the Tide: Systems thinking for a sustainable ocean – Bridging the gap between land and sea wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://</u> www.the-ies.org/analysis/turning-the-tide-theme-1-wrap-up. (Accessed 22 October 2023)
- Bishop, T., and Bromwich, B. (2023) *Experience of systems approaches in regional water planning*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/experience-systems-approaches</u>. (Accessed 22 October 2023)
- Dawson, K. (2022) Using GIS in systems thinking for improved support for Biodiversity Net Gain. Institution of Environmental Science. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/</u> using-gis-systems-thinking. (Accessed 22 October 2023)
- 6. Childs, E. (2022) *Built-in rather than bolt-on: Collaborating for sustainable design*. Institution for Environmental Science. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/built-rather-bolt</u>. (Accessed 22 October 2023)
- United Nations (2023) *The 17 goals*. United Nations. <u>https://sdgs.un.org/goals</u> (Accessed 25 October 2023)
- 8. Raworth, Kate (2017). *Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think like a 21st-Century Economist*. London: Random House Business Books
- 9. Yorkshire Integrated Catchment Solutions (iCASP) Understanding our impact. iCASP. <u>https://icasp.org.uk/</u> impact/. (Accessed 25 October 2023)
- Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (2020) Enabling a natural capital approach. Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs. <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/enabling-a-natural-capital-approachenca#:~:text=A%20natural%20capital%20approach%20 to,for%20people%20and%20the%20economy</u>. (Accessed 25 October 2023)

- Lewis, J., and Savage, E. (2023) Where do we draw the line between science and activism? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/line-betweenscience-activism</u>. (Accessed 23 October 2023)
- 12. UNESCO. Education for sustainable development. UNESCO. https://www.unesco.org/en/education-sustainabledevelopment. (Accessed 26 October 2023)
- Guzman, C., and Potter, T. (2021) The Planetary Health Education Framework. Planetary Health Alliance. <u>https://</u> www.planetaryhealthalliance.org/education-framework (Accessed 26 October 2023)
- 14. QAA and Advance HE (2021) *Education for Sustainable Development Guidance*. QAA and Advance HE. <u>https://www.qaa.ac.uk/the-quality-code/education-for-sustainable-development</u> (Accessed 26 October 2023)
- Ahmad, N., Ibahrine, M., Armour, R., Tait, V., Reedy, K., Malevicius, R., Dale, V., Tasler, N., Inzolia, Y. and Toro-Troconis, M. (2023) *CoDesignS Education for Sustainable Development:* A Framework for Embedding Education for Sustainable Development in Curriculum Design. International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education (under review)
- Department for Education (2022) Sustainability and climate change: a strategy for the education and children's services systems. Department for Education. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sustainability-and-climate-change-strategy/sustainability-and-climate-change-a-strategy-for-the-education-and-childrens-services-systems.</u> (Accessed 27 October 2023)

IES **PREPORT** Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

#### **References:**

## Specialisms and systems: Skills to secure a sustainable future

- LinkedIn (2023) Global green skills report 2023. LinkedIn Economic Graph. <u>https://economicgraph.linkedin.com/</u> <u>content/dam/me/economicgraph/en-us/global-green-skillsreport/green-skills-report-2023.pdf</u>. (Accessed 27 October 2023)
- Foster, D. (2019) Briefing paper: Level 4 and 5 education. House of Commons Library. <u>https://researchbriefings.</u> <u>files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8732/CBP-8732.pdf.</u> (Accessed on: 27 October 2023)
- 3. Companies (Strategic Report) (Climate-related Financial Disclosure) Regulations 2022
- Raey, D. (2023) Skills and net zero. The Climate Change Committee. <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/skillsand-net-zero-expert-advisory-group/</u>. (Accessed 27 October 2023)
- NASA Earth Observatory (2023) 2022 Tied for Fifth Warmest Year on Record. NASA Earth Observatory. <u>https://</u> earthobservatory.nasa.gov/images/150828/2022-tied-forfifth-warmest-year-on-record. (Accessed 27 October 2023)
- 6. Climate Action Tracker (2022). *2100 Warming Projections: Emissions and expected warming based on pledges and current policies*. <u>https://climateactiontracker.org/global/</u> <u>temperatures/</u>. (Accessed 27 October 2023)
- Seneviratne, S.I., X. Zhang, M. Adnan, W. Badi, C. Dereczynski, A. Di Luca, S. Ghosh, I. Iskandar, J. Kossin, S. Lewis, F. Otto, I. Pinto, M. Satoh, S.M. Vicente-Serrano, M. Wehner, and B. Zhou, 2021: Weather and Climate Extreme Events in a Changing Climate. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1513–1766, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.013. (Accessed 27 October 2023)
- 8. Churchman, C.W. (1968) *The Systems Approach.* Delacorte Press, New York.
- UNESCO. (2016) Unesco Competency Framework. UNESDOC Digital Library. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/</u> pf0000245056.locale=en. (Accessed 27 October 2023)
- 10. Society for the Environment. *Chartered Environmentalist Registration*. Society for the Environment. <u>https://socenv.org</u>. uk/chartered-environmentalist/ (Accessed 27 October 2023)

## Enabler or inhibitor? Technological development and the environmental sciences

- Dufva, M., and Rekola, S., (2023) Megatrends 2023 Understanding anera of surprises. SITRA. <u>https://www.sitra.fi/en/publications/</u> megatrends-2023/#:-:text=Sitra's%20megatrends%202023%20 describe%20the,of%20an%20ecological%20sustainability%20 crisis. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Childs, E. (2023) The dual nature of technological development and environmental impact. Instution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/dual-nature-</u> technological#:-:text=Technology%20has%20allowed%20 <u>us%20to,to%20name%20just%20a%20few</u>. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Eyring, V., N.P. Gillett, K.M. Achuta Rao, R. Barimalala, M. Barreiro Parrillo, N. Bellouin, C. Cassou, P.J. Durack, Y. Kosaka, S. McGregor, S. Min, O. Morgenstern, and Y. Sun,. (2021) *Human Influence on the Climate System. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis.* Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 423–552, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.005.
- Persson, L., Carney Almroth, Collins, C.D., Cornell, S., de Wit, C. et.al. (2022) *Outside the Safe Operating Space of the Planetary Boundary for Novel Entities*. Environmental Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c04158 (Accessed 28 October 2022)
- Blair, G., et al (2021) The Role of Digital Technologies in Responding to the Grand Challenges of the Natural Environment: The Windermere Accord. CellPress. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>S266638992030204X</u>. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- European Commission. (2022). Destination Earth new digital twin of the Earth will help tackle climate change and protect nature. European Commission. <u>https://digital-strategy.</u> ec.europa.eu/en/news/destination-earth-new-digital-twinearth-will-help-tackle-climate-change-and-protect-nature. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Whitmee, S., Anton, B., and Haines, A. (2023) Accountability for carbon emissions and health equity. Bull World Health Organ. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/</u> PMC9874368/. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Botín-Sanabria, D., Mihaita, A.-S., Peimbert-García, R.E., Ramírez-Moreno, M.A., Ramírez-Mendoza, R.A., and Lozoya-Santos, J.d.J. (2022) *Digital Twin Technology Challenges and Applications: A Comprehensive Review. Remote Sens.* https://doi.org/10.3390/ rs14061335. (Accessed 28 October 2023)

- Institution of Environmental Sciences (2022) A very challenging environment: Experiences of ethnic minority environmental professionals. Institution of Environmental Science. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/challengingenvironment</u>. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Institute of Student Employers (2022) What do graduates want from employers in 2022? Institute of Student Employers. <u>https://insights.ise.org.uk/attraction-and-marketing/</u><u>blog-what-do-graduates-want-from-employers-in-2022/</u>.</u> (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Digital EIA (2020) Digitising the Environmental Impact Assessment Process. Digital EIA. <u>https://digitaleia.co.uk/</u> wp-content/uploads/Digital-EIA-Report.pdf. (Accessed 28 October 2023)
- Guenat, S., Purnell, P., Davies, Z.G. et al. (2022) Meeting sustainable development goals via robotics and autonomous systems. Nat Commun 13, 3559. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-31150-5. (Accessed on 29 October 2023)
- Gothandam, K.M., Srinivasan, R., Ranjan, S., & Dasgupta, N. (2023) *Biotechnology for Toxicity Remediation and Environmental Sustainability* (1st ed.). CRC Press. https:// doi.org/10.1201/9781003312390. (Accessed 29 October)
- Kohl, H., Seliger, G., and Dietrich, F. (2023) *Manufacturing Driving Circular Economy*. Springer. <u>https://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/63005</u>. (Accessed 29 October 2023)
- Microsoft (2019) How can AI enable a sustainable future? Microsoft. <u>https://www.pwc.co.uk/sustainability-climate-change/assets/pdf/how-ai-can-enable-a-sustainable-future.</u> pdf (Accessed 29 October 2023)
- Chan, A., and Orr, C. (2021) Augmented reality and environmental impact assessment. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=oSXGdgSG2MA. (Accessed 29 October 2023)
- Oyola P, Carbone S, Timonen H, Torkmahalleh M and Lindén J (2022) *Editorial: Rise of Low-Cost Sensors and Citizen Science in Air Quality Studies.* Front. Environ. Sci. 10:868543. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2022.868543. (Accessed 29 October)
- Oliver Smith et al. (2022) The effect of renewable energy incorporation on power grid stability and resilience. Sci. Adv. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.abj6734 (Accessed 29 October 2023)
- 19. Munawar HS, Hammad AWA, Waller ST. (2022) *Remote Sensing Methods for Flood Prediction: A Review.* Sensors (Basel). doi: 10.3390/s22030960.

IES **PREPORT** Transforming the planet: Our vision for the future of environmental science

- 20. IEA (2021) *The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions*. IEA. <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/the-role-of-</u> <u>critical-minerals-in-clean-energy-transitions</u>. (Accessed 29 October 2023)
- 21. Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment (2023) *What is deep-sea mining and how is it connected to the net zero transition?* London School of Economics. <u>https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/</u> <u>explainers/what-is-deep-sea-mining-and-how-is-it-</u> <u>connected-to-the-net-zero-transition/</u>. (Accessed 29 October 2023)
- Bayabil Haimanote K., Teshome Fitsum T., Li Yuncong C. (2022) *Emerging Contaminants in Soil and Water*. Frontiers in Environmental Science. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/</u> <u>articles/10.3389/fenvs.2022.873499</u>. (Accessed 29 October 2023)

## Transforming the data landscape to transform the environment

- Convention on Biological Diversity (2023) Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework. Convention on Biological Diversity. <u>https://www.cbd.int/gbf/</u>. (Accessed 24th October 2023)
- 2. UK Public General Acts (2021) *Environment Act 2021*. <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted</u>. (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- HM Government (2023) Environmental Improvement Plan 2023. HM Government. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.</u> gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_ data/file/1168372/environmental-improvement-plan-2023. pdf. (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Neirhorster, E. (2023) The role of data in environmental regulation. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=YdFqBUpwg-o&list=PLmHD3Seyfjlbbyf9nEd4Hez <u>8F9lglhJ1\_&index=10</u>. (Accessed 23 October 2023)
- 5. Beirle, S., Borger, C., Dörner, S., Li, A., Hu, Z. Liu, F., Wang, Y., and Wagner, T. (2019) *Pinpointing Nitrogen Oxide Emissions from Space*. ScienceAdvances. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aax9800
- Office for Environmental Protection (2023) Environmental assessments are not as effective as they should be due to practical barriers to implementation, says OEP. Office for Environmental Protection. <u>https://www.theoep.org.uk/</u> report/environmental-assessments-are-not-effective-theyshould-be-due-practical-barriers. (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- Dexter, P., and Summerhayes, C.P., (2010) Ocean Observations

   the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS). Chapter 11
   in Pugh, D., and Holland, G., (eds.), Troubled Waters: Ocean
   Science and Governance. CUP, Cambridge.161-178.
- Hill, E., Reade, T., Rogers, M., and Walker, M. (2023) *Opportunities and challenges for the future of data*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube</u>. <u>com/watch?v=liRFeizwmgg&list=PLmHD3Seyfjlbbyf9nEd4H</u> <u>ez8F9lglhJ1\_&index=8</u> (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- Head, J., Crockatt, M., Didarali, Z., Woodward, M-J., and Emmett, B. (2020) *The Role of Citizen Science in Meeting SDG* Targets around Soil Health. Sustainability 12, no. 24: 10254. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/24/10254</u> (Accessed 24 October 2023)

- The Rivers Trust (2020) New initiative to drive citizen science forward. The Rivers Trust. <u>https://theriverstrust.org/about-us/news/new-initiative-to-drive-citizen-science-forward</u>. (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- Plummer, K.E., Dadam, D., Brereton, T., Dennis, E.B., Massimino, D., Risely, K. et al. (2023) *Trends in butterfly populations in UK* gardens—New evidence from citizen science monitoring. Insect Conservation and Diversity, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1111/icad.12645,. (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- Clark, D. (2023) Government spending on environment protection in the UK 1999-2023. Statista. <u>https://www.statista.</u> com/statistics/298506/public-expenditure-environmentprotection-united-kingdom-uk/#:-:text=ln%202022%2F23%20 public%20sector,pounds%20in%20the%20previous%20year. (Accessed 24 October 2023)
- The Rivers Trust (2023) The Rivers Trust. CaSTCo Catchment Systems Thinking Cooperative. <u>https://theriverstrust.org/</u> our-work/our-projects/castco-catchment-systems-thinkingcooperative (Accessed 24 October 2023).

## Delivering a just transition: The importance of equity, diversity and inclusion in the environmental sciences

- 1. ClientEarch (2021) *What is environmental justice?*. ClientEarth Communications. <u>https://www.clientearth.org/latest/latest-updates/stories/what-is-environmental-justice/</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Wolch, J., Byrne, J., and Newell, J. (2014) Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: The challenge of making cities 'just green enough'. Landscape and Urban Planning. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/</u> abs/pii/S0169204614000310. (Accessed 18 October 2023)
- 3. Mitchell, G., & Dorling, D. (2003). *An Environmental Justice Analysis of British Air Quality*. Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space, 35(5), 909-929. https://doi.org/10.1068/ a35240. (Accessed 18 October 2023)
- Levy, B., and Oatz, J. (2015) *Climate change, human rights and social justice*. Annals of Global Health. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2214999615012242</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Perez, A., Grafton, B., Mohai, P., Hardin, R., Hintzen, K., and Orvis, S. (2015) *Evolution of the environmental justice movement: activism, formalisation and differentiation.* Environmental Research Letters. <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/10/10/105002</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- 6. Institution of Environmental Sciences. (2022) *A challenging environment: Experiences of ethnic minority environmental professions*. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/challenging-</u> <u>environment.</u>
- Wildlife and Countryside Link (2022) *Joint route map launched* to boost ethnic diversity in the environment sector. Wildlife and Countryside Link. <u>https://www.wcl.org.uk/joint-routemap-ethnic-diversity.asp</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- 8. The Race Report (2022) *The Race Report*. <u>https://www.race-report.uk/report</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Students Organising for Sustainability (2022) Racial diversity in environment professions: 2022. Students Organising for Sustainability. <u>https://assets-global.website-files.com</u> /6008334066c47be740656954/6242eddc0c731b69a37e06 5a\_20220329\_Racial%20diversity%20in%20environment%20 professions%20-%202022%20-%20FINAL%20REPORT.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023)

- 10. Ground Engineering (2023) *Postgrad geoscience courses attracting fewer students.* Ground Engineering. <u>https://www.</u> geplus.co.uk/news/postgrad-geoscience-courses-attractingfewer-students-07-02-2023/. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Universities UK (2019) Black, Asian and minority ethnic student attainment at UK Universities: #Closingthegap. Universities UK. https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/sites/default/files/ field/downloads/2021-07/bame-student-attainment.pdf. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Fernando, B., et al. (2023) Strategies for making geoscience PhD recruitment more equitable. Nature Geoscience. <u>https://</u> www.nature.com/articles/s41561-023-01241-z</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Childs, E., Devine, K., and Wong, J (2023) Supporting ethnic diversity in the environment sector. <u>https://www.the-ies.</u> org/analysis/supporting-ethnic-diversity. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Brown, S., Doherty, A., Keen, J., and Mubara, N (2023) Equity, Diversity and Inclusion: Atkins' approach to ED&I on site. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.theies.org/analysis/equity-diversity-inclusion</u>. (Accessed 19th October 2023)
- Childs, E., Devine, K., and Wong, J (2023) Supporting ethnic diversity in the environment sector. <u>https://www.the-ies.</u> org/analysis/supporting-ethnic-diversity. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- United Nations (2023). Academic Impact. <u>https://www.un.org/en/academic-impact/sustainability.</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)

## A broad church for a shared environment: Raising spires to unite science, policy, and the public

- Lewis, J. (2023) Progressing or regressing: The future of environmental science under new UK governance. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/</u> resources/progressing-or-regressing (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Kass, G., Holmes, N., and Tellam, J. (2023) 'Shaping the future of environmental science', in Future of ES23: The Science wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-science-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Childs, E. and Lewis, J. (2023) 'How should the science-policy interface evolve in the future?', in Future of ES23: The Regulatory Landscape wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23regulatory</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 4. Kingdon, J. (1984) *Agendas, Alternatives and Public Policies,* New York: Harper Collins.
- 5. Cairney, P. (2011) *Understanding Public Policy: Theories and Issues*. Red Globe Press. 2011 edition.
- 6. Lewis, J. (2023) *The scientific method of the future. Institution of Environmental Sciences*. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/scientific-method-future</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Klijn, E.H. and Korthagen, I. (2018) 'Governance and Media Attention: A Research Agenda About How Media Affect (Network) Governance Processes', in Perspectives on Public Management and Governance, Volume 1, Issue 2. pp 103–113. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ppmgov/gvx004
- King, N. (2023) *The Polycrisis An Introduction. Institution of Environmental Sciences*. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/polycrisis-%E2%80%93-introduction (</u>Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Donnan, A. (2017) Being experts in an age of disdain for expertise. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/being-experts-age-disdain</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Fonseca, C., Woollard, A., Hurst, L., and Pettitt, J. (2023) *Covid-19 and the Public Perception of Genetics. The Genetics Society.* <u>https://genetics.org.uk/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2018/06/Copy-of-Public-Perception-of-Genetics.</u> <u>pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- Page, B. (2019) New research reveals the power of Blue Planet II and how it's changed attitudes and behaviour. Ipsos. <u>https://www.ipsos.com/en-uk/new-research-reveals-power-blue-planet-ii-and-how-its-changed-attitudes-and-behaviour</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Smith, M. (2018) David Attenborough is the most popular person in Britain. Yougov. <u>https://yougov.co.uk/</u> entertainment/articles/21862-david-attenborough-mostpopular-person-britain (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 13. Baddeley, M. (2017) *Behavioural Economics: A Very Short Introduction*. Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- 14. Thaler, R.H. and Sunstein, C.R. (2009) *Nudge: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth and Happiness.* Penguin Books: London.
- Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) How are policy developments shaping habitats? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VgipcRLfmvM</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Clayton, J. (2023) What can air quality learn from net zero?. Institute of Air Quality Management. <u>https://iaqm.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Net-zero-1.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 17. Jones, B.D. and Baumgartner, F.R. (2005). *The Politics of Attention*. How Government Prioritizes Problems. University of Chicago Press: Chicago.
- Sabatier, P.A. (1988) 'An advocacy coalition framework of policy change and the role of policy-oriented learning therein', Policy Sci, 21. pp 129–168 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00136406
- Lewis, J. and Savage, E. (2023) Where do we draw the line between science and activism? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/line-betweenscience-activism</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Nierhorster, E. (2023) *The role of data in supporting environmental regulation.*  Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/role-data-supporting</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Williams, H., Tollitt, P., and Viner, D. (2023) 'Megatrends & the future of the environmental sciences', in Future of ES23: Megatrends wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-megatrends-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

22. Fonseca, C., Woollard, A., Hurst, L., and Pettitt, J. (2023) *Covid-19 and the Public Perception of Genetics. The Genetics Society.* <u>https://genetics.org.uk/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2018/06/Copy-of-Public-Perception-of-Genetics.</u> <u>pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

### 23. See chapter 1: Planet Earth and the future of the human habitat

- 24. Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) *The future of environmental research funding*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Yyy5nfqQ4Qs</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 25. Kemp, N., Martin, S., and Spooner, S. (2023) *More than the sum of their parts? Interdisciplinarity and sustainability: Policy, practice and professionalism.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/more-sum-theirparts</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 26. Warrens, H., Finbow, R., Gosling, P., and Wilcox, E. (2023) *Future skills of the environment sector.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-skills-</u> <u>environment</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 27. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (2016) UNESCO Competency Framework. UNESCO: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. https://en.unesco.org/sites/default/files/ competency\_framework\_e.pdf (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 28. Lewis, J. (2023) *Online/onsite/office: the future of environmental work.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/onlineonsiteoffice-future</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 29. Office for National Statistics. (2022) *Official Statistics: How tight is the UK labour market?* ONS: Office for National Statistics. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/how-tight-is-the-uk-labour-market</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 30. Lewis, J. (2023) *Science communication: What can we learn from Kyoto?*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/science-communication-what-can</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
#### **References:**

## Discovery or solutions: Redefining environmental science for the next generation

- Donnan, A. and Fletcher, C. (2017) *Redefining the boundaries of* our membership. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://</u> www.the-ies.org/analysis/redefining-membership-boundaries (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Kass, G., Holmes, N., and Tellam, J. (2023) 'Shaping the future of environmental science', in Future of ES23: The Science wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-science-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Burge, S. (2015). The Systems Thinking Tool Box: Root Definition. Burge Hughes Walsh: Rugby. <u>https://www.burgehugheswalsh.</u> <u>co.uk/Uploaded/1/Documents/Root-Definition-Tool-v3.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Ulrich, W. (2005). A brief introduction to critical systems heuristics (CSH). ECOSENSUS project, Open University: Milton Keynes. <u>https://projects.kmi.open.ac.uk/ecosensus/</u> publications/ulrich\_csh\_intro.pdf (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 5. Lewis, J. and Savage, E. (2023) *Where do we draw the line between science and activism?* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/line-betweenscience-activism</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 6. Lewis, J. (2023) *The scientific method of the future. Institution of Environmental Sciences*. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/scientific-method-future</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Kemp, N., Martin, S., and Spooner, S. (2023) More than the sum of their parts? Interdisciplinarity and sustainability: Policy, practice and professionalism. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/more-sum-theirparts</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Schrage, J., Barraclough, A.D., Wilkerson, B. et al. (2023) *Developing* positional awareness in sustainability science: four archetypes for early career scientists working in an SDG world. Sustain Sci 18, 1053–1058. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-022-01239-3.
- Costanza, R. (2022). Addicted to Growth: Societal Therapy for a Sustainable Wellbeing Future. (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003173717.
- 10. Childs, E. (2023) *Change on the horizon: Emerging science in land, air and water.* <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/change-horizon-emerging</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. (2023) Online/onsite/office: the future of environmental work. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/onlineonsiteoffice-future</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- 12. Childs, E. and Lewis, J. (2023) '*How should the science-policy interface evolve in the future?*, in Future of ES23: The Regulatory Landscape wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-regulatory</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Clark, W.C. and Harley, A.G. (2020) 'Scope of the Research Guide', in Sustainability Science: A Guide for Researchers. Clark, W.C. and Harley, A.G. (eds.) 1st ed. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21428/ f8d85a02.f53b4fd3.
- Sen, A. (2013) '*The Ends and Means of Sustainability*' Journal of Human Development and Capabilities 14 (1): 6–20. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1080/19452829.2012.747492.
- 15. Powers, S.M. and Hampton, S.E. (2019) *Open science, reproducibility, and transparency in ecology.* Ecological Applications 29(1). DOI: 10.1002/eap.1822.
- Hill, A.E., Walker, M., Rogers, M., and Reade, T. (2023) 'The future of data: opportunities and challenges', in Future of ES23: The Science wrap-up. Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (eds.). Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/</u> <u>future-es23-science-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Nierhorster, E. (2023) *The role of data in supporting environmental regulation*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/role-data-supporting</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) The future of environmental research funding. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Yyy5nfqQ4Qs</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Bornmann L., Haunschild R., Boyack K., Marx W., and Minx J.C. (2022) 'How relevant is climate change research for climate change policy? An empirical analysis based on Overton data'. PLoS One, Sep 22;17(9). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0274693.
- 20. Warrens, H., Finbow, R., Gosling, P., and Wilcox, E. (2023) *Future skills of the environment sector.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-skills-environment</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 21. Ling Wong, J., Devine, K., and Childs, E. (2023) *Supporting ethnic diversity in the environment sector.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/supporting-ethnic-diversity</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 22. Lewis, J. (2023) *How are megatrends shaping the future?*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/briefing-how-are-megatrends</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

#### **References:**

# The future of environmental ambitions: Mitigation hierarchies, protection pyramids, and the quest for improvement

- Lewis, J. (2022) COP15: Can the biodiversity summit meet expectations? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://</u> www.the-ies.org/analysis/cop15-can-biodiversity-summit (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Glücksman, E. and Wentworth, J. (2011) *Biodiversity Offsetting. POST: Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology, POSTnote Number 369.* https://www.parliament.uk/ globalassets/documents/post/postpn\_369-biodiversityoffsetting.pdf (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Maron, M. et al. (2016) 'Taming a Wicked Problem: Resolving Controversies in Biodiversity Offsetting', in BioScience, Volume 66, Issue 6. pp 489–498. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ biosci/biw038.
- 4. Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Nierhorster, E. (2023) *The* role of data in supporting environmental regulation. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/</u>role-data-supporting (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2021) A manifesto for transformative change. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/resources/manifesto-transformative-change</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Childs, E. and Lewis, J. (2023) 'How should the science-policy interface evolve in the future?', in Future of ES23: The Regulatory Landscape wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23regulatory</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. and Savage, E. (2023) Where do we draw the line between science and activism? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/line-betweenscience-activism</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Williams, H., Tollitt, P., and Viner, D. (2023) 'Megatrends & the future of the environmental sciences', in Future of ES23: Megatrends wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-megatrends-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. (2023) Progressing or regressing: The future of environmental science under new UK governance. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/</u> resources/progressing-or-regressing (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- Zenghelis, D. (2023) *The economics of a clean transition.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/economics-clean-transition</u>. (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. (2023) Science communication: What can we learn from Kyoto? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/science-communication-what-can</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 12. Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K. et al. *A safe operating space for humanity.* Nature, 461. pp 472–475 (2009). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/461472a.
- 13. Raworth, K. (2017) *Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st-Century Economist*. Penguin: London.
- Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2022) What still needs to happen to reach net zero?. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/what-still-needs-happenclimate-change-COP27</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- de Jong, M.D.T., Huluba, G., and Beldad, A.D. (2020) *Different Shades of Greenwashing: Consumers' Reactions to Environmental Lies, Half-Lies, and Organizations Taking Credit for Following Legal Obligations*, Journal of Business and Technical Communication, 34(1). Pp 38-76. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1177/1050651919874105
- Dwarakanath, K. (2023) A day in the life of a sustainability professional: Kripa Dwarakanath. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/day-life-</u> sustainability (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) How are policy developments shaping habitats? Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VgipcRLfmvM</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Burns, F., Mordue, S., al Fulaij, N., et al., (2023) State of Nature 2023. The State of Nature partnership. <u>http://www.stateofnature.org.uk</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Lewis, J. and Childs, E. (2021) A manifesto for transformative change. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/resources/manifesto-transformative-change</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 20. Westlake, S. and Willis, R. (2023) *Sustaining the political mandate for climate action.* Green Alliance. <u>https://green-alliance.org.uk/publication/sustaining-the-political-mandate-for-climate-action/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- Childs, E. and Lewis, J. (2023) 'How should the science-policy interface evolve in the future?, in Future of ES23: The Regulatory Landscape wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23regulatory</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 22. Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) *How are policy developments shaping habitats?* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VgipcRLfmvM</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- King, N. (2023) *The Polycrisis An Introduction*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/</u> <u>polycrisis-%E2%80%93-introduction</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).

### 24. See chapter 5: Enabler or inhibitor? Technological development and the environmental sciences

- 25. Nathanail, P. (2023) *Emerging soil and water contaminants.* Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/webinar-emerging-soil-and</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 26. Lewis, J. (2023) *How are megatrends shaping the future?*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/briefing-how-are-megatrends</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPCC (2023) Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.]]. IPCC: Geneva, Switzerland. pp. 1-34. DOI: 10.59327/ IPCC/AR6-9789291691647.001.
- Love, C., Pooley, M., Warrens, H., and Brislin-Higgs, J. (2021). *STAGES on the road to COP26: Adaptation & Resilience*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.youtube</u>. <u>com/watch?v=pol6IELMW60</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- Everard, M. (2020) 'Ecosystems: from single-use to multiple values', in Reconnecting society with its ecological roots. Environmental Scientist 29(3). <u>https://www.the-ies.org/</u> sites/default/files/journals/reconnecting-society-ecologicalroots.pdf (Accessed 31 October 2023).
- Clarke, E., Jenkins, E., Maguire, C., and Nierhorster, E. (2023) The role of data in supporting environmental regulation. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/analysis/role-data-supporting</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 31. George, S., Emden, J., and Zenghelis, D. (2021) *STAGES on the road to COP26 (Economy): Business, Jobs & ESG in the climate transition.* Institution of Environmental Sciences.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=V-TuJk2xPr4 (Accessed 22 October 2023).

- 32. Institution of Environmental Sciences. (2023) *Reframing EIA: A tool for better design for people and planet*. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www.the-ies.org/resources/</u><u>reframing-eia-tool-better</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 33. See chapter 2: Emergence of the dragonfly: Crafting a new world through transformative change
- 34. Kass, G., Holmes, N., and Tellam, J. (2023) 'Shaping the future of environmental science', in Future of ES23: The Science wrap-up. Institution of Environmental Sciences. <u>https://www. the-ies.org/analysis/future-es23-science-wrap</u> (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- 35. Institution of Environmental Sciences (2023) *How are policy developments shaping habitats?* Institution of Environmental Sciences. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VgipcRLfmvM (Accessed 22 October 2023).
- IPBES (2022) Methodological Assessment Report on the Diverse Values and Valuation of Nature of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Balvanera, P., Pascual, U., Christie, M., Baptiste, B., and González-Jiménez, D. (eds.). IPBES secretariat: Bonn, Germany. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.6522522.
- IPBES (2019) Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., and Ngo, H.T. (editors). IPBES secretariat: Bonn, Germany. 1148 pages. <u>https://doi. org/10.5281/zenodo.3831673.</u>

Institution of Environmental Sciences 6-8 Great Eastern Street | London EC2A 3NT +44 (0)20 3862 7484

> info@the-ies.org www.the-ies.org



